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Dear Fellow Shareholders, APR ? 2 [Um
This is my second letter to you as the CEO of Orbitz Worldwide, and I am pleased to agﬂ'&have the opportunity to
address our annual performance and company strategy. \IVasmI}‘%lgﬂs

The economic environment in late 2008 and 2009 was the most challenging in decades. We are very pleased to have
delivered strong performance for 2009 in this tough business climate. We grew Adjusted EBITDA nine percent in
2009, despite removing air booking fees on most flights, cutting hotel booking fees and eliminating our hotel
change and cancellation fees. We were able to deliver strong results despite these fee reductions by rigorously
managing our operating costs and significantly improving our marketing efficiency.

We made significant progress this past year towards strengthening our global hotel business. We launched two
industry-leading, hotel-focused innovations, Hotel Price Assurance and Total Price hotel search results. With the
launch of Total Price hotel search results, Orbitz.com is the only major online travel site that shows the total nightly
cost of a hotel, including taxes and fees, upfront on the search results page. Through these initiatives, we believe that
we now offer consumers the most compelling value proposition of any major online travel site.

During 2009 the improvements to our customer value proposition helped drive acceleration in our year-over-year
transaction and stayed hotel room night growth rates. Our total transaction growth rate accelerated 31 percentage
points, from negative 12% year-over-year growth in the first quarter 2009 to positive 19% year-over-year growth by
the fourth quarter 2009. Our stayed hotel room night growth rate accelerated 14 percentage points, from negative 1%
year-over-year growth in the first quarter 2009 to positive 13% year-over-year growth by the fourth quarter of 2009.

Our ebookers business made significant progress last year, reflecting the strength of our new technology platform
and improvements in our European supply offering. We are positive about the progress we are seeing in this
business, and we continue to be focused on improving our competitive position in the European market.

HotelClub’s performance, on the other hand, has not met our expectations. HotelClub continues to face major
competitive challenges, particularly in European destinations. HotelClub is performing well, however, in the fast-
growing Asia Pacific region. This region now represents over 60% of HotelClub transactions. We are focused on
building on our strength in the Asia Pacific region and expanding into underdeveloped markets within that region.

Looking forward, our mission is to become one of the world’s three leading hotel distribution platforms. The global
hotel market is large, with over $300 billion in annual bookings, and highly fragmented and complicated for
consumers to navigate. Innovative technology can help consumers search and compare different lodging options,
and technology is at the heart of what we do. We are focusing our technology investments and our product and
marketing initiatives to improve the way that hotels are booked online by consumers around the world. There is an
important and profitable role for intermediaries who can deliver real value to customers and suppliers.

Our primary focus for 2010 is to drive global hotel transaction growth through investments and initiatives in three
key areas: demand, supply and retailing.

On the demand side, we are focused on attracting customers through both business-to-consumer and business-
to-business channels. In 2010 we intend to further improve brand awareness and loyalty to increase self-directed
traffic, which generates the most profitable transactions. We will continue to optimize our search engine marketing
spending to bring consumers to our websites in a cost effective manner. We are actively pursuing strategies to
increase the amount of traffic coming to our websites through search engine optimization, customer relationship
management, our private label business and our corporate travel business, Orbitz for Business.



On the supply side, we are focused on increasing the number of hotels we offer in markets where online penetration
is low, such as the Asia Pacific region. In 2009 we launched our SmartRetail program which enables us to increase
the number of hotels available in underserved destinations while at the same time eliminating the collection issues
that are inherent in the traditional retail model. We will continue investing in enhanced hotel connectivity and
infrastructure in 2010.

From a retailing perspective, we are focused on converting website visitors into bookers. We are improving the
customer experience by providing new tools and technologies to help website visitors research travel options. We
are also providing visitors with more relevant search results and higher quality hotel content on our websites.

The strong progress we made in 2009 helped us raise $100 million of additional equity from our two largest
shareholders, PAR Investment Partners and Travelport. These investments significantly strengthen our balance
sheet and provide us additional financial flexibility.

In closing, we are very pleased with our 2009 results, and our employees deserve significant credit for delivering a
strong performance in a very tough environment. We are confident in our competitive position and excited about the
opportunities ahead. Thank you for your ongoing support and confidence.

Sincerely,

o, o

Barney Harford
President and Chief Executive Officer

April 21, 2010

On June 9, 2009, Barney Harford certified to the New York Stock Exchange that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of any New York Stock Exchange
corporate governance listing standard as of the date of the certification.

We filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) certifications made by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer regarding the
quality of our public disclosures. These certifications are included as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009
(“Form 10-K”).

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures as defined by the SEC. EBITDA, a performance measure used by management, is defined as net
income or net loss plus: net interest expense, provision for income taxes and depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA, as adjusted to
eliminate the effect of certain non-cash items, such as goodwill and intangible asset impairment charges and stock-based compensation expense, and other unusual or
non-recurring items, all of which vary widely from company to company and may impact comparability. A reconciliation of net income (loss) to EBITDA and
EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA is contained in our fult year 2009 earnings press release dated February 23, 2010, a copy of which is available on our Investor
Relations website (http://www.orbitz-ir.com) under the heading “News Releases.”

This letter contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors (including the factors that are described in the section entitled
“Risk Factors” in our Form 10-K) that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different than the results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly revise any forward-looking statement to reflect
circumstances or events after the date hereof.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and its exhibits contain forward-looking statements that are subject to
risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be
materially different than the results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements include statements about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives,
intentions, assumptions and other statements that are not historical facts. Forward-looking statements can
generally be identified by phrases such as “believes,” “expects,” “potential,” “continues,” “may,” “should,”
“seeks,” “predicts,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “projects,” “estimates,” “plans,” “could,” “designed,” “should be”
and other similar expressions that denote expectations of future or conditional events rather than statements of
fact. Forward-looking statements also may relate to our operations, financial results, financial condition,
business prospects, growth strategy and liquidity. Our actual results could differ materially from those
anticipated in forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the factors described in Item 1A, “Risk
Factors,” and in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Accordingly, you should not unduly rely on these forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. ‘
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The use of the words “we,” “us,” “our” and “the Company” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K refers to
Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries, except where the context otherwise requires or indicates.



PART 1

Item 1. Business.
General Description of Our Business

We are a leading global online travel company that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and
business travelers to search for and book a broad range of travel products and services. Our brand portfolio
includes Orbitz, CheapTickets, The Away Network, and Orbitz for Business in the Americas; ebookers in
Europe; and HotelClub and RatesToGo (collectively referred to as “HotelClub” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K) based in Sydney, Australia, which have operations globally. We provide customers with the ability
to book a comprehensive set of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide, including air travel,
hotels, vacation packages, car rentals, cruises, travel insurance and destination services such as ground
transportation, event tickets and tours.

History

Orbitz, Inc. (“Orbitz”) was formed in early 2000 by American Airlines, Inc., Continental Airlines, Inc.,
Delta Air Lines, Inc., Northwest Airlines, Inc. and United Air Lines, Inc. (the “Founding Airlines”). In
November 2004, Orbitz was acquired by Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”), whose online travel distribution
businesses included the CheapTickets and HotelClub brands. In February 2005, Cendant acquired ebookers
Limited, an international online travel brand which currently has operations in 12 countries throughout Europe
(“ebookers™).

On August 23, 2006, Travelport Limited (“Travelport”), which consisted of Cendant’s travel distribution
services businesses, including the businesses that currently comprise Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., was acquired by
affiliates of The Blackstone Group (“Blackstone”) and Technology Crossover Ventures (“TCV”). We refer to
this acquisition as the “Blackstone Acquisition” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on June 18, 2007 and was formed to be the parent
company of the business-to-consumer travel businesses of Travelport, including Orbitz, ebookers and Travel
Acquisition Corporation Pty. Ltd. (“HotelClub™) and the related subsidiaries and affiliates of those businesses.
We are the registrant as a result of the completion of the initial public offering (“IPO”) of 34,000,000 shares
of our common stock on July 25, 2007. Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”)
under the symbol “OWW.”

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, there were 83,831,561 and 83,345,437 shares of our
common stock outstanding, respectively, of which approximately 57% and 58% were beneficially owned by
Travelport and investment funds that own and/or control Travelport’s ultimate parent company, respectively.

Brand Portfolio

Our brand portfolio is comprised of Orbitz, CheapTickets, The Away Network, Orbitz for Business,
ebookers and HotelClub.

Orbitz

Orbitz (www.orbitz.com) is one of the leading online travel websites in the U.S. Orbitz is a full-service
online travel company that offers customers the ability to book an array of travel products and services from
numerous suppliers on a stand-alone basis or as part of a dynamic vacation package. These travel products and
services include airline tickets, hotel rooms, car rentals, cruises, travel insurance and destination services.
Dynamic vacation packages are vacation packages that include different combinations of travel products.
Orbitz allows customers to search based on their preferences and then provides a comprehensive display of
travel choices for any given destination. Search results are presented in our easy-to-use Matrix display that
enables customers to select the price and supplier that best meet their travel needs. Orbitz also has an
innovative customer care platform known as OrbitzTLC, which offers an array of proactive care services to
travelers.



We have taken significant steps to improve the value proposition for customers who book on Orbitz. We
launched Orbitz Price Assurance®™ for airline tickets in 2008 and for hotel stays in 2009. Through Orbitz Price
Assurance™, if the price drops for an airline ticket or hotel stay booked on Orbitz and another customer
subsequently books the same airline ticket or hotel stay on Orbitz for a lower price, we will automatically
send the customer a cash refund for the difference up to $250 for airline tickets and up to $500 for hotel stays.
Additionally, in 2009, we eliminated booking fees on most flights, significantly reduced booking fees on hotels
and removed our hotel change and cancellation fees. We also introduced Total Price hotel search results,
making Orbitz the only major online travel company that shows base rate, taxes and fees, and total price per
night upfront on the initial search results page, improving the price transparency for consumers searching for
hotels.

CheapTickets

Our CheapTickets website (www.cheaptickets.com) is a leading U.S. travel website that focuses on value-
conscious customers. CheapTickets offers customers the ability to book an array of travel products and
services from numerous suppliers on a stand-alone basis or as part of a dynamic vacation package, including
airline tickets, hotel rooms, car rentals, cruises, travel insurance and destination services. CheapTickets also
offers value-oriented promotions such as Cheap of the Week, in which special travel offers are updated on a
weekly basis to provide customers with additional value.

The Away Network

The Away Network is a series of travel content websites that includes Away.com (www.away.com), Trip.com
(www.trip.com), GORP.com (www.gorp.com), GORPTravel.com (www.gorptravel.com) and Lodging.com
(www.lodging.com). The Away Network also hosts, maintains and develops outsideonline.com, pursuant to an
agreement with Mariah Media, Inc., the publishers of Outside magazine. The Away Network provides travel
inspiration, trip ideas, travel planning tools and destination content for travelers seeking information regarding
specific travel interests such as adventure, family or romance trips. Supported by advertising sales and sponsorships,
The Away Network provides a blend of professionally-edited articles, features, micro-sites and consumer-driven
reviews. These websites also provide search capabilities for users who want to find travel choices online as well as
contact information for a number of leading tour operators.

Orbitz for Business

Orbitz for Business (www.orbitzforbusiness.com) is a full-service global travel management company that
provides online booking and call center support to a broad array of organizations, ranging from small
businesses to Fortune 500 companies. Orbitz for Business leverages our technology, customized for corporate
travelers, and provides consolidated reporting, active travel policy management and proactive customer care
tools. In addition to its online booking capabilities, Orbitz for Business also offers integrated expense
management tools and meeting management services.

ebookers

ebookers (www.ebookers.com) offers customers the ability to book an array of travel products and
services through websites in Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands,
Norway, Sweden, Switzerland and the U.K. Customers can book travel products and services on a stand-alone
basis or as part of a dynamic vacation package, including airline tickets, hotel rooms, car rentals and travel

insurance. In addition to the ebookers websites, customers may also book travel through our call centers.

HotelClub

HotelClub (www.hotelclub.com), Accomline (www.accomline.com) and Asia-hotels (www.asiahotels.com)
are hotel-only websites that offer customers the opportunity to book hotel stays in over 130 countries. Our
RatesToGo website (www.ratestogo.com) offers customers the opportunity to book hotel stays at last-minute
discounts up to four weeks in advance. On this website, customers can book hotel stays in over 80 countries.
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HotelClub, Accomline and RatesToGo offer services on their websites in fifteen languages, including
Simplified Chinese, Traditional Chinese, Dutch, English, French, German, Italian, Japanese, Korean, Polish,
Portuguese, Russian, Spanish, Swedish and Thai.

Other Businesses
Private Label and Hosting Businesses

We license our technology and business services to third parties and offer them access to our travel
content through our private label business. Using our technology platform, these partners are able to operate
websites under their own brands. Our private label business helps provide the travel products that are available
on a wide range of third-party websites, including a number of airline and hotel websites. We earn revenue
from our private label business through revenue sharing arrangements for the travel booked on these third-
party websites.

We also host and manage websites on behalf of third parties through our hosting products. As of
December 31, 2009, we managed portions of American Airlines’ and Northwest Airlines’ websites. We earn
revenue from our hosting business through license or fee arrangements.

Partner Marketing

Through our partner marketing programs, we generate advertising revenue by providing our partners
access to our customer base through a combination of display advertising, performance-based advertising and
other marketing programs. Travel companies, convention and visitor bureaus, credit card partners, media,
packaged goods and other non-travel advertisers all advertise on our websites.

Merchant and Retail Models
Merchant Model

Our merchant model provides customers the ability to book air, hotel, car, destination services
reservations and dynamic vacation packages. Hotel transactions comprise the majority of our merchant
bookings. We generate revenue for our services based on the difference between the total amount the customer
pays for the travel product and the negotiated net rate plus estimated taxes that the supplier charges us for that
product. We may, depending upon the brand and the travel product, also charge our customers a service fee
for booking their travel reservation on our websites. Generally, our net revenue per transaction is higher under
the merchant model compared with the retail model due to our negotiation of net rates with suppliers.
Customers generally pay us for reservations at the time of booking, which is in advance of their travel. We
pay our suppliers at a later date, which generally ranges from one to sixty days after the customer uses the
reservation. Initially, we record these customer receipts as accrued merchant payables and either deferred
income or net revenue, depending on the travel product. The timing difference between the cash collected
from our customers and payments to our suppliers improves our operating cash flows and represents a source
of liquidity for us.

We recognize net revenue under the merchant model when we have no further obligations to the
customer. For merchant air transactions, this is at the time of booking. For merchant hotel transactions and
merchant car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up, respectively.
The timing of revenue recognition is different for merchant air travel because our primary service to the
customer is fulfilled at the time of booking. In this model, we do not take on credit risk with the customer,
however we are subject to fraud risk; we have the ability to determine the price; we are not responsible for the
actual delivery of the flight, hotel room or car rental; we take no inventory risk; we have no ability to
determine or change the products or services delivered; and the customer chooses the supplier.

When customers assemble dynamic vacation packages, we may offer the customer the ability to book a
combination of travel products that use both the merchant model and the retail model. Dynamic vacation
packages allow us to make products available to our customers at prices that are generally lower than booking
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each travel product separately. Our net revenue per transaction is generally higher for dynamic vacation
packages than for travel products booked separately.

Retail Model

Our retail model provides customers the ability to book air, hotel, cruise and car rental reservations. Air
transactions comprise the majority of our retail bookings. Under our retail model, we earn commissions from
suppliers for airline tickets, hotel stays, car rentals and other travel products and services booked on our
websites. We generally receive these commissions from suppliers after the customer uses the travel reservation.
We may, depending upon the brand and the travel product, also charge our customers a service fee for booking
their travel reservation on our websites. Generally, our net revenue per transaction is lower under the retail
model compared with the merchant model. However, air reservations booked under the retail model contribute
substantially to our overall gross bookings and net revenue due to the high volume of air reservations booked
on our websites. We recognize net revenue under the retail model when the reservation is made, secured by a
customer with a credit card and we have no further obligations to the customer. For air transactions, this is at
the time of booking. For hotel transactions and car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of
check-in or customer pick-up, respectively, net of an allowance for cancelled reservations. In the retail model,
we do not take on credit risk with the customer; we are not the primary obligor with the customer; we have no
latitude in determining pricing; we take no inventory risk; we have no ability to determine or change the
products or services delivered; and the customer chooses the supplier.

Supplier Relationships and Global Distribution Systems
Supplier Relationships

We have teams that manage relationships and negotiate agreements with our suppliers. These agreements
generally cover access to the supplier’s travel inventory as well as payment for our services. Our teams cover
air, hotel, car rental, cruise, travel insurance and destination services suppliers. Our teams focus on managing
relationships, obtaining supplier-sponsored promotions and negotiating contracts.

The global hotel services team is responsible for negotiating agreements that provide us access to the
inventory of independent hotels, chains and hotel management companies. As part of our efforts to drive
global hotel transaction growth, we have increased the number of hotel market managers on our global hotel
services team, particularly in Asia Pacific and Europe. With this additional staff in place, we have signed a
substantial number of new direct hotel contracts, which provide us with higher margins, better hotel content
and increased promotional opportunities.

Global Distribution Systems

Globat distribution systems (“GDSs”) provide us access to a comprehensive set of supplier content
through a single source. Suppliers, such as airlines and hotels, utilize GDSs to connect their product and
service offerings with travel providers, who in turn make these products and services available to travelers for
booking. Certain of our businesses utilize GDS services provided by Galileo, Worldspan and Amadeus IT
Group (“Amadeus”). Under our GDS service agreements, we receive revenue in the form of an incentive
payment for air, car and hotel segments that are processed through a GDS.

Galileo and Worldspan are subsidiaries of Travelport, and we have an agreement with Travelport that
covers the GDS services provided by both Galileo and Worldspan. This agreement contains volume
requirements for the number of segments that we must process through Galileo and Worldspan and requires us
to make shortfall payments if we do not process the required minimum number of segments for a given year.
As a result, a significant portion of our GDS services are provided by Travelport GDSs. For the year ended
December 31, 2009, we recognized $112 million of incentive revenue for segments processed through Galileo
and Worldspan, which accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue.
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Operations and Technology
Systems Infrastructure and Web and Databasq Servers

We use SAVVIS co-location services in the U.S. to host our systems infrastructure and web and database
servers for Orbitz, CheapTickets, The Away Network, Orbitz for Business and ebookers. The majority of our
hardware and other equipment is located at the SAVVIS facility. SAVVIS provides data center management
services as well as emergency hands-on support. In addition, we have our own dedicated staff on-site at the
facility. If SAVVIS was unable, for any reason, to support our primary web hosting facility, we have a
secondary facility through Verizon Business, which is also located in the U.S..

We use Global Switch services in the U.K. to host our systems infrastructure and web and database
servers for ebookers legacy systems and for HotelClub. The arrangement with Global Switch is similar to the
arrangement described above with SAVVIS.

Systems Platform

Our systems platform enables us to deconstruct the' segment feeds from our GDS partners for air flight
searches and then reassemble these segments for cost-effective and flexible multi-leg itineraries. We also have
the ability to connect to and book air travel directly on certain airlines’ internal reservation systems through
our supplier link technology. Our easy-to-use Matrix display allows customers to simultaneously view thesée
various travel options so that they can select the price and supplier that best meet their travel needs. In
addition, our dynamic packaging technology enables travelers to view multiple combinations of airlines, hotels
and other travel products and-allows them to assemble a customized vacation package that is generally more
flexible and less expensive than booking each travel product separately

We have technology operations teams dedicated to ensunng that our websues operate efficiently. These
teams monitor our websites as well as the performance and availability of our third party service providers and
coordinate major releases of new functionality on our websites. These teams also developed and implemented
our new technology platform that currently. supports our ebookers brand portfoho in Europe. We expect to
begin migrating our domestic brands onto this platform in 2010.

Customer Support

Our customer support platform includes OrbitzTLC, a proactive customer ‘care service for our travelers.
Our OrbitzTLC team is based in Chicago, lllinois, and monitors Federal Aviation Administration, National
Weather Service and other data to send customers real-time updates on information that may affect their travel
plans. Our customer support platform also includes call centers and customer service centers that utilize
intelligent voice routing and intelligent call management technology to connect customers with the appropriate
center to assist them with their particular needs. We utilize a variety of third party vendors, domestically and
internationally, to manage these call centers and customer ‘service ‘centers.

Fraud Prevention System

We have an internally-developed fraud prevention system that enables us to detect fraudulent bookings
and reduce the costs associated with fraud detection and prosecution. The system automates many functions
and prioritizes suspicious transactions for review by fraud analysts within our fraud prevention team.

Marketing

We utilize a combination of online and traditional offline marketing. Our sales and marketing efforts
primarily focus on increasing brand awareness and driving visitors to our websites. Our long-term success will
depend on our ability to continue to 1ncrease the overall number of booked transactions in a cost-effectlve
manner.

We use various forms of online marketing to drive traffic to our websites, including search engine
marketing (“SEM”), display advertising, affiliate programs and email marketing. We also generate traffic and
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transactions from certain travel research websites and meta-search travel websites. We are actively pursuing -
strategies to improve our online marketing efficiency. These strategies include i increasing the amount of traffic
coming to our websites through search engine optumzatlon (“SEQ”) and customer relationship management
(“CRM?) and improving the efficiency of our SEM and travel research spending. We also-use traditional
broadcast advertising to focus on brand differentiation and to emphasize distinct features of our busmesses that
we believe are valuable to our customers. -

We have a dedicated marketing team that focuses on generating leads and building relationships with
corporate travel managers. Our sales team includes experienced corporate travel managers- -and is qualified to -
assist organizations in choosing between the vanety of corporate booking products that are offered under our
Orbitz for Busmess brand

Intellectual Property

We regard our technology and other intellectual property, including-our brands, as a critical part of our ‘
business. We protect our intellectual property rights through a combination. of copyright, trademark and patent
laws and trade secret and confidentiality procedures. We have a number of trademarks, service marks and
trade names that are registered or for which we have pending registration applications or common law rights. -
These include Orbitz, Orbitz Matrix, Flex Search, OrbitzTLC, OrbitzTLC Mobile Access, the Orbitz design ;
and the stylized “O.” We have six issued U.S. patents. Three of these patents relate to a system and method
for receiving and loading fare and schedule data that allows us to search for air fares. These patents are
scheduled to expire on December 11, 2021, April 1, 2022 and November 10, 2024, respectively. The fourth
~ patent relates to a method of searching for travel Jproducts from multiple suppliers and creating vacation
packages. This patent is scheduled to expire on April 18, 2020. The fifth patent relates to a system and method
for gathering and analyzing data related to travel conditions and generating and sending a message explalmng
the travél conditions to one or more travelers. This patent is 'scheduled to expire on May 10, 2023. The sixth
patent relates to a system and method of creating a matrix display havmg neighborhood categories with
interactive maps displayed. This patent is scheduled to expire on January 23, 2026. At December-31, 2009, we
had fourteen pending patent applications in the U.S. Through these patent applications, we are seeking patent
rights in several areas of our online travel services technology. These areas include technology related to our
process for searching using multiple data providers, our process for synchronizing passenger name and record
data, our supplier link and related booking technology, our system for searching for itineraries based on
flexible travel dates, our Deal Detector functlonahty, our system for enabhng a user to book travel via a guest
reglstratlon our system enabling a traveler to share 1nformat10n about travel conditions in real-time, and our
system for replicating data and changes betweon databases.

Despite these efforts and precautions, we cannot be c_e‘rtain‘that any of these patent applications will result
in issued patents, or that we will receive any effective protection from competition from any trademarks and -
issued patents. It may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our trade secrets or our
intellectual property without authorization. In that case, legal remedies may not adequately compensate us for
the damages caused by unauthonzed use. Further, others'may’ mdependently and lawfully develop substantlally
similar properties.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our
business, including claims of alleged infringement by us of the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other
intellectual property rights of third parties. In addition, we may have to initiate lawsuits in the future to
enforce our intellectual property rlghts protect our trade secrets or to determme the Va11d1ty and scope of
proprietary rights claimed by others. Any such litigation, regardless of outcome or merit, could consume a
significant amount of financial resources or management time. It could also invalidate or impair our
intellectual rights, or result in significant damages or onerous license terms and restrictions for us. We may
even lose our right to use ‘certain intellectual property:or. business processes. These outcomes could materially
harm our business. See Item 3, “Legal Proceedings.” . '



At the time of the IPO, we entered into a Master License Agreement with Travelport, which gives
Travelport licenses to use certain of our intellectual property going forward, including:

* our supplier link technology;

¢ portions.of ebookers’ booking, search and dynamic packaging technologies;
* certain of our products and online booking tools for Corporate travel;

« portions of our private label dynamic packaging technology; and

* our extranet supplier connectivity functionality.

The Master License Agreement granted us the right to use a corporate online booking product developed
by Travelport. We have entered into a value added reseller license with Travelport for this product. _

The Master License Agreement generally includes the right to create derivative works and other
improvements. Other than the unrestricted use of our supplier link technology, Travelport is generally
prohibited from sublicensing these technologies to any third party for competitive use. However, Travelport
and its affiliates are not restricted from using the technologies to compete directly with us.

Information about Segments and Ge_ographie Areas

We operate and manage our business as a single operating segment. For geographic related information,
see Note 20 — Segment Information of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Indnstry Conditions
General

The worldwide travel 1ndustry isa large and dynamlc industry that has been characterized by rapid and
significant change. The global economy experienced a prolonged recession during 2008 and 2009. that
significantly impacted the overall travel industry. The weakening economy caused unemployment rates to rise
and lowered consumer-confidence which, in turn, has resulted in changes to' consumer spending pattems
including reduced spending on discretionary items, such as travel

While the overall travel market declined in 2009 due to the weakened economy, the decline in the online
travel market has not been as sharp. In an effort to drive demand to their websites, online travel companies
(“OTCs”) signiﬁcantly improved their value propositions for customers during 2009 by eliminating or reducing
booking and ‘certain other fees, which enabled OTCs to better compete with suppliers for market share.

We compete in various geographic markets, w1th our primary. markets being the United States; Europe
and Asia Pacific. Within the United States, the' most mature of the global travel markets, the growth rate of .
online travel bookings has slowed due to both the maturity of the market and the weak economy. Accordmg to
PhoCusWright, an independent travel, tourism and hospitality research firm, the online travel booking
penetration rate in the United States reached 52% in 2009. We are -one of the market leaders within the United
States due to our strength in the air business, which we are leveraging to gain market share in the global hotel
marketplace. Internationally, the European and Asia Pacific markets are characterized by their high level of
fragmentation, particularly in the hotel industry. Both the European and Asia Pacific markets continue to
benefit from increases in internet usage rates and growing acceptance of online booking, which has partially
offset the negative effects of the weak economy. In Europe, we have historically lacked scale relative to our
competitors. In 2008, we completed the migration of all of our ebookers websites onto our new technology
platform, which we believe will help us increase our scale and improve our competitive position in Europe
over time. Growth in the Asia Pacific market is one of our primary focuses for 2010, as it represents a region
with significant growth opportunity where our competition is not as entrenched. According to PhoCusWright,
the online travel booking penetration rates for Europe and Asia Pacific were 35% and 20%, respectively for
2009.
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Competition

The general market for travel products and services is intensely competitive. The online travel industry
generally has low barriers of entry and competitors can launch new websites at a relatively low cost. Our
current competitors include online travel companies, traditional offline travel companies, suppliers, travel
research companies, search engines and meta-search companies. In addition, we compete internationally with
smaller regional operators. The companies that we compete with include the following:

 Among online travel companies, our major competitors primarily include expedia.com, hotels.com,
hotwire.com and venere.com, which are owned by Expedia, Inc.; travelocity.com and lastminute.com,
which are owned by Sabre Holdings Corporation; priceline.com, bookings.com and agoda.com, which
are owned by priceline.com Incorporated; opodo.com, which is owned by Amadeus; rakuten.com,
which is owned by Rakuten, Inc.; and wotif.com and asiawebdirect.com, which are owned by
Wotif.com Holdings Limited. '

« In the offline travel company category, our largest competitors include companies, such as Liberty
Travel, Inc., American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., Thomas Cook Group PLC and
TUI Travel PLC.

* We compete with suppliers, such as airlines, hotel and rental car companies, many of which have their
own branded websites and toll-free numbers through which they generate business.

« We compete with travel research companies such as TripAdvisor LLC and Travelzoo Inc., through
which consumers can access content such as user-generated travel reviews. Travel research compames
also send customers to the websites of suppliers and our direct competitors.

+ We compete with search engines including Google, Bing, Yahoo! and AOL and meta-search companies
such as Kayak. Search and meta-search websites are capable of sending customers to the websites-of -
suppliers and our direct competitors.

Suppliers have increasingly focused on distributing their products through their own websites in lieu of
using third parties. Suppliers who sell on their own websites offer advantages such as their own bonus miles
or loyalty points, which may make their offerings more attractive than our offerings to some consumers '

Factors affecting our compehﬂve success include price, ava11ab111ty of travel products, ability to package
travel products across multiple suppliers, brand recognition, customer service and customer care, fees charged -
to customers, ease of use, accessibility, reliability and innovation.

Seasonality

Our businesses experlence seasonal ﬂuctuatlons in the demand for the products and services we offer. _
The majority of our customers book leisure travel rather than business travel. Gross bookings for leisure travel
are generally highest in the first half of the year as customers plan-and book their spring and summer
vacations. However, net revenue generated under the merchant model is generally recognized when the travel
takes place and typically lags bookings by several weeks or longer. As a result, our cash receipts are generally
highest in the first half of the year and our net revenue is typically highest in the second and third calendar
quarters. Our seasonality may also be affected by fluctuations in the travel products our suppliers make
available to us for booking, the growth of our international operations or a change in our product mix. - .
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Company Strategy

- -Our strategic focus for 2010 is on driving global hotel transaction growth, supporting our mission to
become one of the three primary hotel platforms globally. Specifically, we think of our activities as they relate
to hotels as falling into three areas: demand, supply and retailing.

Demand

We are focused on generatmg demand through both business- to -consumer and business-to-business
channels. In 2010, we intend to further increase brand awareness and loyalty such that consumers come
directly to our websites to book their travel. We are also focused on continuing to optimize our search engine
marketing spending to drive consumers to our websites in a cost effective manner, We are actively -pursuing
strategies to increase the amount of traffic coming to our websites through SEO, CRM, our pnvate label
business and our corporate travel business, Orbitz for Busmess .

Supply

We are- focused on workmg w1th our supphers to prov1de customers the ability to book a broad range of
highly- competitive travel products and services.on our websites. We are investing in enhanced hotel
connectivity and infrastructure solutions in 2010. We also intend to expand our supply footprint in markets
where online penetration is low. e

_ Retailing’

We are focused on ways to improve our ability to convert website visitors into customers. We plan to
enhance the customer shopping experience on our websites by developing new tools and technologies to help
users research options, improving the quality of the hotel content we make :available (such as editorial
descriptions, photographs and user-generated reviews) and through the development of systems and technology
that will allow us to use historical data to provide customers with more:relevant search results. We also 1ntend
to build upon our existing telesales capabilities to drive volume for higher margm travel products.

Employees

As of February 24, 2010, we had approximately 1,400 full-time employeés, more than half of whom were
based in the U.S. and the remaining were based primarily in Australia and the U.K. We believe we have a
good relationship with our employees. We outsource some of our technology support, development and
customer service functions to th1rd parties. Addmonally, we utilize 1ndependent contractors to supplement our
workforce. : : :

Company Website and Public Filings

We maintain a corporate website at'corp. .orbitz.com. The content of our-website is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form: 10-K or other repoits we file with or furnish to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Our filings with the SEC are provided to the public on our Investor Relations
website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable’after they are electronically filed with, or furnished -
to, the SEC. Other information regarding our corporate governance, such as our code of conduct, governance
guidelines and charters for our board committees, is also available on our Investor Relations website
(www.orbitz-ir.com). In addition, ‘the SEC maintains an Internet website that contains feports, proxy and -
information statements, and other mformatlon regardlng 1ssuers including us, that file electromcally with the
SEC at www.sec.gov.

 We also use our Investor Relations website (www.orbitz-ir.com) to make information: available to our
investors and the public. Investors and other interested persons can s1gn up to receive email alerts whenever
we post new information to the website. g
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Barney Harford, age 38, is our President and Chief Executive Officer and also serves as a director and as
a member of the executive committee of our board of directors. Prior to joining the Company in January 2009,
M. Harford served in a variety of roles at Expedia, Inc. from 1999 to 2006. From 2004 to 2006, he served as
President of Expedia Asia Pacific. Prior to 2004, Mr. Harford served as Senior Vice President of Air, Car &
Private Label and led Expedia’s corporate development, strategic planning and investor relations functions. He
joined Expedia in 1999 as a product planner. Mr. Harford currently serves on the board of directors of
GlobalEnglish Corporation, LiquidPlanner, Inc. and Orange Hotel Group. He holds an-M.B.A. from INSEAD
and a Master of Arts degree in Natural Sc1ences from Clare College Cambridge Umvers1ty

Marsha C Williams, age 58, serves as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, having served in
that capacity since July 2007. From August 2002 to February 2007, Ms. Williams served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Equity Office Properties Trust, the nation’s largest owner and operator
of office buildings. From May 1998 to August 2002, Ms. Williams was the Chief Administrative Officer of
Crate and Barrel. Ms. Williams served as Vice President of Amoco Corporation from December 1997 until
April 1998 and Treasurer of Amoco Corporation from October 1993 until April 1998, as well as in other
capacities and positions from November 1989 until October 1993. From 1988 to 1989, Ms. Williams: was Vice
President and Treasurer of Carson Pirie Scott & Co.,’and from 1973 to 1988, Ms. Williams served in various
positions with First National Bank of Chicago, including Vice President and Head, Retailing Companies
Division. Ms. Williams currently serves on the board of directors of Chicago Bridge & Iron Company, Modine
Manufacturing Company, The Davis Funds and Fifth Third Bancorp. Ms. Williams previously served on the
board of directors of the Selected Funds. Ms. Williams earned an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago
Graduate School of Busmess and a Bachelor of Arts degree from Wellesley College.

Mzchael J. Nelson, age 43, serves as Pres1dent Partner Services Group, respons1b1e for partner services -
and customer operations on a global basis since July 2009. Prior to his current role, Mr. Nelson served as our
Chief Operating Officer, and prior to becoming Chief Operating Officer.in 2007, Mr. Nelson had been
responsible for managing our international operations, which at the time included ebookers, Flairview (now
known as HotelClub) and Travelbag, an offlin¢ travel subsidiary. Mr. Nelson joined the Company in 2001, and
his diverse operating experience within the Company includes supplier relations, revenue management, finance,

_ product management and project management. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Nelson spent 10 years in
finance and marketing at: Deluxe Corporation from 1998 to 2001, Diageo/Pilisbury from 1993 to 1998 and
Arthur Andersen from 1989 to 1992. Mr. Nelson has an M.B.A. from the University of anesota and a
Bachelor of Science degree in Accountlng from the University of Minnesota.

Frank A. Petito, age 42, has served as President, Orbitz for Business since June.2009. Mr. Petito joined
the Company in 2002 and previously served as Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and was.
responsible for overseeing the Company’s corporate development function as well as its investor relations
function. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Petito was a Vice President in the mergers and acquisitions group
of Hambrecht & Quist, a technology-focused investment bank in San Francisco. Mr. Petito also worked as an
investment banker for Roberts Capital Markets in Buenos Aires, Argentina, and at Morgan Stanley in New
York and Los Angeles. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Petito was Chief Financial Officer of Unexplored, Inc., a
start-up travel company based in San Francisco, which filed for bankruptcy in 2001. Mr. Petito earned an
M.B.A. from Stanford University and a Bachelor of Arts degree from Princeton University.

James P. Shaughnessy, age 55, serves as Semor Vice President, Ch1ef Administrative Officer and General
Counsel, and is responsible for managing 1 the Company’s legal and government affairs departments as well as the
Company’s shared services, 1nc1ud1ng corporate communications, human resources and security and compliance.
Mr. Shaughnessy joined the Company in June 2007. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Shaughnessy was Senior
Vice President & General Counsel of Lenovo Group Ltd., which he joined in July 2005. Mr. Shaughnessy’s prior
experience includes service as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of PeopleSoft, Inc. and in
senior legal positions with Hewlett-Packard, Compaq and Digital Equipment Corporation. ‘Prior to joining
Digital, Mr. Shaughnessy worked with the Congloeum group of companies and was in private practice in
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Washington, D.C. Mr. Shaughnessy received a Bachelor of Science degree from Northern Mrch1gan Umvers1ty
and a J.D. and a Masters of Public Policy from the University of Michigan.-

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our results of operations and financial condition have been and may continue to be substantially and adversely
impacted by the economic ddwntum and our level of indebtedness increases our sensitivity to this risk.

While we have seen recent improvement in consumer spending, the global economy continues to suffer
following the deterioration in the capital markets and related financial crisis in the second half of 2008. Both
our .customers and suppliers have felt the impact of this downturn. Several U.S. airlines have implemented
capacity reductions in the face of slowing customer demand and are under increased pressure to reduce théir
overall distribution costs. The weakness in the economy has also negatively impacted consumer spending
patterns, including spending on travel. If consumer demand for travel and:the products offered on our websites
continues to decrease, our revenue may decline further. :

- If economic condltlons do not contmue to 1mprove or worsen, our results of operations and financial
condition could be materrally adversely impacted. In addition, a substanual or prolonged material adverse
impact on our results of operations and financial condition could affect our ability to satisfy the financial
covenants in our senior secured credit agreement, which could result in our having to seek amendments or
waivers from our lenders to avoid the termination of commitments and/or the acceleration of the maturity | of
amounts that are outstandmg under our term loan and revolving credit facility. The cost of our obtaining an
amendment or waiver could be significant, and could substantlally increase our cost of borrowing over the
remaining term of our senior secured credit agreement. Further, there can be no assurance that we would be
able to.obtain an amendment or waiver. If our lenders were unwilling to enter into an amendment or provide &
waiver, all amounts: outstanding under our term loan and revolvrng credit facility would.become 1mmed1ately
due and payable g : 4o “

Our lzqutdlty has been, and may continue to be, negatzvely lmpacted

The weak and, volatile condmons in the global ﬁnancral ‘markets and ﬁnancral sector caused a substantlal :
deterioration in the capital markets in late 2008 and early 2009. We expenenced the negative effects of this
1nstab111ty when Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (“LCPI”) filed for bankruptcy in October 2008. LCPI held a
$12.5 million commitment under our revolving credit facility, and its bankruptcy effectively reduced the total
availability under our revolving credit facility from $85 million to $72.5 million. In the last half of 2009, the
capital markets improved and in January 2010, PAR Investment Partners, L.P. (“PAR”) exchanged $50 million
aggregate. principal amount of term loans outstandmg under our senior secured credit agreement for
8,141,402 shares of our common stock, and Travelport concurrently purchased 9,025, 271 shares of our . ‘
common stock for $50 million in cash, which has improved our overall liquidity. Nevertheless, in the future
we may-’ requlre more liquidity than is ‘available to us under our revolving credit facility as a result of changes
in our business model, changes to payment terms or other supplier or regulatory agency-imposed requirements,
lower than anticipated operating cash flows or other unanticipated events, such as unfavorable outcomes in our
legal proceedmgs The liquidity provided by cash flows from our merchant model bookings could be reduced
if our suppliers, including credit card processors and hotels, changed their payment terms or imposed other
requirements on us, or if our merchant model bookings declined as a result of current economic conditions or
other factors. ' '

If in the future; we require more liquidity than is available to us under our revolving credit facility, we
cannot be certain that funding would be available to us or be available on attractive or acceptable terms. If
funding is not available when needed, or is available only on unfavorable terms, we may be unable to take
advantage of potential business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, which in turn could have a
material adverse impact on our results of operations -and liquidity.
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Our business and results of operations could be adversely affected if the financial condition of one or more
of our major suppliers, including airlines and car rental companies, deteriorates or restructures its
operations.

In the past several years, several major airlines have filed for bankruptcy protection, recently exited
bankruptcy or discussed publicly the risks of bankruptcy. In addition, the economic downturn has severely
impacted the automobile industry, including car rental companies. We depend on a relatively small number of
airlines for a significant portion of our net revenue. Our car net revenue is also generated from a relatively i
small number of car rental companies. As a result of this dependence, our business and results of operations
could be adversely affected if the financial condition of one or more of the major airlines or car rental
companies were to deteriorate or in the event of supplier consolidation in either of these industries. Potential
bankruptcies and consolidation in our suppliers’ industries could result in capacity reductions and increased
prices, which may in turn have a negative.impact on demand for travel products.

The trdvel industry is highly competitive, and we may not be able to effectivelj’ compete in the future.

We operate in the highly competitive travel industry. Our success depends, in large part, upon our ability
to compete effectively against numerous competitors, including other online travel companies, traditional
offline travel companies, supphers travel research companies, search engines and meta-search companies,
several of which have significantly greater ﬁnanc1a1 marketing, personnel and other resources than we have.
Factors affecting our competitive success include price, availability of travel products, ability to package travel
products across multiple suppliers, brand recognition, customer service and customer care, fees charged to
customers, ease of use, accessibility, reliability and innovation. If we are not able to compete effectively
against our competitors, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Supphers have increasingly focused on dlstnbutmg their products through their own websites, whlch
typically do not charge customers a booking or service fee. In addition, search and meta-search sites have
grown in popularity and may drive more traffic directly to the websites of suppliers or competitors. In
response, during 2009, certain online travel companies, including us, reduced or eliminated booking fees on
retail airline tickets and hotel stays and removed hotel change and cancellation fees. Although we were able to
mitigate the resulting loss of revenue in 2009 by improving our operating and marketing efficiency, there is no
assurance that we will be able to continue to absorb the full impact of the elimination of fees in the future.
Our results of operations could be negatively affected if competitive dynamics in the industry caused us to
further reduce or eliminate the service fees we charge our customers. If we are unable to implement further
changes to our business in an effort to absorb the continuing impact of the reduction or elimination of these
fees or are unable to increase revenue from other sources, our business, ﬁnanc1al condmon and results of
operations would suffer.

Our revenue is derived from the travel industry and a prolonged substantial decrease in travel volume,
particularly air travel, as well as other indiistry trends, have aml contmue to adversely affect our busmess,
financial condition and results of operatwns

. Our revenue is derived from the worldw1de travel 1ndustry As a result our revenue is directly related to
the overall level of travel activity, particularly air travel volume, and is therefore significantly impacted by
declines in or disruptions to travel in the U.S., Europe and the Asia Pacific region due to factors entirely -
outside of our control. These factors, which contributed in part to the 15% decline in our net revenue in 2009
compared with 2008, include:

* general economic conditions, particularly the current economic downturn which has caused a declme in
travel volume;

* global security issues, political instability, acts or threats of terrorism, hostilities or war and other
. political issues that could adversely affect travel volume in our key regions;

* epidemics or pandemics;

* natural disasters, such as hurricanes and earthquakes;

15



» the financial condition of suppliers, including the airline and hotel industry, and the impact of their
financial condition on the cost and availability of air travel and hotel rooms;

* changes to regulations governing the airline and travel industry;

« fuel prices;

» work stoppages or labor unrest at any of the major airlines ‘or airports;

¢ increased airport'Security that could reduce the convéniencc of air travel;

* travelers’ perceptions of the occurrence of travel related accidents or the scope, severity and tlmmg of
the other factors described above; and '

* changes in occupancy and room rates achieved by hotels.

If there is a prolonged substantial decrease in travel volumes, particularly for air travel and hotel stays,
for these or any other reasons, it would have an adverse impact on our business; financial condition and results
of operations.

We carry significant goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets on our consolidated balance sheets, and
if a future impairment were to occur based on a decline in our stock price, projected results of operations,
cash flows from operations or otherwise, we may be required to record a significant charge against
earnings.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, in response to changes in the
economic environment and the prolonged decline in our market capitalization, we recorded non-cash
impairment charges of $250 million and $210 million, respectively, related to our goodwill and $82 million
and $74 million, respectively, related to our indefinite-lived intangible assets. As of December 31, 2009, after
giving effect to these impairment charges, we had goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets of
$868 million, which represented approximately 67% of our total consolidated assets. Under generally accepted
accounting principles, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets must be tested for impairment annually
or more frequently whenever events occur and circumstances change indicating potential impairment. Factors
that could indicate that our goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets may be impaired include a prolonged
decline in our stock price and market capitalization, lower than projected operating results and cash flows and
slower growth rates in our industry. Due to the current economic uncertainty-and other factors, we cannot
predict whether our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets will be further impaired in future periods or
whether a significant charge against our earnings may be required, which could be higher than the charges
recorded during 2009 and 2008..If we are required to record -an impairment charge for our goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets in the future, this would adversely impact our results of operations.

We have a significant amount of mdebtedness, whu:h could llmlt the manner in which we operate our
business. :

As of December 31, 2009, we had approx1mate1y $619 million of outstandmg borrowmgs under our
senior secured credit agreement, which was reduced to $527 million as a result of the debt-equity exchange -
we completed with PAR and the repayment of outstanding borrowings on our revolving credit facility in
January 2010. Our substantial level of indebtedness could result in the following:

* it may impair our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures,
acquisitions or general corporate purposes;

» it reduces the funds available to us for purposes such as potential acquisitions and capital expenditures
because we are required to use a portion of our cash flows from operations to make debt service
payments; '

* it puts us at a competitive disadvantage because we have a higher level of indebtedness than some of
our competitors and reduces our flexibility in planning for, or responding to, changing conditions in the
economy or our industry, including increased competition; and
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* it may make us more vulnerable to general economic downturns and adverse developments in our
business. :

The credit agreement requires us to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and to not exceed a
. maximum total leverage ratio, which declines through March 31, 2011. If we fail to comply with these
covenants and we are unable to obtain a waiver or amendment, our lenders could accelerate the maturity of all
amounts outstanding under our term loan and revolving credit facility and could proceed against the collateral
securing this indebtedness. If this were to occur, there is no assurance that alternative financing would be
available to us or at favorable terms, particularly in the wake of the current economic environment.

In addition, restrictive covenants in our eredit agreement specifically limit our ability to, among other
things:

¢ incur atiditional indebtedness or enter into guarantees;

« enter into sale or leaseback transactions;

» make new investments, loans or acquisitions;

* grant or incur liens on our assets;

* sell our assets;

 engage in mergers, consolidations, liquidations or dissolutions;
* engage in transactions with afﬁliates; and

* make restricted payments.

As a result, we may operate our bus1ness dlfferently than 1f we were not subject to these covenants and
restrictions.

We rely on Travelport to issue letters of credit on our b_e’half under its credit facility.

As of December 31, 2009, approximately.$59 million of letters of credit were issued by Travelport on our
behalf. Under the terms of the Separation Agreement, as amended, Travelport has agreed ‘to issue and renew
letters of credit on our behalf through at least March 31, 2010 and thereafter so long as Travelport and its -
affiliates (as defined-therein) own at least 50% of our voting stock. Travelport’s obligation to issue. letters of
credit on our behalf is subject to certain further conditions, including a $75 million limitation on the aggregate
amount of letters of credit that Travelport is required to issue on our behalf at any given point in time. If we
do not have a separate letter of credit facility in place if or when Travelport is no longer obligated to issue
letters of credit on our behalf, or if we exceed the $75 million limitation or if we require letters of credit
denominated in foreign currencies, we would be required to issue letters of credit under our revolving credit
facility, which could 51gn1flcantly reduce our borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility. As of
December 31, 2009; we, had the equ1va1ent of $5 million of outstanding letters of credlt issued under our
revolving credit fac111ty, which were denominated in Pounds Sterling.

Certain of our international subsidiaries have a history of significant operating losses, and our inability to
improve their scale and profitability could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We have historically incurred significant operating losses at our international subsidiaries and may
continue to experience operating losses in the future, particularly since we expect to continue to incur high
levels of marketing and other expenses in order to expand our international operations. As a result, we have
made, and may continue to make, significant investments in our international operations by using a portion of
the cash flow generated from our domestic operations or making additional borrowings under our revolving
credit facility. There can be no assurance that our international subsidiaries will be profitable in the future or
that any profits generated by them will be sufficient to recover our investments in them.
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The profitability of our international subsidiaries depends to a large extent on the scale of their operations.
If we fail to achieve the desired scale, we. may not be able: to effectively compete in the global marketplace
and our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our international operations are subject to additional risks not encountered when doing business in the
U.S., including foreign exchange risk; and our exposure to these risks will increase as we expand our inter-
national operations.

With employees in approximately 20 countries outside the U.S., we generated 21% of our net revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2009 from our international operations. We are subject to certain tisks as a result
of having international operations and from having operations in multiple countries generally, including:

« difficulties in staffing and managing operations due to distance, time zones, ' language and cultural
differences, including i 1ssues assocrated with establrshlng management ‘infrastructure in various
countries;

» differences and unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and exposure to local economic
conditions;

kY

« limits on our ability to enforce our mtellectual property nghts and increased risk of piracy;
o preference of local populations for local providers;

* restrictions on the repatriation of non-U.S. investments and earnlngs back to the U.S.,, 1nclud1ng
withholding taxes imposed by certain foreign jurisdictions;

* diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights; and
¢ currency exchange rate fluctuations.

To the extent we are not able to effectively mitigate or eliminate these risks, our results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Further, our international operations require us to comply with a number of U.S. and international
regulations; including, among others, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”). Any failure by us to adopt
appropriate compliance procedures to ensure that our employees and agents comply with the FCPA and
applicable laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantlal penaltles or restrictions on
our ability to conduct businéss in certain foreign jurisdictions. ‘

Our ability to attract, train and retain executwes and other qualified employees is cnncal to our results of
operatwns and future growth. :

We depend substantially on the continued services and performance of our keyexecutives, senior
management and skilled personnel, particularly our professionals with experience in our industry and our
information technology and systems. Any of these individuals may chose to terminate their employment with

us at any time. The-specialized skills we require can be difficult and time-consuming to acquire and, as a
result, thesé skills are often in short supply. A significant period of time and expense may be required to hire
and train replacément personnel when skilled personnel depart the Company. Our inability to hire, train a.nd
retain a sufficient number of qualified employees could materially hinder our business by, for example,
delaying our ability to bring new products and services to market or 1mpa1r1ng the success of our operations or
prospects for future growth.

We rely on information technology to operate our businesses and maintain our competitiveness, and any
failure to adapt to techiological developments or industry trends could harm our business.

We depend upon the use of sophisticated information technologies and systems, including technologies
and systems.utilized for reservations, communications, procurement.and administrative systems. Certain of our
businesses also utilize third-party fare search solutions and GDSs or other technologies. As our operations
grow in both size and scope, we must continuously improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to
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offer our customers enhanced -products, services, features and functionality; while maintaining the reliability
and integrity of our systems and infrastructure. Our future success also-depends on our ability to adapt our
services and infrastructure to meet rapidly evolving industry standards while continuing to improve the
performance, features and reliability of our service in response to competitive service and product offerings
and the changing demands of the marketplace. In particular, expanding our systems and infrastructure to meet
any potential increases in business volume will require us to commit additional financial, operational and
technical resources before those increases materialize, with no assurance that they actually will. Furthermore,
our use of this technology could be challenged by claims that we have mfnnged upon the patents, copyrights
or other intellectual property rights of others.

In addition, we ‘may not be able to maintain our existing systems, obtain new technologies and systems,
or replace or introduce new technologies and systems as quickly as our competitors or in a cost-effective
manner. Also, we may fail to achieve the benefits anticipated or required from any new technology or system,
or we may be unable to devote financial resources to new technologies and systems in the future.-If any of
these events occur, our business could suffer. :

We are dependent upon third-party systems and service providers, and any disruption or adverse change in
their businesses could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We currently rely on certain third-party computer systems, service providers and software companies,
including the electronic central reservation systems and GDSs of the airline, hotel and car rental industries. In
particular, our businesses rely on third parties to:

» conduct searches for airfares;

e process hotel room transactions;

¢ process credit card payments; and

* provide computer infrastructure critical to our business.

In addition, we rely-on a: group of business process outsourcing companies located in various countries to
provide us with call center and telesales services, back office administrative services such as ticketing
fulfillment, hotel rate-loading and quality control and information technology services, as well as financial
services such as accounts payable processing and bank reconciliations. Any interruption in these third-party
services could have a material adverse effect on us.

Further, we currently utilize GDSs, including Worldspan, Galileo and Amadeus, to process a significant
portion of our bookings, and any interruption or deterioration in our GDS partners’ products or services could
prevent us from searching and booking airline and car rental reservations, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business. : :

~ Our success is dependent on our ability to maintain relationships with our technology partners. In the
event our arrangements with any of these third parties are impaired or terminated, we may not be able to find
an alternative source of systems support on a timely basis or on commerc1a11y reasonable terms, which could
result in significant additional costs or disruptions to our business. In addition, some of our agreements with
third-party service providers can be terminated by those parties on short notice and, in many cases, provide no
recourse for service interruptions. A termination of these services could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

System interruptions and the lack of redundancy may cause us to lose customers or.business opportunities.

Our inability to maintain and improve our information technology systems and infrastructure may result
in system interruptions. System-interruptions and slow delivery times, unreliable service levels, prolonged or
frequent service outages, or insufficient capacity may prevent us from efficiently providing services to our
customers,-which could result in our losing customers and revenue or incurring liabilities. In addition to the
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risks associated with inadequate maintenance or upgrading, our information technologles and systems are
vulnerable to. damage or interruption from various causes, including: -

e natural disasters, war and acts of terrorism;

* power losses, computer systems failure, Internet and telecommunlcatrons or data network failures,
operator error, losses and corruptlon of data, and similar events;

- computer viruses, penetration by individuals seeking to disrupt operatlons or nnsappropnate information
and other physical or electronic breaches of security; and v

* the failure of third-party systems or services that we rely upon to maintain our own operations.

We do not have backup systems for certain critical aspects of our operations. For example, if we were
unable to connect to certain third-party systems, such as. GDSs, due to failure of our systems, our ability to
process bookings could be significantly. or completely impaired. Many other systems are not fully redundant,
and our disaster recovery planning may not be sufficient. In addition, we may have inadequate insurance
coverage or insurance limits to compensate for losses from a major interruption,. and remediation may be
costly and have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. Any extended
interruption in our technologles or systems could srgnrﬁcantly curta11 our ability to conduct our businesses and
generate revenue. :

We depend on our supplier and partner relationships and adverse changes in these relationships or our
inability to enter into new relationships could negatively affect our access to travel offermgs and reduce our
revenue.

We rely significantly on our relationships with airlines, hotels and other supphers and travel partners.
Adverse changes in any of these relationships, or the 1nab111ty to enter into new relationships, could negatlvely
impact the availability and competitiveness of travel products offered on our web51tes Our arrangements with
suppliers and other travel partners may not remain in effect on current or similar terms, and the net 1mpact of
future pricing or, revenue sharing options may adversely impact our revenue. For example, our supphers and
other travel partners could attempt to terminate or renegotiate their agreements with us on more favorable
terms to them, which could reduce the revenue we generate from those agreements The significant reduction
by any of our major suppliers or travel partners in théir business with our companies for a sustained period of
time or their complete withdrawal of doing business with us could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operatlons

In addition, we currently depend on one of Travelport’s businesses, Gulhvers Travel Associates (“GTA”)
for access to hotel inventory. in certain.international regions while we work to increase our own direct
relationships with hotel suppliers in these regions. If we are unable to successfully establish direct relationships
with hotel suppliers or to replace our access to hotel inventory currently provided by GTA in a timely manner
or on comparable terms, we may not be able to operate our business effectively, and our financial performance
may suffer

Our arrangements wrth the airlines generally do not require the a1r11nes to provide -any spemﬁc quantity
of airline tickets or to make tickets available for any particular route or at any particular price. In addition,
certain airlines may terminate their agreements with us for any reason or no reason prior.to the scheduled
expiration date upon thirty days’ prior notice. The significant reduction on the part of any of our major
suppliers of their participation with us for a sustained period of time or their complete withdrawal could have
a material -adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operatrons :

Our relationships with the airlines may be 1mpacted by developments in the airline 1ndustry, such as
increasing consolidation or shifts in market share from full-service to low-cost carriers. Some low-cost carriers,
such as Southwest Airlines, have not historically distributed their tickets through third-party intermediaries.
Because our GDS service agreement with Travelport limits our ability to modify our existing agreements with
the airlines or to enter into new, direct distribution-arrangements, we may have.limited flexibility .to respond to
developments in the airline industry, and we may be forced to forgo new partnering opportunities. See “We are

20



dependent on Travelport for our GDS services” below. The limitations imposed by the GDS service agreement
may place us at a competitive disadvantage and .could negatively impact our business and results of operations.

Our business and financial performance could be negatively impacted by adverse tax events.

New sales, use, occupancy or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at
any time. Such enactments could adversely affect our domestic and international business operations and our
business and financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could
be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. These events could require us to pay additional
tax amounts on a prospective or retroactive basis, as well as require us to pay fees, penalties and/or interest for
past amounts deemed to be due. In addition, our revenue may decline because we could have to charge more
for our products and:sAervices.

New, changed, modified or newly interpreted or applied tax laws could also increase our compliance,
operating and other costs; as well as the costs of our products or services. Further, these events could decrease
the capital we have available to operate our busmess Any or all of these events could adversely impact our
business and financial performance

We also have a $37 million receivable mcluded in our consohdated balance sheets at December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008 related to amounts due to us from Cendant (now Avis Budget Group, Inc.).for a
portion of the tax sharing liability with the Founding Airlines. Cendant is obligated to pay us this amount
when it receives the tax benefit. If we were, in the futyre, to.determine that all or a portion of this receivable
is not collectable the portion of this receivable that was no longer deemed collectable would be charged to
expense in our consolidated statements of operatlons

We and others in the online travel industry are currently subject to various lawsuits related to hotel
occupancy tax in numerous'jurisdictions in the U.S., and other jurisdictions may be considering similar )
lawsuits. An adverse ruling in the existing hotel occupancy tax cases could require us to pay tax retroactrvely
and prospectlvely, and possibly penalties, interest and/or fees. We have also been contacted by several
mun1c1pa11t1es or other taxing bodies concerning our possible obligation with respect to local hotel occupancy «
or related taxes, and certain mun1c1pa11t1es have begun audit proceedings and some have issued assessments
against the Company. If the Company is found to be sub_]ect to the hotel occupancy tax ordinance by a taxing
authority and appeals the decision in court, certain _]ul‘lSdlCthl’lS may attempt to require us to prov1de financial
security or pay the assessment in order to challenge the tax assessment in court. The proliferation of new hotel
occupancy tax cases or audit proceedmgs could result in substantial additional defense costs. These events
could also adversely 1mpact our busmess and financial performance (see Item 3, “Legal Proceedmgs”).

Our busmesses are hlghly regulated, and any fazlure to comply with: such regulattons or any changes in
such regulations could adversely aﬁect us.

~We operate in a highly regulated 1ndustry both in the U.S. and 1nternat10na11y Our busmess fman01a1
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in or the enactment of
new laws, rules and regulations applicable to us, which could decrease demand for our products and services,
increase costs or.subject us to additional liabilities. Moreover, regulatory authorities have relatively broad
discretion to grant, renew and revoke licenses and approvals and to implement regulations. Accordingly, these
regulatory authorities could prevent or temporarily suspend-us from carrying-on some or all of our activities or
otherwise penalize us if our practices were found not to comply with the then current regulatory or licensing
requirements or:any interpretation of such requirements- by the regulatory authority. Our failure to comply with
any of these requirements or interpretations could have a material adverse effect on our operations. In addition;
the various regulatory regimes to which we are subject may conflict so that compliance w1th the regulatory
requrrements in one jurisdiction may create regulatory issues in another

Our business is subject:to laws: and regulat10ns relatmg to our revenue generatmg and marketmg activities,
including those prohibiting unfair and deceptive advertising:or practices. Our travel services are subject to
regulation and laws governing the offer of travel products and services, including laws requiring us to register
as a “seller of travel” in various jurisdictions and to comply with certain disclosure requirements. As an OTC-
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that offers customers the ability to book air travel in the U.S., we are also subject to regulation by the .
Department of Transportation, which has authority to enforce economic regulations and may assess civil
penalties or challenge our operating authority.

Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations may subject us to fines, penaltles and potential
criminal violations. Any changes to these laws or regulations or any new laws or regulations may make it
more difficult for us to operate our businesses and may have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Our processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal data could give rise to liabilities as a result of gov-
ernmental regulation, conflicting legal requirements, differing views of personal privacy rights or security.
breaches.

" In the processing of customer transactions, we receive and store a large volume of persohélly identifiable
information. This information is increasingly subject to legislation arid regulations in numerous jurisdictions
around the world. This legislation and regulation is generally intended to protect the privacy and security of
personal information, including credit card information, that is collected, processed and transmitted in or from
the governing jurisdiction. We could be adversely affected if domestic or international legislation or regulations
are expanded to require changes in our business practices, or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement
their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively affect our business. '

Travel companies have also been subjected to investigations; lawsuits and adverse pubhc1ty due to’
allegedly i improper disclosure of passenger information. As privacy and data protection have become more
sensitive issues, we may also become exposed to potential liabilities as a result of differing: views 'on the
privacy of travel data. These and other privacy concerns, 1nc1ud1ng security breaches, could adversely impact -
our business, financial condition and results of operations. '

Wg are expo;sed to risks associated with online commerce security and credit card fraud.

The secure transmission of confidential information over the Internet is essential in maintaining customer
arid supplier confidence in our services. Substantial or ongoing security breaches, whether instigated internally
or externally on our system or other Internet-based systems, could significantly harm our business. We
currently require customers to guarantee their transactions with their credit cards online. We rely on licensed
encryption and authentication technology to effect secure transmission of confidential customer information,
including credit card numbers. It is possible that advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries or other .
developments could result in.a compromlse or breach of the technology that we use to protect customer
transaction data.

We incur substantial expense to protect against and remedy security breaches and their consequences.
However, our security measures may not prevent security breaches. We may be unsuccessful in implementing
our remediation plan to address these potential exposures. A party (whether internal, external, an affiliate or
unrelated third party) that is able to circumvent our security systems could steal proprietary information-or
cause significant interruptions in our operations. Security breaches also could damage our reputation and
expose,.us.to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability. Security breaches could also cause customers and
potential customers to lose confidence in our security, which would have a negative effect on the demand for
our products and services.

Moreover, public perception concerning security and privacy on the Internet-could adversely affect
customers’ willingness to use our websites. A publicized breach of security, even'if it only affects other
companies conducting business over the Internet, could inhibit the growth of the Intemet and, therefore, our
services as a means of conductmg commercml transactmns

We are involved in various legal proceedings and may experience unfavorable outcomes, which ¢ould harm
us. Rl ; . . ,

We are-involved in various legal proceedings, including; but not limited to, actions relating to intellectual
property; in particular patent infringement claims against us, tax matters, employment law and other
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negligence, breach of contract and fraud claims, that involve claims for substantial amounts of money or for
other relief or-that might necessitate-changes to our business or operations. The defense of these actions may
be both time consuming and expensive. If any of these legal proceedings were to result in an unfavorable -
outcome, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.
In addition, historically, our insurers have reimbursed us for a significant portion of costs we incurred to
defend the hotel occupancy tax cases. If in the future these costs are relmbursed at a lower rate, or not at all,
our results of operations would be adversely impacted.

We may not protect our intellectual property effectively, which would allow competitors to duplicate our
products and services. This could make it more difficult for us to compete with them.

Our success and ability to compete depend, in part, upon our technology and other intellectual property,
including our brands. Among our significant assets are our software and other proprietary information and
intellectual property rights. We rely on a combmatlon of copynght trademark and patent laws, trade secrets,
confidentiality procedures and contractual prov1s1ons to protect these assets. However, we have a limited
number of patents, and our software and related documentanon are protected pnnmpally under trade secret and
copyright laws, which afford only limited protectlon and the laws of some _]UI‘lSd;lCthﬂS provide less protection
for our proprietary rights than the laws of the U.S. We have granted Travelport an exclusive license to our
supplier link technology, including our patents related to that technology. Under the exclusive license,
Travelport has the first right to enforce those patents, and so we will only be able to bring actions to enforce
those patents if Travelport declines.to do so. Unauthorized use and misuse of our intellectual property could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and the legal
remedies available to us may not adequately compensate us for the damages caused by unauthorized use.

Further, intellectual property challenges have been increasingly brought against members of the travel
industry. These legal actions have in the past and might in the future result in substantial costs and diversion
of resources and management attention. In-addition, we may need to take legal action in the future to eénforce
our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the
proprietary rights of others, and these enforcement actions could result in the invalidation or other impairment
of intellectual property rights we assert. '

Travelport’s controlling holders control us and may have strategtc interests that dlffer from ours or our
other shareholders.

Currently, Travelport and investment funds that own and/or control Travelport’s ultimate parent company
beneficially own approximately 56% of our outstanding common stock and therefore, indirectly control us and
all of our subsidiaries. As a result of this ownership, Travelport’s controlling holders are entitled to nominate
and elect.all of our directors and .own sufficient shares to determine the outcome of any actions requiring the
approval of our stockholders, including adopting most amendments to .our certificate of incorporation and
approving or rejecting proposed .mergers, 31gn1ﬁcant new investments or divestments or sales of all or
substantially all of our assets.

The interests of Travelport’s controlling holders may differ from those of our public shareholders in =
material respects. Travelport’s controlling holders and their affiliates are in the business of making investments
in companies and maximizing the return on those investments. They currently have, and may from time to
time in the future acquire, interests in businesses that directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of
our business or our suppliers or customers or busmesses on which we are substantially dependent, such as the
Travelport GDSs. In an effort to increase its revenues and i improve its overall profitability, Travelport could
seek to change the terms of its commercial relationships with.its GDS customers. Because we are limited in
our ability to pursue alternative GDS options or direct connections with suppliers during the term of our GDS
agreement with Travelport, any such actions by Travelport could make us a less attractive distribution channel
to our suppliers, who could attempt to terminate or renegotiate their agreements with us, and could place us at
a competitive disadvantage relative to other online travel companies. See “We are dependent on Travelport for
our GDS services” below. In addition, Travelport’s customers, many of which are also major suppliers to us,
have previously sought and may in the future seek to exert commercial leverage over us in an effort to obtain
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concessions from Travelport, which could negatively affect our access to travel offerings and adversely affect
our business and results of operations. ' ‘

As long as Travelport’s controlling holders continue to indirectly own a significant amount of our
outstanding voting stock, even if that amount is less than 50%, they will continue to be able to strongly
influence or effectively control us. The interests of these holders may differ from our other shareholders’
interests in material respects.

Actual or potential conflicts of interest may develop between our rhanagement and directors as well as the
management and directors of Travelport. :

Jeff Clarke serves as Chairman of our Board of Directors, while retaining his role as President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director of Travelport. The fact that Mr. Clarke holds positions with both Travelport
and us could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts of interest for him when he faces decisions that
may affect both Travelport and us. In addition, Mr. Paul C. Schorr IV, who is a senior managing director at
The Blackstone Group, and Mr. William J.G. Griffith, who is a general partner of TCV, both currently serve
on the board of directors of Travelport and serve on our board of directors. The fact that Mr. Schorr and
Mr. Griffith hold positions with their respective entities, Travelport and us, could create, or appear to create,
potential conflicts of interest when they face decisions that may affect two or more of these entities. In
addition, Jill A. Greenthal, who is a senior advisor in the Private Equity Group of The Blackstone Group,
currently serves on our board of directors. Affiliates of The Blackstone Group exercise control over
Travelport’s ultimate parent company and therefore, the fact that Ms. Greenthal holds a position with The .
Blackstone Group could create, or appear to create, a potential conflict of interest when she faces decisions
that affect both Travelport and us.

Further, our certificate of incorporation provides that no officer or director of Travelport who is also an
officer or director of ours may be liable to us or our stockholders for a breach of any fiduciary duty by reason
of the fact that any such individual directs a corporate opportunity to Travelport instead of us or does not
communicate information regarding a corporate opportunity to us because the officer or director has directed
the corporate opportunity to Travelport. These provisions may have the effect of exacerbating the risk of
conflicts of interest between Travelport and us because the provisions effectively shield an overlapping
director/executive. ‘

Because of their former positions with Travelport or its subsidiaries, certain members of our senior
management team have equity interests in Travelport’s ultimate parent company, some of which may be
significant relative to their total assets. Continued ownership by our officers of these interests creates, or may
create, the appearance of conflicts of interest when these officers are faced with decisions that could have
different implications for Travelport than the decisions have for us. Potential: conflicts of interest could arise in
connection with the resolution of any dispute between Travelport and us regarding the terms of commercial
agreements between the parties or their affiliates. Potential conflicts of interest could also arise if we enter into
any other commercial arrangements with Travelport in. the future, ' ‘ '

We are dependent on Travelport for our GDS servicesi.,

To varying extents, suppliers use GDSs to connect their products and services with travel companies, who
in turn make these products and services available to travelers for booking. Upder our GDS service agreement
with Travelport, we are required, subject to certain exceptions, to utilize Galileo and Worldspan, which are
subsidiaries of Travelport, for a significant portion of our GDS services, and our contractual obligations to
Travelport for GDS services may limit our ability to pursue alternative. GDS options. As a result, if Travelport
became unwilling or was unable to provide these services to us, we may not be able to obtain alternative
providers on a commercially reasonable basis, in a timely manner or at all, and our business would be
materially and adversely affected. : . - '

Furthermore, our GDS service agreement with Travelport limits our ability to modify the terms of our
agreements with existing suppliers or to pursue direct connections with new or existing suppliers during the
term of the agreement, which expires on December 31, 2014. These contractual obligations may reduce our
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flexibility to implemerit changes to our business in response to changing economic conditions, industry trends,
or technological developments. As a result, the limitations imposed by the GDS service agreement could place
us at a competitive disadvantage and negatively impact our business and results of operations, particularly in
the cur;eﬂt ecoﬂonﬁc"énviro_nmergt where our suppliers are under increased pressure to reduce their overall
distribution costs. o

We have granted Travelport perpetual licenses to use certain of our intellectual property, which could faciliQ
tate Travelport’s ability to compete with us.

We are party to a Master License Agreement with Travelport that governs each of our and Travelport’s
rights to-use certain of the other’s intellectual property. The master license agreement permits Travelport-and
its affiliate_s:" to 'usekand, in some cases, to sublicensek to third parties certain of our intellectual property,
including: -

« our supplier link technology;

. -porﬁohs of ebookers’ booking,- search and dynamic packaging technologies;

certain of our products and online bobki‘hg tools for corporate travel;
« portions.of our private label dynamic packaging technology; and
* our extr;uiet supplier connectivity functioha]ity.

Travelport and its affiliates may use these technologies as part of, or in support of, their own products or
services, including in some cases to directly compete with us.

The Master License ‘Agréement permits Travelport to sublicense our intellectual property (other than our
supplier link technology) to'a party that is not an affiliate of Travelport, except that Travelport may not
sublicense our intellectual property to a third party for a use that competes with our business, unless Travelport
incorporates or uses our intellectual property with Travelport products or services to enhance or improve ’
Travelport products or services (other than to provide our intellectual property to third parties on a stand-alone
basis). Travelport and its affiliates are permitted to use our intellectual property to provide their own products
and services to third parties that compete with us. With respect to our supplier link technology, Travelport has
an unrestricted license. These Travelport rights could facilitate Travelport’s, its affiliates’ and third parties’
ability to compete with us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. .. '

Our certificate of incorporation limits our ability to engage in mdny transactions without the consent of
Travelport. oo :

Our certificate of incorporation provides Travelport with a greater, degree of control and influence in the
operation of our business and the management of our affairs than is typically available to a stockholder of a -
publicly-traded company. Until Travelport ceases to beneficially own shares entitled to 33% or more of the
votes entitled to be cast by the holders of our then outstanding common stock, the prior consent of Travelport
is required for: : - :

"« any consolidation or merger of us or any of our subsidiaries with any person, other than a subsidiary; =

« any:sale, lease, exchange or other disposition or any acquisition or investment, other than certain
permitted investments, by us, other than transactions between-us and our subsidiaries, or any series of :
related dispositions-or acquisitions, except for those for which we give Travelport at least 15 days prior
written notice and which involve consideration not in excess of $15 million in fair market value, except
(1) any disposition of cash equivalents or investment grade securities or obsolete or worn out equipment
and (2) the lease, assignment or sublease of any real or personal property, in each case, in the ordinary
course of business; ' :

« any change in our authorized capital stock or our creation of any class or series of capital stock;
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* the issuance or sale by us or one of .our subsidiaries of any equity securities or equity derivative
securities or the -adoption of any equity incentive plan, except for (1) the issuance of equity securities
by us or one of our subsidiaries to Travelport or to another restricted subsidiary of Travelport and
(2) the issuance by us of equity securities under our equity incentive plans in an amount not to exceed
$15 million per year in fair market value annually;

* the amendment of various provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws; .
* the declaration of dividends on any class of our capxtal stock;
* the authonzatlon of any series of preferred stock \

« the creation, incurrence, assumption or guaranty by us or any of our subsidiaries of any indebtedness
for borrowed money, except for (1) up to $675 million of indebtedness at any one time outstandlng
under our credit agreement and (2) up to $25 million of other indebtedness so long as we g1ve
Travelport at least 15 days pnor wr1tten notlce of the mcurrence thereof

* the creatlon, existence or effectlveness of any consensual encumbrance or consensual restncuon by us- -
-or any of our subsidiaries on (1) payment of dividends or other distributions, (2) payment of ..
indebtedness, (3) the making of loans or advances and (4) the sale, lease or-transfer of any propertles or
assets, in each case, to Travelport or any of its restricted subsidiaries;.

* any change in the number of directors on our beard of directors, the establishment of any comrmttee of
the board, the determination of the members of the board or any committee of the board, and the filling
‘of newly created membershlps and vacanc1es on the board or any commlttee of the board; and

* any transactions with affiliates of Travelport involving aggregate payments or cons1derat10n in excess of
$10 million, except (1) transactions between or among Travelport or. any-of its restricted subsidiaries,
including us; (2) the payment of reasonable and customary fees paid to, and indemnities provided for
the benefit of, officers, directors, employees or consultants of Travelport, any of its direct or indirect

"”parent companies or any of its restricted subsidiaries, including us; (3) any agreement as in effect on
the date of the consummation of this offering; and (4) 1nvestments by The Blackstone Group and
certain of its affiliates in our or our subsidiaries’ securities so long as (i) the investment is being offered
‘generally to other investors on the same or inore favorable ternis and (ii) the investment constltutes less
than 5% of the proposed or outstandlng issue amount of such class of securities.

These restrictions could prevent us from being able to pursue transactions or relationships.that would
otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders. These restrictions could also limit stockholder value by
preventlng a change of control that you might consider favorable..

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

.

Item 2. Properties.

“Our corporate headquarters are located in leased office space in Chicago, Illinois. We also lease office
space for our ebookers brand portfolio in various ceuntriés, including the UK, Fi‘nland;Genn’any, the
Netherlands, Sweden and Switzerland. In addition, we lease office space for our HotelClub brand portfolio, -
primarily in Sydney, Australia. We believe that our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current
requirements and that additional space will be available as needed to accommodate any further expansion of
our business

Item 3 Legal Proceedmgs. "

We are involved in various clalms legal proceedmgs and governmental mqumes related to contract
disputes, business practices, intellectual property and other commercial, employment and tax matters. The
costs of defense and amounts that may be recovered in certain matters may be partially covered by insurance.
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The following list identifies all litigation matters for which we believe that an adverse outcome could be '
material to our financial position or results of operations, as well as. other matters that may be of particular
interest to our stockholders.

Consumer Class Actions

In re Orbitz Taxes and Fees Litigation. On May 24, 2005, a consolidated class action complaint was
filed in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois against Orbitz, LLC, Orbitz, Inc. and Cendant, Inc. This
case purports to be a national class action brought by persons who paid a fee in connection with paying for a
hotel room through the Orbitz website from March 19, 2003 to the present. The plaintiff also seeks actual
damages, attorneys’ fees, costs, interest and penalties on behalf of the purported class. On May 31, 2006, the
Court dismissed Cendant from this case for a second time, and dismissed all of the claims except for the
Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act claim. On May 30, 2007, the plamtlff filed a motion
for leave to file a Third Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint. This most recent complaint only
asserts a claim under the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act and names only one
class representative, an Illinois resident. The plaintiff alleges that Orbitz failed to provide proper disclosures to
consumers relating to fees charged by Orbitz when the consumer is booking a hotel room through the Orbitz
website. Orbitz is also alleged to have misled consumers by failing to break out the exact amount of the
service fee in the taxes and fees line displayed to consumers before the booking is complete. On June 26,
2007, the plaintiff filed a motion seeking an order certifying the action as a nationwide class action. On that
same date, Orbitz filed a motion for summary judgment. At the close of the December 19, 2007 hearing on
both motions, the Court denied the plaintiff’s motion for class certification and granted summary judgment in
favor of Orbitz. On January 17, 2008, the plaintiff filed its Notice of Appeal. On September 30, 2009, the
Appellate Court of Tllinois affirmed the Circuit Court’s December 19, 2007 order granting summary judgment
in favor of Orbitz and denied the plaintiff’s motion for class certification: On January 27, 2010, the Illinois
Supreme Court denied the plaintiff’s Petition for Leave to File an Appeal, concluding this matter.

Ronald Bush etal. v. CheapTzckets, Inc etal. On February 17, 2005, a class action complaint was
filed in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles on behalf of all Californians who
were assessed a “Taxes/Fees” charge when paying for a hotel, motel, or resort room through the defendants’
websites. The complaint was brought against a number of Internet travel companies, including Trip Network,
Inc. (d/b/a CheapTickets), Cendant Corporation, Orbitz, Inc and Orbltz, LLC. The plaintiffs’ claims are based
on allegations that the defendants charged for taxes that were not legitimate in that they were not required by
the taxing authorities to be collected. The plaintiffs also allege that the defendants failed to disclose this
improper practice. The plaintiffs seek an order certifying the action as a class action, actual damages, punitive
damages, restitution and/or disgorgement, attorneys’ fees; costs, interest, and injunctive relief. On October 15,
2008, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint removing all other Internet travel companies except for
Trip Network, Inc., Orbitz, Inc., and Orbitz, LLC and adding “Orbitz Worldwide.” The second amended
complaint asserts claims under the California Business and Professions Code and the Consumers Legal
Remedies Act, breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. On
August 22, 2008, the defendants filed a motion seeking a stay of all further proceedings pending final
determination of the appeal in the In re Orbitz Taxes and Fees Litigation case described above. On. October 10,
2008, the court granted the motion to stay as to the claims asserted against Orbitz, Inc. and Orbitz, LLC, but
denied it as to the claims asserted against Trip Network, Inc. and Orbitz Worldwide. On September 21, 2009,
pursuant to the parties’ stipulated request for dismissal, the court dismissed the action with prejudice.

Litigation Relating to Hotel Occupancy Taxes

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries and affiliates, including Orbitz, Inc., Orbitz, LLC,
Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com), Travelport Inc. (f/k/a Cendant Travel Distribution Services
Group, Inc.), and Internetwork Publishing Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com), are parties to various cases brought by
municipalities and othér governmental entities involving hotel occupancy taxes and our-merchant hotel
business model. Some of the cases are purported class actions, and most of the cases were brought
simultaneously against other online travel companies, including Expedia, Travelocity and Priceline. The cases
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allege, among other things, that we violated the jurisdictions’ hotel occupancy tax ordinance. While not
identical in their allegations, the cases generally assert similar claims, including violations of local or state
occupancy tax ordinances, violations of consumer protection ordinances, conversion, unjust enrichment,
imposition of a constructive trust, demand for a legal or equitable accounting, injunctive relief, declaratory
Jjudgment, and in some cases, civil conspiracy. The plaintiffs seek relief in a variety of forms, including:
declaratory judgment, full accounting of monies owed, imposition of a constructive trust, compensatory and
punitive damages, disgorgement, restitution, interest, penalties and costs, attorneys’ fees, and where a class

action has been claimed, an order certifying the action as a class action.

An adverse ruling in one or more of these cases could require us to pay tax retroactively and
prospectively and possibly penalties, interest and fines. The proliferation of additional cases could result in

substantial additional defense. costs.

City or County Filing
Litigation

City of Los Angeles, California*
City of Findlay, Ohio

City of Chicago, Illinois
City of Rome, Georgia*

City of San Diego, California

Orange County, Florida

City of Atlanta, Georgia
City of Charleston, South Carolina

City of San Antonio, Texas**

Town of Mt. Pleasant, Soutﬁ Carolina

Columbus, Georgia

Lake County Convention and Visitor
Bureau and Marshall County, Indiana*

Cities of Columbus and Dayton, Ohio - -

City of North Myrtle Beach, South
Carolina

County of Nassau, New York*

- Date Litigation
Instituted

Court Where Litigation is Pending

December 30, 2004

October 25, 2005

November. 1, 2005 .
November 18, 2005

February 9, 2006

March 13, 2006

March 29, 2006
April 26, 2006

May 8, 2006

May 23, 2006
June 7, 2006

June 12, 2006

August 8, 2006

August 28, 2006

October 24, 2006
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Superior Court for. the State of California,
County of Los Angeles

United States District Court for the
Northern District of Ohio

Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia

Superior Court for the State of California,
County of Los Angeles

Case was coordinated with the City of
Los Angeles case (above) on July 12,
2006

Ninth Judicial Circuit-in and for Orange
County, Florida
Supreme Court of Georgia

United States District Court for the
District of South Carolina

United States District Court for the
Western District of Texas

United States District Court for the
District of South Carolina

Case was coordinated with the City of
Charleston case (above) on April 26, 2007

Superior Court of Muscogee County,
Georgia -

United States District Court for the
Northern District of Indiana

United States District Court for the
Northern District of Ohio

Case was consolidated with the City of
Findlay case (above) on November 6,
2007

United States District Court for the
District of South Carolina

United States District Court for the
Eastern District of New York



City or County Filing
Litigation

Wake County, North Carolina

City of Branson, Missouri
Daro_ County, North Carolina

Buncombe County, North Carolina

Horry County, South Carolina

City of Myrtle Beach, South Carolina -

City of Gallup, New Mexico**

Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

City of Goodlettsville, Tennessee*

Township of Lyndhurst, New Jersey*

City of Jacksonville, Florida*
City of Baltimore, Maryland
Worcesten County, Maryland
Monroe County, Florida*

City of Bowling Green, Kentucky
County of Genesee, Michigan*

St. Louis County, Missouri
Village of Rosemont, Illinois

Palm Beach, Florida

Brevard County, Florida

Date Litigation
Instituted

Court Where Litigation is Pending

- November 3, 2006 _

December 18, 2006_

January 26, 2007

February 1, 2007

February 2, 2007
February 2, 2007

July 6, 2007

January 10, 2008

June 2, 2008
June 18, 2008

July 1, 2008

December 10, 2008

January 6, 2009
January 12, 2009

March 10, 2009
April 16, 2009

July 6, 2009

July 24, 2009
July 30, 2009

October 2, 2009
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General Court of Justice, Superior Court
Division, Wake County, North Carolina

 Circuit Court of Greene County, Missouri
General Court of Justice, Supenor Court

Division, Dare County, North Carolina

‘Case was coordinated with the Wake

County case (above) on April 4, 2007

General Court of Justice, Superior Court
Division, Buncombe County, North- -
Carolina Case was coordinated with the
Wake County case (above) on April 4 '
2007

Court of Common Pleas, Horry County,
South Carolina
Court of Common Pleas, Horry County,
South Carolina

United States District Court for the
District of New Mexico

General Court of Justice, Superior Court
Division, Mecklenburg County,

North Carolina

Case was coordinated with the Wake
County case (above) on February 19,
2008

United States District Court for the -~ -
Middle District of Tennessee

United States Court of Appeals for the
Third Circuit

Fourth Judicial Circuit for Duval County,
Florida

United States Dlstrlct Court for the
District of Maryland )
United States District Court for the
District of Maryland

United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida

Warren County Circuit Court, Kentucky

Circuit Court for the County of Ingham
Michigan

Circuit Court for the County of St. Louis,
Missouri

Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois
Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial

Circuit in and for Palm Beach County,
Florida -

United States District Court for the
Middile District of Florida



City or County Filing : ) ’ ‘Date Litigation

Litigation . ; Instituted Court Wltere Litigation -vis Pending
Leon County, Florida November 5, 2009 Circuit Court of the Second Judicial
’ . ~ Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida

Leon County, Florida » December 14,2009 Circuit Comt, of the Second Judicial .

» ' o Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida
County of Lawrence, Pennsylvania* November 20, 2009 ~ Court of Common Pleas of Lawrence

, ‘ County, Pennsylvania
Birmingham, Alabama December 11, 2009  Circuit Court. of Jefferson County,
Alabama

* Indicates purported class action filed on behalf of named City or County and other (unnamed) cities, coun-
ties, governments or other taxing authorities with similar tax ordinances.

** Indicates court certified class action on behalf of named City or County and other (unnamed) c1t1es, coun-
ties, governments or other taxing authorities with s1m11ar tax ordinances:

The following legal proceedlngs relating to hotel occupancy taxes previously reported by us were
dismissed since October 1, 2009:

On November 17, 2009, the County of Lawrence, Pennsylvania filed a notice of voluntary dismissal of
the complaint which had been pending in the United States District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania. On November 20, 2009, the County re-filed its clalm in Pennsylvama state court.

On December 22, 2009, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit affirmed the United
States District Court for the Western District of Kentucky’s dismissal of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro
Government, Kentucky’s complamt finding. that the defendant Internet travel compames are not subject to the
hotel occupancy tax.

On December 29, 2009, the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Cole County, Missouri dismissed the
City of Jefferson, Missouri’s complaint with prejudlce following the parties’ conﬁdentlal settlement of the
case.

- On January 19, 2010, the District Court of Harris County, Texas granted the defendant Intemet travel
companies’ motion for summary judgment on the City of Houston, Texas’ complalnt

~ On January 19, 2010, the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Arkansas, Fifth Division, granted the
defendant Internet travel companies’ motion to dismiss Pine Bluff Advertising and Promotion Commission and
Jefferson County, Arkansas’ complamt

In addition, the following other material develoi)ments in the legal proceedings relating to hotel
occupancy taxes occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2009:

On October 30, 2009, in the case titled Ciry of San Antomo Texas v. Hotels. com, L.P, et. al., the

defendant Internet travel companies received a jury verdict ﬁndmg that each has been or currently are

“controlling hotels” under the local hotel occupancy tax ordinances. The jury’s verdict further found that
Orbitz, LLC, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork Publishing Corp. (d/b/a
Lodging.com) did not convert any alleged tax monies belonging to-the City of San Antonio or any other class
member, and the jury therefore rejected the City of San Antonio’s request for punitive-damages. The final
amount of any judgment that may be rendered in the future against Orbitz, LLC, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a
Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork Publishing Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com) has not been determined. The jury’s
verdict found that Orbitz, LL.C, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork Publishing
Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com), combined, owed the City of San Antonio and the other 172 class members
approximately $1.9 million in:hotel occupancy taxes through May, 2009. The court will conduct further
proceedings, including among other things, determininig the amount of any taxes, interest and penalties owed,
which may be substantial. At this time, we are unable to estimate the final-amount of any judgment that may -
be rendered in the future. Orbitz, LLC, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork
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Publishing Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com) intend to continue to defend themselves vigorously in this matter,
including an appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, if necessary. ‘

We have also been contacted by several municipalities or other taxing bodies concerning our possible
obligations with respect to state or local hotel occupancy or related taxes. The cities of Phoenix, Arizona;
North Little Rock and Pine Bluff, Arkansas; Colorado Springs and Steamboat Springs, Colorado; Osceola
County, Florida; 42 cities in Calrfornra an entity representing 84 cities and 14 counties in Alabama; the
counties of Jefferson Arkansas; Brunswick and Stanly, North Carolina; Duval County, Florida; Davis, Summit,
Salt Lake, Utah and Weber, Utah; the South Carolina Department of Revenue; the Colorado Department of
Revenue and the Hawaii Départment of Taxation have issued notices to the Company. These taxing authorities
have not issued assessments, but have requested information to conduct an audit and/or have requested that the
Company register to pay local hotel occupancy taxes.

In addition, the cities of Anaheim, Los Angeles, San Diego and San Francisco, California; the counties of
Miami-Dade and Broward, Florida; the cities of Alpharetta, Cartersville, Cedartown, College Park, Dalton,
East Point, Hartwell, Macon, Rockmart, Rome, Tybee Island and Warner Robins, Georgia; the counties of
Augusta, Clayton, Cobb, DeKalb, Fulton, Gwinnett, Hart and Richmond, Georgia; the city of Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, and state tax officials from Indiana and Wisconsin have begun audit proceedings and some have
issued assessments against the Company, ranging from almost nil to approximately $3 million, and totaling
approximately $10 million. . :

Certain assessments made in these audit proceedings have become final, and the Company has filed
lawsuits challenging the final assessments. The following is a list of lawsuits brought by the Company
challenging such final assessments:

On January 12, 2009 Orbitz, LLC and Intemetwork Pubhshmg Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com) filed a
complaint against Broward County and the Florida Department of Revenue asserting that they are not subject
to the Tourist Development Tax. On August 25, 2009, the Company filed a second complaint against Broward
County and the Florida Department of Revenue-asserting the same claims but addressing additional
assessments issued by the County.

On February 11, 2009, Orbitz, LLC, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork
Publishing Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com) field a writ of administrative mandamus against the City of Anaheim,
California challenging their liability under the transient occupancy tax. On February 1, 2010, the Superior - -
Court for the County of Los Angeles, California granted a writ of mandate finding that the City of Anaheim’s
ordinance does not impose transient occupancy tax on the service provided by OTCs, including Orbitz, LLC,
Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets:com) and Internetwork Publishing Corp:-(d/b/a Lodging.com). The
court’s decision set aside the hearing officer’s finding that the Company and other OTCs were subject to the
transient occupancy tax and owed taxes, interest and penalties to the City of Anaheim.

On March 30, 2009, Orbitz, LLC filed a Petition’ Appealing Final Determination of the Indiana
Department of Revenue and a Petition to Enjoin Collection of Tax seeking a determination that Orbitz, LLC is
not subject to the Indiana Gross Retail Tax and the County Innkeeper’s Tax and that the Indiana Department
of Revenue violated the Internet Tax Freedom_ Act the Supremacy Clause, the Commerce Clause and the Due
Process Clause.

, -On December 21, 2009, ‘Orbitz, LLC, Trip Network, Inc. (d/b/a Cheaptickets.com) and Internetwork
Pubhshlng Corp. (d/b/a Lodging.com) filed a complaint against Miami-Dade, Florida and the Florida
Department of Revenue challengmg their habrhty under the Tourist Development Tax and Conventron
Development Tax. : '

The Company disputes that any hotel occupancy or related tax is owed under these ordinances and is
challenging the assessments made against the Company. If the Company is found. to be subject to: the hotel |
occupancy tax ordinance by a taxing authority and appeals the decision in court; certain jurisdictions. may
attempt to require us to provide financial secunty or pay the assessment to the mun1c1pahty in order to
challenge the tax assessment in court.

31



Litigation related to Intellectual Property

DDR Holdings, LLC v. Hotels.com, L.P, et al. On January 31, 2006, DDR Holdings, LLC (“DDR”)
filed an action in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Marshall D1v1s1on) against
a number of Internet companies, including Cendant Corporation, for alleged infringement of U.S. Patents Nos.
6,629,135 (entitled “Affiliate Commerce System and Method”), and 6,993,572 (entitled “System and Method
for Facilitating Internet Commerce with Outsourced Websites”), which DDR claims full right and title to. The
plaintiff asserts only patent infringement claims. The plaintiff seeks unspecified damages, injunctive relief, a
declaratory judgment and attorneys’ fees. On April 12, 2006, the plaintiff amended its complaint to add
Internetwork Publishing Corporation (d/b/a Lodging.com) as a defendant. On Apr11 12, 2006, the plaintiff
voluntarily dismissed Cendant Corporation and named Cendant Travel Distribution Services Group, Inc. as a
defendant. On July 14, 2006, certain defendants filed a motion for summary judgment alleging that both
patents are invalid (Cendant Travel Distribution Services Group, Inc. and Internetwork Publishing Corporation
joined on July 19, 2006). On September 22, 2006, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint adding Neat
Group Corporation as a defendant and not including Cendant Travel Distribution Services Group, Inc. as a
defendant. On September 26, 2006, DDR filed a request of reexamination in the United States Patent and
Trademark Office, of the patents-in-suit. DDR moved to stay the lawsuit pending the outcome ‘of any -
reexamination. On December 19, 2006, the court administratively closed the case pending reexamination. The
court ruled that actions by defendants during the reexamination may not be used to argue willful infringement,
but the court reserved judgment on whether damages are tolled. On February 2, 2007, the Patent and
Trademark Office granted DDR’s requests for reexamination of the two patents-in-suit.

We intend to defend vigorously against the claims described above. We are ﬁnable to predict the outcome
of these proceedings or reasonably estimate a range of poss1ble loss that may result. If any of these legal
proceedings were to result in an unfavorable outcome, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Item 4. Reserved.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Rvegistrant’stom‘mon Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities. ' o '

Market Info’rmatioﬁ )
Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “OWW.” The

following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock for each of the periods
presented:

2009 : 2008
High Low High- Low
Fourth Quarter ... .. ... S P $8.11 $4.66 $6.05 $2.00
Third Quarter . . [................. JP P . $6.76  $1.74  $7.63 = $3.49
Second Quarter. . ... ... e ey $2.75 $1.25 $8.99 $4.92

First Quarter. : ... ........ e $4.39 $1.10 $8.66 $4.51

Holders

As of February 24, 2010, there were approximately 53 holders of record of our common stock. Several
brokerage firms, banks and other institutions (“nominees”) are listed once on the stockholders of record listing.
However, in most cases, the nominees’ holdings represent blocks of our common stock held in brokerage
accounts for a number of individual stockholders. As such, our actual number of stockholders is higher than
the number of registered stockholders of record. )

Dividends

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock during the years ended December 31,
2009 or December 31, 2008, and we do not intend to in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to
pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors, may require the consent of Travelport and
will depend on several factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
restrictions contained in existing and future financing instruments and other factors that our board of directors
may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2009 with respect to shares of our common
stock that may be issued under our equity compensation plans.

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
- Future Issuance Under
Number of Securities to be Weighted Average Equity Compensation Plans
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of (Excluding Securities
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Reflected in First Column)

Equity compensation plans approx}ed

by security holders . ........... 4,236,083 $9.46 3,222,601
Equity compensation plans not

approved by security holders. . . .. e — R
Total . ... e 4,236,083 $9.46 3,222,601

|
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Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total shareholder return through December 31, 2009 of an investment of

$100 in cash on July 20, 2007 (which is the first date that our common stock began trading on the NYSE) for
our common stock and an-investment of $100 in cash on July 20, 2007 for (i) the S&P MidCap 400 Index and

(ii) the Research Data Group (“RDG”) Internet Composite Index. The-RDG Internet Composite Index is an

index of stocks representing the Internet industry, including Internet software and services companies and ™

e-commerce companies. Historic stock performance is not necessarily indicative of future stock price

performance. All values assume reinvestment of the full amount of all dividends and are calculated as of the

last day of each month.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table sets forth repurchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2009:

Total Number of
- Shares Purchased.as© Maximum Number of
. Part of Publicly Shares That May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans or - Purchased Under the

Period Shares Purchased(a) Paid Per Share = .. Programs(b) Plans or Programs(b)
October 1, 2009 to October 31, 2009. . . . . — = = : : —_
November 1, 2009 to November 30, 2009. . 324 $6.08 — o -
December 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009 . . = - — —

Total. . ..o o ﬁ . $6.08

I

(a) Represents shares of our common stock transfetred to us-from employees in satisfaction of minimum tax
withholding obligations associated with the vesting of restricted stock during the period. These shares are
held by us in treasury.

(b) During the fourth quarter of 2009, we did not have a publicly announced plan or program for the repur-
chase of our common stock.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected financial data presented in the table below is derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements. This data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Prior to the completion of the initial public offering (“IPO”) of shares of our common stock in July 2007,
we had not operated as an independent standalone company. As a result, our consolidated financial statements
have been carved out of the historical financial statements of Cendant for the period prior to the Blackstone
Acquisition and out of the historical financial statements of Travelport for the period subsequent to the
Blackstone Acquisition. In connection with the Blackstone Acquisition, the carrying values of our assets and
liabilities were revised to reflect their fair values as of August 23, 2006, based upon an allocation of the
overall purchase price of Travelport to the underlying net assets of the various Travelport affiliates acquired.
Selected financial data is presented below on a “Successor” basis (reflecting Travelport’s ownership of us) and
“Predecessor” basis (reflecting Cendant’s ownership of us) and has been separated by a vertical line to identify
these different bases of accounting.

Our historical consolidated financial statements do not reflect what our financial position, results of
operations and cash flows would have been had we operated as a separate, standalone company without the
shared resources of Cendant in the Predecessor periods and Travelport in the Successor periods. In addition,
Cendant acquired ebookers in February 2005. As a result, our consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2005 include the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of ebookers
since February 2005.
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~ - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
-(in millions, except share and per share data)

Period from |Period from
St | Sl ears e
Years Ended Decgmber 31, December 31,| August 22, December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2006 2006(a) 2005
Successor . Successor Successor Successor | Predecessor Combined Predecessor
Statements of operations data: . !
Netrevenue ............... $ 738 $ 870 $ 859  $242 $ 510 $752 - $ 686
Cost and expenses R , . ’
Costof revenue . .......... 138 163 157 38 .15 113 101
Selling, general and , _ ‘
administrative . . . . .. e 257 272 301 112 191 - 303 293
Marketing ............... 215 310 302 89 188 277 224
Depreciation and o o N )
amortization . .. ......... 69 66 57 18 37 55 " 78
Impairment of goodwill and g o : S '
intangible assets . ........ 332 - 297 — — 122~ 122 400
Total operating expenses. ... ... 1,011 1,108 817 257 613 870 1,096
Operating (loss) income . . . . .. (273) (238) 42 (15) ( 103)V (118) (410)
Other (expense) income
Net interest expense . .. ... .- 1) (63) (83) 9) as) . 27N - (22)
Gain on extinguishinent of '
debt.................. 2 — — — — — —_
Other income, net. . ........ — — — —_— 1 1 2
Total other (expense) ......... (55) (63) (83) 9 an (26) 20)
Loss before income taxes. . . . .. (328) (301) 41 (24) (120) (144) (430)
Provision (benefit) for income ‘ ’ ’ ‘
AXES v vt e e R . 9 (2) 43 -1 1 2 . (42)
Netloss .................. 337 (299) (84) (25) ‘(121 (146) (388)
Less: Net income atiributable to Co E ' o o
‘noncontrolling interest. . . . - . — — (1) — — — —
Net loss attributable to Orbitz _ ' A ' ‘
Worldwide, Inc. . . ........ $  (33D§ 299)8$ - (85) © $(25 $(121) " $(146)° $ (388)
Period from
* Years Ended '51(1)18771%
December 31, December 31,
. L2009, 2008 2007
Net loss attributable to Orbitz ' -
Worldwide, Inc. common ] o
shareholders .. ... ... ... 8 337)$ (299) $ (42)
Net loss. per share attributable
to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
common shareholders —
basic and diluted:
~ Net loss per share attributable
to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
common shareholders . . ... $ “4.01)$ (3.58)$ (0.51)

Weighted average shares
outstanding '

84,073,593 83,342,333 81,600,478

Cash dividends declared per .
common share. . . .. SRR
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" As of December 31,

2009 . 2008 : 2007 2006 2005

Successor Successor Successor Successor Predecessor
Balance sheet data: ) TR
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . T $ 89 $ 31 $ 25 $ 18 $ 28
Working capital (deficit)(b) . . . . . R o (250) (258) (301) (283) (259)
Total assets . ... ... A e ece 1,294 1,590 - 1,925 2,061 2,060
Total long-term debt ... .................... 598 608 594 — —
Total shareholders’ equity/invested equity. . .. .. .. © - 130 438 738 1,267 1,424

~ (a) The combined resuits of the Successor and the Predecessor for the periods in 2006 are not necessarily
comparable due to the change in basis of accounting resulting from the Blackstone Acquisition and the
associated change in capital structure. The presentation of the results for the year ended December 31,
2006 on this combined basis does not comply with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.
(“GAAP”); however, we believe that this provides useful information to assess the relative performance of
our businesses in the periods presented in the financial statements on an ongoing basis. The captions
included within our consolidated statements of operations that are materially impacted by the change in
‘basis of accounting primarily include net revenue, depreciation and amortization and impairment of good-
will and intangible assets.

(b) Defined as current assets less current liabilities.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
General

We are a leading global online travel company that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and
business travelers to search for and book a broad range of travel products and services. Our brand portfolio
includes Orbitz, CheapTickets, The Away Network, and Orbitz for Business in the Americas; ebookers in
Europe; and HotelClub based in Sydney, Australia, which has operations globally. We provide customers with
the ability to book a comprehensive set of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide, including air
travel, hotels, vacation packages, car rentals, cruises, travel insurance and destination services such as ground
transportation, event tickets and tours. Our strategic focus is on driving global hotel transaction growth. See -
Item 1, “Business — Company Strategy” for a discussion of our strategic initiatives.

We generate revenue primarily from the booking of travel products and services on our websites. We
provide customers the ability to book travel products and services on both a standalone basis and as part of a
dynamic vacation package, primarily through ‘our merchant and retail business models. Under our merchant
model, we generate revenue for our services based on the difference between the total amount the customer
pays for the travel product and the negotiated net rate plus estimated taxes that the supplier charges us for that
product. Under our retail model, we earn commissions from suppliers for airline tickets, hotel rooms, car
rentals and other travel products and services booked on our websites. In addition, under both the merchant
and retail business models, we may, depending upon the brand and the travel product, earn revenue by
charging customers a service fee for booking their travel reservation on our websites (see “Industry Trends”
below). We also receive incentive payments for air, car and hotel segments that are processed through a global
distribution system (“GDS”). :

We also generate advertising revenue through our partner marketing programs. These programs provide
access to our customers through a combination of display advertising, performance-based advertising and other
marketing programs. In addition, we generate-revenue from our private label and hosting businesses. We earn
revenue from our private label business through revenue sharing arrangements for travel booked on third-party
websites. We earn revenue from our hosting business through license or fee arrangements. ’
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We:took significant steps in 2009 to improve our customer value proposition by launching Total Price
hotel search results and Orbitz Hotel Price Assurance; both. of which are industry-leading innovations. We also
removed our hotel change and cancellation fees and reduced booking fees on hotels booked through
Orbitz.com and CheapTickets.com. We believe these improvements to our global hotel offering deliver value -
to our customers and should improve our competitiveness over time.

In light of current economic and industry conditions, we are also focused on improving our operating and
marketing efficiency, simplifying the way we do business, and continuing to innovate. In late 2008 and in
2009, we lowered our cost structure by reducing our global workforce and use of contract labor-and by cutting
various other operating and capital costs. We also completed the launch of a common technology platform for
all of our ebookers websites in Europe. We will continue to focus on opportunities to further streamline our
cost structure. We believe these actions will position us to more effectively compete in this challenging
environment.

Industry iréﬁds

The economic recession significantly impacted the travel industry during 2009. As demand for air travel’
continued to be weak, certain domestic and international airlines reduced capacity and reduced ticket prices m
2009 to levels significantly below 2008 levels to drive volume. We expect airline capacity to increase
nominally in 2010 as compared with 2009. However, bankruptcies and consolidation in the airline industry
could result in further capacity reductions, which would reduce the number of airline tickets available for
booking on online travel companies’ (“OTCs”) websites.

In 2009, certain OTCs who historically charged booking fees, including us, eliminated booking fees on
most, if not all, flights and reduced booking fees on hotels. We believe these fee actions will be permanent.
The elimination of air booking fees on OTCs’ websites has significantly reduced the net revenue that OTCs
generate from airline tickets. We were able. to offset most of the impact of the fee reduction in 2009 through
our cost reductions, our 1mproved marketmg efficiency and the increase in air transactions we have
experienced since removing fees.

- Fundamentals in the U.S. hotel industry appear to be stabilizing but continue to be weak. Hotel occupancy
rates and average daily rates (“ADRs”) continued to decline in 2009. We believe that hotel suppliers will
maintain:2010 ADRs at levels similar to 2009 in an attempt to increase hotel occupancy. Fundamentals in the
European and Asia Pacific hotel industries are also weak. Lower ADRs reduce the net revenue that OTCs earn
on hotel bookings:

The economic recession has also significantly impacted the car rental industry. As a result of lower
demand for air travel, demand for car rentals declined in 2009. In addition, car rental companies reduced their
rental .car fleets in 2009, which resulted-in a significant increase in ADRs for domestic car rentals. This -
increase in ADRs partially offset the negative impact of reduced demand for car rentals. In 2010, we expect
demand for car rentals to improve as car rental companies increase their fleet sizes and demand for air travel
improves.

We believe that our gross bookings and net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008 were significantly negatively impacted by the economic and industry conditions described
above. Although we have begun to see initial signs of a recovery in the economy and industry fundamentals,
we expect weak economic conditions will continue to impact our gross bookings and net revenue in 2010. In
response to economic and industry conditions, in late 2008 and in 2009, we lowered our cost structure by
reducing our global workforce and use of contract labor and by cutting various other operating and capital
costs. In 2009, we also significantly restructured our approach to marketing, placing greater emphasis on
attracting more traffic to our websites through search engine optimization (“SEO”) and customer relationship
management (“CRM”) and improving the efficiency of our search engine marketing (“SEM”) and travel
research spending.

The growth rate of online travel bookings in the domestic market has slowed due to both the maturity of
this market and weak economic conditions. Going forward, we believe that growth rates in the domestic online
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travel market will be more closely aligned with the growth rates of the overall travel industry. Internationally,
the online travel industry continues to benefit from rapidly increasing Internet usage and growingacceptance
of online booking. We expect international growth rates’ for the online travel industry will continue to outpace
growth rates of the overall travel industry: ‘ :

We believe that OTCs will continue to focus on differentiating themselves from supplier websites in a
variety of ways, including offering customers. the ability. to selectively combine travel products such as air, car,
hotel and destination services into dynamic vacation packages. Through dynamic vacation packages, we make
certain products available to our customers at prices that are generally lower than booking each travel product
separately. We foresee growth potential for OTCs. for these types of services, particularly since travelers are
increasingly price-sensitive. Our net revenue. per transaction is generally higher for dynamic vacation packages
than for travel products booked:separately.

OTCs make significant investments in marketing through both online and traditional offline channels. Key
areas of online marketing include SEM, travel research, display advertising, affiliate programs and email
marketing. Search engine marketing costs have been rising in the U.S. over time, although to a lesser extent in
the current economic environment, and competition for search-engine key words continues to be intense. If
these trends continue, we could experience lower margins or declines in transaction growth rates. We are
actively pursuing strategies to improve the efficiency of our marketing efforts. These strategies include
increasing the amount of non-paid traffic coming to our websites through SEO and customer relationship
management and eliminating unprofitable SEM and travel research spending. Our retailing efforts are designed
to improve conversion and ultimately reclaim previously unprofitable SEM and travel research transactions on
a profitable basis.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be
read in conjunction with our accompanying consolidated ﬁnanc1a1 statements and related notes.

Key Operating Metrics

Our operating results are affected by certain key metrics that represent overall transaction activity. Gross
bookings and net revenue are key metrics that drive our business. Gross bookings is defined as the total
amount paid by a consumer for travel products booked under both the merchant and retail models. Net revenue
includes: commissions earned from suppliers under our retail model; the difference between the total amount
the customer pays us for a travel product and the negotiated net rate plus estimated taxes that the supplier
charges us for that travel product under our merchant model; service fees earned from customers under both
our merchant and retail models; advertising revenue and certain other fees and commissions.

Gross bookings provide insight into changes in overall travel demand, both industry-wide and on our
websites. We track net revenue trends for our various brands, geographies and product categones to gain
insight into the performance of our business across these categories. »
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The table below shows our gross bookings and net revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. Air gross bookings are comprised: of stand-alone air gross
boekings, while non-air .gross bookings are.comprised of gross bookings from hotels, car rentals, dynamic
vacation packages (which include a combination of travel products, such as air, hotel and car reservations),
cruises, destination services and travel insurance. Air net revenue is comprised of net revenue from stand-alone
air bookings, while non-air net revenue is comprised of net revenue from hotel bookings, dynamic vacation
packages, advertising and media and other ‘sources. '

Years Ended Years Ended '

December 31, $ "% December 31, $ %
2009 2008 Change  Change(a) 2008 2007 Change Change(a)
(in millions) : (in millions)
Gross bookings (b) o
Domestic . , ‘ ,
Alr ... $ 6445 $ 6810 $365)  (5)% $ 6,810 $ 7,111 $(301) @)%
Non-air.. . ..... e 2,297 2,324..  (27) (D% - 2,324 2,282 42 2%
Total domestic gross g ‘ . ‘ : :
bookings ....... oo 8,742 9,134 (392) @)% 9,134 9,393  (259) 3)%
International
Air.................. 904 1,073 (169) . (16)% 1,073 . 853 220 26%
Non-air............... 503 601 (98) (16)% 601 - 545 56 10%
Total international gross ' S -
bookings . ......... 1,407 1,674 (267) (16)% 1,674 1,398 276 20%
Total gross bookings ...... $10,149 $10,808 $(659) ﬁ)% $10,808 $10,791 $ 17 —
Net revenue
Domestic o
Air.................. $ 214 $ 277 $(@63) - (23)% $ 277°$ 305 $ (28) 9)%
Non-air............... 371 409 (38) 9% 409 - 374 35 9%
Total domestic net . ‘ k
revenue .. ......... 585 686  (101) (15)% 686 679 7 1%
International ‘ ‘ ,
Air.................. 56 62 ©6) (10)% 62 70 (8) (12)%
Nop-air.........,..... .97 122 (25) 20)% 122 110 12 11%
Total international net . ‘
revenue .. ......... 153 184 31 AN % 184 180 4 2%

Total net revenue (c) . ... .. $ 738 $ 870 $(132) (5% $ 870 $ 859 § 11 1%

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers.

(b) Gross bookings data for the year ended December 31, 2007 in the table above excludes Travelbag, an
offline U.K. travel subsidiary that we sold in July 2007, :

(c) For the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, $117 million,
$117 million and $116 million of our total net revenue, respectively, was attributed to incentive payments
earned for air, car and hotel segments processed through global distribution systems.

Comparison of the year énded December 31, 2009 to the yéar ended December 31, 2008

Gross Bookings '

For our domestic business, which is comprised principally of Orbitz, CheapTickets and Orbitz for
Business, total gross bookings decreased $392 million, or 4%, during the year ended December 31, 2009 from

40



the year‘énded December 31, 2008. Of the $392 million decrease, $365 million was due to a decrease in .
domestic air gross bookings, which ‘was driven by a lower average price per airline ticket, partially offset by
higher transaction volume. Transaction volume increased primarily due to the removal of booking fees in April
2009 on most flights booked through our Orbitz.com and CheapTickets.com websites and lower air fares. The
lower average price per airline ticket was primarily due to lower fuel pnces and weaker demand for air travel:

Non-air gross booklngs decreased $27 million, or 1%, during the year ended December 31 2009 from the
year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily driven by lower gross bookings for hotels and car
rentals, partially offset by higher gross bookings for dynamic packages. Gross bookings for hotels decreased
due to a significant decline in ADRs for hotel rooms and a significant reduction in hotel booking fees charged
on our websites, which was partially offset by higher transaction volume. During this period of weak travel
demand, most hotel suppliers have tried to stimulate occupancy by reducing hotel room rates, Gross bookings .
for car rentals decreased due to lower transaction volume, partially offset by a higher average price per
transaction. The average price per transaction increased primarily due to a reduction in rental car fleets, which
was partially the result of limited access to financing by car rental companies. Volume for dynamic packaging
increased due to a general shift in traveler preference towards dynamic packaging, from stand-alone travel -
products, because of the value offered through packaging. Higher dynamic packaging volume was partially
offset by a lower average price per transaction due mainly to a decline in hotel ADRs and a decline in airline
ticket prices.

For our international business, which is comprised principally of ebookers and HotelClub, total gross
bookings decreased $267 million, or 16%, during the year ended December 31, 2009 from the year ended
December 31, 2008. Of this decrease, $166 million was due to foreign currency fluctuations. The remaining
$101 million decrease was due to a $58 million decrease in air gross bookings and a $43 million decrease in
non-air gross bookings. The decrease in air gross bookings was primarily due to a lower average price per
airline ticket driven by lower demand for air travel and a shift in customer preference towards low cost carriers
and short-haul flights.

The decline in non-air gross bookings was primarily driven by a significant decline in hotel gross °
bookings for our HotelClub brand, and to a much lesser extent, a decline in gross bookings for car rentals for
our ebookers brand. For our HotelClub brand, lower transaction volume in Europe and lower average price per
transaction, due to lower ADRs for hotel rooms and lower average length of hotel stays, drove the decrease in
hotel gross bookings. The decrease in gross bookings for car rentals was due to lower transaction volume. An
increase in gross bookings for dynamic packaging for our ebookers brand partially offset the decline in gross
bookings for hotels and car rentals. '

Net Revenue — See discussion of net revenue in the Results of Operations section below.
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2008 to the year ended December 31, 2007
Gross Bookings

For our domestic business, total gross bookings decreased $259 million, or 3%, during the year ended
December 31, 2008 from the year ended December 31, 2007. Of the $259 million decrease, $301 million was
due to a decrease in domestic air gross bookings, which was driven by lower transaction volume as a result of
the adverse impact of economic conditions on air traveler demand, capacity reductions and our reduction in
online marketing expenditures. A higher average price per airline ticket, due to higher fuel prlces during the
majority of 2008 and capacity reductions, partially offset the decrease in volume.

Non-air gross bookings increased $42 million, or 2%, during the year ended December 31, 2008 from the
year ended December 31, 2007. This increase was primarily driven by higher gross bookings for dynamic
packaging. Gross bookings for dynamic packaging increased due to higher transaction volume and a higher
average price per dynamic package. An increase in the average price per airline ticket included in a dynamic
package primarily drove the higher average price per dynamic package. A decrease in gross bookmgs for car
rentals and hotels partially offset this increase. Lower transaction volume, offset in.part.by a higher average
price per transaction, drove the decline in gross bookings for car rentals and hotels. The higher average price:
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per transaction for domestic hotel gross bookings was mainly due to growth in ADRs through August of 2008,
as we experienced a significant decline in ADRs in the fourth quarter of 2008.

For our international business, total gross bookings increased. $276 mllhon .or 20% durmg the year ended
December 31, 2008 from the year ended December 31, 2007. Of this increase, $28 million was due to forelgn
currency fluctuations. The remaining $248 million increase was due to a $204 million increase in. air gross
bookings and. a $44 million increase in non-air gross bookings. The increase in air gross bookings primarily
resulted from a higher average price per airline ticket, due in part to hlgher fuel prices during.the majority of
2008, and higher transaction volume. v : :

The growth in non-air gross bookings was primarily driven by increases in gross bookings for dynamic
packaging, and, to a lesser extent, car rentals. A decline in gross bookings. for hotels, due to lower transactlon
volume, partlally offset these increases. :

Net Revenue — See discussion of net revenue in the Results of Operatlons sectlon below

Results of Operations
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2009 to the year -ended December 31, 2008

‘ Years Ended o
December 31, s %
201}9 _ 2008 » Change Change(a)
(in millions) ’ "

Net revenue ,
AlL . e e e e $ 270 $ 339 $ (69) Q1%
Hotel. ...t O oo 184 - 239 535 - 23)%
Dynamic Packaging ... . ....... .o iie i G 11 s 114 3 3%
Advertising and media . . ... ..... e RN R (¢ 60 = —
Other. . . e e 107~ 118 (1~ (9%

Total NEL TEVENUE . . . o v vt vttt ettt e e ettt it v emees eeaan 738 .. 870 .. (132) (15)%

Cost and expenses - . e e e
Costofrevenue . ...........c0einunennn PP B wew - 138 ¢ 163, (25) (15)%

-'Selling, - general and administrative .. .. .............. sl 25T 272 (15) 5%
Marketing . . ... ... ... i it e el e e e CoLLe 2150 0 - 310 95 GD%
Depreciation and amortization ........................... 69 66 3 4%
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets ................ 332 7 297 35 12%

Total operating expenses . . e P . e veew ] Oll“ 1,108 ] On. . O%

Operating (loss) . . ........ S PN ST (273)‘ .(238) 35) 14%

Other (expense) income : ‘ : E RS +
Net interest €Xpense . . . . .o.ovvvnneenntueen.. ce LT (57) . 63y 6 (8%
Gain on extinguishment of debt . . . ... R R — 2 ko

Total Other (EXPENSE) . « « v v v v v et e it e e e e inaine s (55) (63) 8 (12)%

Loss before income taxes . . .............. i .. (328) - (301} (2T . 9%

Provision (benefit) for income taxes....:........... e e I 2y o 11 L kE

Net loss attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. ... .......... $ (337)' $ (299) % 38 2%

As a percent of net revenue(a) / . -
Costofrevenue . ......... it i e 19% 19%

Selling, general and administrative expense. ... ........... Geveo 35% 0 31%
Marketing expense. . . ... ... .0 ove L i 29% 36%

**  Not meaningful.
(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers
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Net Revenue

Net revenue decreased $132 million, or 15%, to' $738 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from
$870 million for the year “ended December 31, 2008

Air.  Net revenue from air bookings decreased $69 million, or 21%, to $270 million for the year ended -
December 31, 2009 from $339 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Foreign currency fluctuations
drove $6 million of this decrease. The'decrease in net revenue from air bookings, excludmg the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations, was $63 million.

Domestic air net revenue declined $76 million due to lower average net revenue per airline ticket. Net
revenue per airline ticket declined primarily due to the elimination of booking fees in April 2009 on most
flights booked through our Orbitz.com and CheapTickets.com websites and to a much lesser extent, due to a
reduction in paper tickets and an increase in refunds issued for Orbitz Price Assurance®™ due to the full year
impact of the program, which we launched for flights in June 2008. This decrease was partially offset by a
$13 million increase in domestic air net revenue due to higher transaction volume, which resulted primarily
from the removal of booking fees and lower air fares.

International air net revenue remained flat (excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations)
primarily due to lower net revenue per airline ticket, offset by higher transaction volume. The decrease in net
revenue per airline ticket is primarily due to lower average air fares, which impact the net revenue per ticket
for our merchant air transactions, and a shift in customer preference towards low cost carriers and short-haul
flights.

Hotel. Net revenue from hotel bookings decreased $55 million, or 23%, to $184 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009 from $239 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Foreign currency
fluctuations drove $8 million of this decrease. The decrease in net revenue from hotel bookings, excluding the
impact of foreign currency fluctuations, was $47 million.

A decrease in average net revenue per transaction resulted in a $31 million decrease in domestic hotel net
revenue. Average net revenue per transaction decreased primarily due to lower ADRs, a significant reduction
in hotel booking fees charged on our websites and a reduction in hotel breakage revenue. This decrease was
partially offset by a $2 million increase in domestic hotel net revenue due to higher transaction volume, which
resulted primarily from the reduction in hotel booking fees and lower ADRs.

The decrease in international hotel net revenue of $18 million (excluding the impact of foreign currency
fluctuations) was primarily driven by lower volume and lower average net revenue per transaction for our
HotelClub brand. Lower volume drove $10 million of the decrease in international hotel net revenue. The
decline in volume was driven by poor performance of HotelClub in Europe and more intense competition in
the industry. Lower net revenue per transaction, which resulted from lower ADRs, lower average length of
hotel stays and a shift:in the geographic mix of bookings at HotelClub towards markets where average
booking values are lower and where we earn lower margins, drove $8 million of the decrease in international
hotel net revenue.

Dynamic packaging. Net revenue from dynamic packaging bookings increased $3 million, or 3%, to
$117 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from $114 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.
Foreign currency fluctuations decreased dynamic packaging net revenue by $1 million. The increase in net
revenue from dynamic packaging bookings, excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, was
$4 million.

Lower average net revenue per transaction drove a $23 million decrease in domestic net revenue from
dynamic packaging, which was partially offset by a $20 million increase in volume. Net revenue per
transaction decreased mainly due to lower ADRs, a significant reduction in hotel booking fees charged on our
websites and a reduction in hotel breakage revenue. Volume for dynamic packaging increased due to a shift in
traveler preference from stand-alone travel products towards dynamic: packaging.
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The increase in international net revenue from dynamic packaging (excluding the impact of foreign
currency fluctuations) was $7 million. Net revenue from dynamic packaging increased due to higher
transaction volume, which was partially offset by lower average net revenue-per transaction,

Advertising and media. Advertising and media net revenue remained flat at $60 million for each of the
years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 due to a general reduction in online display
advertising spending by companies and our focus on driving transaction growth and optimizing our mix of
advertising, media and transaction revenue during 2009, : '

We have historically derived a portion of our advertising revenue from third party referral programs,
specifically membership discount programs. During the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31,
2008, revenue from third party referral programs was $14 million and $16 million, respectively. We expect the
revenue that we earn from these programs to significantly decline in 2010, and we are actively seeking out
opportunities to offset some or all of this revenue decline over time.

Other.  Other net revenue is comprised primarily of net revenue from.car bookings, cruise bookings,
destination services, travel insurance and our hosting business. Other net revenue decreased $11 million, or
9%, to $107 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from-$118 million for the year erided December 31,
2008. Foreign currency fluctuations decreased other net revenue by $3 million. The ‘decrease in other net -
revenue, excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, was $8 million.

A decline in global car net revenue and travel insurance net revenue primarily drove the decrease in other
net revenue. The decline in car net revenue was driven by lower volume, partially offset by higher net revenue
per car booking. More favorable agreements with certain car rental suppliers-and decreased inventory available
from suppliers drove the higher net revenue per car booking. The decrease in travel insurance revenue was
primarily due to lower air fares and lower incentives, partially offset by an increase in air and dynamic
packaging transaction volume. ' : ‘

We have historically hosted and managed portions of third-party websites, and as a result, we earned
$12 million of net revenue from our hosting business during each of the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008. We expect net revenue derived from our hosting business to decline by over 50% in 2010
due to the termination of one of our hosting agreements in 2010.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue is primarily comprised of costs to operate our customer service call centers, credit
card processing fees, and other costs such as ticketing and fulfillment, customer refunds and charge-backs,
affiliate commissions and connectivity and other processing costs. :

~Years Ended
December _31, $ %

’ 2009 - 2008 Change Change(a)
‘ (inl‘mi_lliqns)

Cost of revenue

Customer service costs. ......... e $53 $e61 $ (8 13)%
Credit card processing fees. . . .. ... A 40 A ) BN €)Y
Other.........oooiiiiiiii i 45 60 a5 @23)%

Total.costof revenue. . .. ...........n............ .o $138 8163 - -$(25) (15)%

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers.

The decrease in cost of revenue was primarily driyen‘by an $8 million decrease in customer service costs,
a $2 million decrease in credit card processing costs, an $11 million decrease in customer refunds and charge-

backs and a $2 million decrease in ticketing and fulfillment Ccosts.

Customer service costs decreased primarily due to. cost savings driven by reductions in headcount and
contract labor and increased automation of the handling of customer service calls. In the second half of 2009,
we increased our customer service staffing levels to support the higher volume of air transactions we have
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generated since the elimination of booking fees in April 2009 on most flights booked through our Orbitz.com
and CheapTickets.com websites. The: decrease in credit card processing costs was primarily due to a decline in
our merchant gross bookings and air booking fees.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we had a higher level of charge-backs primarily due to
sharply higher fraudulent credit card usage at one of our international locations. To address this issue, we
installed new ‘fevenue protection software and instituted tighter security measures during the second quarter of
2008. As a result, we have experienced a significant decline in charge-backs since that time. Customer refunds
also decreased, primarily due to our efforts to improve the customer experience, which have reduced the.
number of incidents in which customer refunds were required. '

Ticketing and fulfillment costs decreased as the industry continues to move towards electronic ticketing to
meet the Internationdl Air Transport Association mandate to eliminate paper tickets.

Selling, General and Administrative

Our selling, general and administrative expense is primarily comprised of wages and benefits, contract
labor costs, and network communications, systems maintenance and equipment COsts. :

Years Ended :
December 31, $ A

2009 2008 Change Change(a)
(in millions)

Selling, general and administrative '

Wages and benefits(b) - . ... .. .....ooooronens L L. $160 $160 $— i
Contract labor(b) . . .. .. P 21 34 (13 (38)%
Network communications, systems maintenqnce and equipment . . 27 33 (6) (20)%
Other....... [, .............. C 49 45 4 11%
Total selling, general, and administrative . . ... ........... $257 . $272-  $(15) (5%

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers.

(b) The amounts presented above for wages and benefits and contract labor are net of amounts capitalized.

The decrease in selling; general 'and administrative expense was primarily driven by a $13 million
decrease in contract 1abor costs, a $6 million decrease in network communications, systems maintenance and
equipment costs, a $3 million decrease in travel expenses and a $2 million decrease in professional fees;
partially offset by the absence of $14 million of income recorded in 2008 as a result of the reduction in the
present value of our tax sharing liability following a reduction in our effective state income tax rate (see
Note 9 — Tax Sharing Liability of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The remaining decrease in
selling, general and administrative expense is due to decreases in foreign currency losses and other operating
expenses.

Our network communications, systems maintenance and equipment costs, our use of contract labor and
our travel costs decreased as a result of expense reductions we undertook to manage through the economic
recession and industry downturn. Professional fees decreased due to lower audit fees and lower tax consulting
costs as a result of completing the post-IPO transition to an in-house corporate tax department, partially offset
by higher legal fees. o

Wages and benefits expense remained flat as the decrease in expense that resulted from global work force
reductions that we undertook was partially offset by total severance expense of $7 million and additional
equity-based compensation expense of $2 million that we incurred in 2009 in connection with these work
force reductions and the departure of the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer in January 2009 (see
Note 15 — Severance of the Notesito Consolidated Financial Statements). This decrease in wages and benefits
expense was further offset by an increase in the amount of. employee incentive compensation expense incurred
in 2009. ' ' ' :
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Marketing

Our marketing expense is primarily comprised of online. marketing costs, such as search and banner
advertising, and offline marketing costs, such as television, radio and printeadve'nising Our investment in
online marketing is significantly greater than our 1nvestment in offline marketing. Marketing expense
decreased $95 million, or 31%, to $215 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from $310 million for
the year ended December 31, 2008. , e

Marketing expense for our domestic brands decreased $69 million, to $157 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009 from $226 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Marketing expense for our
international brands decreased $26 million, to $58 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 from
$84 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in marketmg expense for both our domestic
and international brands was due to lower online and. offline marketlng costs. The decrease i in online marketing
costs was primarily driven by a change in our approach to. online marketing, placmg greater. emphasxs on
attracting more traffic to our websites through SEO and CRM and i improving the. efficiency of our SEM and
travel research spending. The decrease in offline marketing costs was mainly due to cost reductlons taken by
us in order to manage through the economic recession and industry downturn. :

Depreciation and Amortization

Deprematlon and amortization increased $3 million, or 4%, to $69 million for the year ended’
December 31, 2009 from $66 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in deprematlon and
amortization was pnmanly due to the acceleratlon of deprematlon on certain assets whose useful lives were
shortened during the year ended December 31, 2009 and additional assets placed in service during the period.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets :

During the three months ended March 31, 2009 we expenenced a 81gmﬁt:ant decline in our stock price,
and economic and industry conditions continued to weaken. These factors, coupled with an increase in
competitive pressures, indicated potential impairment of our goodwill and trademarks and trade names: As'a
result, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the first quarter of 2009, we
performed an interim impairment test of our goodwill and trademarks and trade names. Based on the testing
performed, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $332 million, of which $250 million related to
goodwill and $82 million related to trademarks and trade names.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, in connection with our annual planning process, we lowered
our long-term earnings forecast in response to changes in the economic environment, including the potential
future impact of airline capacity reductions, increased fuel prices and a weakening global economy. These
factors, coupled with a prolonged decline in our market capitalization, indicated potential impairment of our
goodwill and trademarks and trade names. Additionally, given the economic environment, our distribution
partners were under increased pressure to reduce their overall costs and could have attempted to terminate or
renegotiate their agreements with us on more favorable terms to them. These factors indicated that the carrying
value of certain of our finite-lived intangible assets, specifically customer relationships, may not be
recoverable. As a result, we performed an impairment test of our goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets
and finite-lived intangible assets. Based on the testing performed, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge
of $297 million, of which $210 million related to goodwill, $74 million related to trademarks and trade names
and $13 million related to customer relationships (see Note 3 — Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible
Assets of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Due to the current economic uncertainty and other factors, we cannot assure that goodwill, indefinite-
lived intangible assets and finite-lived intangible assets will not be further impaired in future periods.
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Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased by $6 million, or 8%, to $57 million for the year ended December 31,
2009 from $63 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in net interest expense was
primarily due to lower interest expense incurred on the Term Loan, which was primarily driven by lower
interest rates. A decrease in interest expense accréted on the tax sharing liability also contributed to the
decrease. These decreases were partially offset by a decline in interest income earned. During the years ended
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, $15 million and $18 million of the total net interest expense
recorded was non-cash, respectively.

Gain on Extinguishment of Debt

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we purchased and retired $10 million in principal amount of
the Term Loan. The principal amount of the Term Loan purchased (net of associated unamortized debt
issuance costs of almost nil) exceeded the amount we paid to purchase the debt (inclusive of miscellaneous
fees incurred) by $2 million. Accordingly, we récorded a $2 million gain on extinguishment of a portion of the
Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2009. There was no gain on extinguishment of debt recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2008 (see Note 7 — Term Loan and Revolving Credit Fac111ty of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

We recorded a tax provision of $9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 and a tax benefit of
$2 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The provision for income taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2009 was primarily due to a full valuation allowance established against the deferred tax assets
of our Australia-based business (see Note 12 — Income Taxes of 'the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements).

The tax benefit recorded for the year ended December 31, 2008 related to certain of our international
subsidiaries. The amount of the tax benefit recorded during the year ended December 31, 2008 was
disproportionate to the amount of pre-tax net loss incurred during that period primarily because we were not
able to realize any tax benefits on the goodwill impairment charge and only a limited amount of tax benefit on
the trademarks and trade names impairment charge, which were recorded during the third quarter of 2008.
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Comparison of ’the year ended December 31, 2008 to the year ended December 31, 2007

Years Ended -
- December 31, $ % -
2008 2007 Change - Change(a)
(in millions) )
Net revenue ; _ ,

N $ 339 $375 $ (36) 10)%

Hotel .. .. e 239 235 4 2%

Dynamic packaging ............. ... ... ... .. ... 114 105 9 9%

Advertisingandmedia ........... ... ... . . ... 60 43 .17 - 40%

OthEr . ..ottt ..o 18 101 17 16%
Total netrevenue ... ....... ... .. . 870 859 11 1%
Cost and expenses ,. ,

COSt Of TEVENUE . ... oottt ettt e ' 163 157 6 4%

Selling, general and administrative . ................ e 272 301 29) B 10)%

Marketing. . .. .. ovve e PR 3100 302 8 3%

Depreciation and amortization. . . ...................... P 66 57 9 . 16%

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. . ................ 297 — 1297 il
Total operating eXpenses. . . . .. ...uuvut e enr i 1,108 817 291 36%
Operating (loss) income . . ............. ...t iinenninn. (238) .. 42 .. (280) *%
Other (expense) : :

Net interest expense ........... e T (63) - (83) 20 (25)%
Total Other (EXPENSE) . . . ... ..vo vt e et e et (63) ' (83) 20 (25)%
Loss before income taxes ................... ... ... .... . (301 4D (260) *k
(Benefit) provision for income taxes . . . ........ .. 00 o ... 2) .43 (45) kel
Netloss..........o oo i i, (299) 84) (215) HE
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest. ... ........ — €8] 1 kR
Net loss attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc ................. $(299) $(85) $(214) R
As a percent of net revenue(a) - _ .

Costofrevenue ........... ... .. 19% 18%

Selling, general and admmlstratlve expense . .......... S 31% - 35%

Marketing €Xpense . ......... . .........ou.n... e 36% 35%

** Not meaningful.

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers.

Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $11 million, or 1%, to $870 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 from
$859 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. As a result of the Blackstone Acquisition, our net
revenue during the year ended December 31, 2007 was reduced due to deferred revenue that was written off at
the time of the acquisition. Accordingly, we could not record revenue that was generated before the Blackstone
Acquisition but not yet recognized at the time of the acquisition. The following discussion and analysis
describes the impact on the comparability of net revenue year-over-year due to our 1nab111ty to record this

revenue, and refers to these amounts as “purchase accounting adjustments.”

Air. . Net revenue from air bookings decreased $36 million, or 10%, to $339 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 from $375 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Foreign currency fluctuations.
resulted in an increase of $2 million in air net revenue. The decrease in net revenue from air bookings, -

excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, was $38 million.
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A decrease in domestic volume resulted in a $35 million decrease in air net revenue, which was partially
offset by a $7 million increase in.air net revenue driven by higher net revenue per air ticket. The decrease in
volume was partially due to increased competition and the adverse impact of economic conditions on air
traveler demand. The higher net revenue per air ticket was primarily due to an increase in service fees charged
on our Orbitz and CheapTickets websites, an increase in incentive revenue earned from GDS services provided
by Worldspan resulting from the re-negotiation of our GDS contract in July 2007, and a shift in our carrier
mix. A reduction in paper ticket fees partially offset these increases, as the industry continues to move towards
electronic ticketing to meet the International Air Transport Association mandate to eliminate paper tickets.

Lower net revenue per air ticket and the impact of the sale of our offline U.K. travel subsidiary in July
2007 primarily drove the decrease in international air net revenue. Competitive pressures drove the decrease in
net revenue per air ticket. This decrease was largely offset by an increase in air net revenue resulting from
higher international volume.

Hotel. Net revenue from hotel bookings increased $4 million, or 2%, to $239 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 from $235 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Foreign currency fluctuations
resulted in an increase of $1 million in hotel net revenue. In addition, hotel net revenue increased $4 million
year-over-year due to purchase accounting adjustments, which reduced our net revenue by $4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in net revenue from hotel bookings, excluding the impact of
foreign currency fluctuations and the purchase accounting adjustments, was $1 million.

Higher average net revenue per transaction, primarily due to an increase in merchant hotel mix, resulted
in a $7 million increase in domestic hotel net revenue. This increase was partially offset by a $6 million
decline in domestic hotel net revenue due to lower volume, which resulted primarily from increased
competition and the adverse impact of economic conditions. International hotel net revenue decreased
$2 million due to lower volume.

Dynamic packaging. Net revenue from dynamic packaging bookings increased $9 million, or 9%, to -
$114 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 from $105 million for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Of this increase, almost nil was due to foreign currency fluctuations.

Higher volume drove a $5 million increase in domestic dynamic packaging net revenue. The increase in
volume is largely due to-an increase in supplier-driven sales promotions in 2008, enhancements we made. to
our car packaging product during 2008 and a general shift in traveler preference from stand-alone travel
products towards dynamic packaging. International net revenue from dynamic packaging increased $4 million.

Advertising and media. Advertising and media net revenue increased $17 million, or 40%, to $60 million
for the year ended December 31, 2008 from $43 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Of this
increase, almost nil was due to foreign currency fluctuations.

The increase in net revenue from advertising and media was primarily attributed to the launch of a new
advertising campaign during 2008 promoting a third party’s fee membership programs. The terms of this
agreement were more favorable than the terms with our former membership program advertiser. Advertising
revenue also increased as a result of our continued efforts to seek out new opportunities to further monetize -
traffic on our webs1tes

Other. Other net revenue increased $17 million, or 16%, to $118 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 from $101 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Foreign currency fluctuations
resulted in an increase ‘of $1 million in other net revenue. In addition, other net revenue increased $2 million
year-over-year due to purchase accounting adjustments, which reduced our other net revenue by $2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in other net revenue, excluding the impact of foreign - '
currency fluctuations and the purchase accounting adjustments, was $14 million. '

Domestic other net revenue increased due to an increase in travel insurance revenue and net revenue from
car bookings. The increase in travel insurance revenue was driven primarily by higher attachment rates for
travel insurance and more favorable economics resulting from the execution of a new agreement with our .
travel insurance provider, which was effective in 2008. The increase in net revenue from car bookings. was
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mainly due to an increase in’average net revenue per car booking, primarily driven by the re-negotiation of
contracts with certain car suppliers during the second quarter of 2008. Lower car Volume partially offset the
higher average net revenue per transactron e

International other net revenue increased primarily due to an increase in travel insurance revenue and an
increase in car net revenue. The increase in travel insurance revenue was largely due to the introduction of a
new travel insurance product on one of our ebookers websites as well as higher attachment rates for travel
insurance. Higher volume and higher net revenue per car booking drove the increase in car net revenue.

Cost of Revenue S
Years Ended
December 31, $ %
2008 2007 Change Change(a)
(in millions)

Cost of revenue

Customer service costs R e e P $61 $68 -$(7 (10)%

Credit card processing - I 42 41 1 3%

Other............. 60 48 12 25%
Total costof revenue. .. ................. . .......... $163  $157 $6 4%

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers.

The increase in cost of revenue was driven by an $8 rmlhon increase in affiliate commissions, a $4 million
increase in GDS connect1v1ty costs, a $3 million increase in charge—backs and a $1 million increase in credit
card processing fees partially offset by a $7 rmlhon decrease in customer service costs and a $3 million
decrease in trcketmg costs.

" The increase in affiliate commissions was primarily due to the growth of our private label business.
Higher transaction volume from our international locations primarily drove the increase in GDS connectivity
costs. The increase in charge-backs was due primarily to an-increase in fraudulent credit card usage at one of
our international locations. We installed new revenue protection software and instituted tighter security -
measures, and as a result, we experienced a significant decrease in these charge-backs towards the end of the
second quarter of 2008 that continued through the remainder of the year. Growth in our merchant bookings
resulted in higher credit card processing fees.

Lower domestic transaction Volume pnmanly drove the decrease in customer service costs. Ticketing
costs decreased during 2008 as the industry continued to move towards electronic ticketing to meet the
International Air Transport Association mandate to ¢liminate paper tickets.

Selling, General and Administrative
Years Ended
December 31, $ %
2008 2007 Change Change(a)
(in millions)

Selling, general and administrative , ‘ e e _
Wages and benefits(b) - ... .. PN e e .. $160 ~$160 _ =

Contract labor(b) ............ e e e 34 - 38 $ @ (10)%

Network communications, systems mamtenance and equlpment 33 36 3) (8)%

Other. ..ot et 45 67 (22) (35)%
Total selling, general, and administrative . . ............. $272 $301 . $(29) (10)% -

(a) Percentages are calculated on unrounded numbers
(b) The amounts presented above for wages and benefits and contract labor are net of amounts capitalized.
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During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recorded a one-time exit penalty of, $13 million due to the
early termination of an agreement and incurred $8 million of one-time audit and consulting fees in connection
with the IPO and the post-IPO transition period. The absence of these costs in the year ended December 31,
2008 primarily drove the decrease in selling, general and administrative expense. In addition, our selling,
general and administrative expense decreased by $14 million during the year ended December 31, 2008 due to
a reduction in the present value of our liability under the tax sharing agreement, which primarily arose from a
reduction in our effective state income tax rate (see Note 9 -— Tax Sharing Liability of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). We also recorded an $8 million reduction to selling, general and
administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2008 compared with a $3 million reduction in the
year ended December 31, 2007 for the insurance reimbursement of costs we previously incurred to defend
hotel occupancy tax cases, which alse contributed to the decrease. In addition, there was a decrease in selling,
general and administrative expense related to the sale of our offline UK. travel subsidiary in July 2007 (due to
the inclusion of seven months of expense from that subsidiary in 2007).

These expense decreases were partially offset by a $4 million increase in our tax consulting costs, a
$3 million increase in losses resulting from foreign currency fluctuations and a $4 million increase in other
operating expenses. We incurred higher tax consulting costs during the year ended December 31, 2008 as a
result of the transition of the corporate tax function, Wthh was previously provided by Travelport, to us.

Marketing

Marketing expense increased $8 million, or 3%, to $310 million for the year ended December 31, 2008
from $302 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in marketing expense was driven by
an increase in our international marketing expense, which increased $8 million, to $84 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008 from $76 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Higher online marketing
costs for our international locations, driven by growth in transaction volume and higher cost per transaction,
primarily drove this increase. A reduction in offline marketing costs at our international locations partially
offset this increase. Offline marketing costs decreased due to a general shift in spending from offline to online
marketing. In the prior year, we launched a new. offline advertising campaign for our ebookers brand in the
U.K., which did not continue into 2008. Our domestic marketing expense remained flat year over year, at
$226 million for each of the years ended December 31,2008 and December 31, 2007.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased $9 million, or 16%, to $66 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008 from $57 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in depreciation and
amortization expense resulted from an increase in capitalized software placed in service, primarily related to
the roll-out of our new technology platform in July 2007, and the acceleration of deprec1at10n on certain ‘assets
whose useful lives were shortened during the year ended December 31, 2008.

Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2008, in connection with our annual planning process, we lowered
our long-term earnings forecast in response to changes in the economic environment, including the potential
future impact of airline capacity reductions, increased fuel prices and a weakening global economy. These
factors, coupled with a prolonged decline in our market capitalization, indicated potential impairment of our
goodwill and trademarks and trade ames. Additionally, given the economic environment, our distribution
partners were under increased pressure to reduce their overall costs and could have attempted to terminate or
renegotiate their agreements with us on more favorable terms to them. These factors indicated that the carrying
value of certain of our finite-lived intangible assets, specifically customer relationships, may not be
recoverable. As a result, we performed an impairment test of our goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets
and finite-lived intangible assets. Based on the testing performed, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge
of $297 million, of which $210 million related to goodwill, $74 million related to trademarks and trade names
and $13 ‘million related to customer relationships (see Note 3 — Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible
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Assets of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). There was no impairment during the year ended. .
December 31, 2007. . ‘ .

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased by $20 million, or 25%, to $63 million for the year ended December 31,
2008 from $83 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in net interest expense was
primarily due to the repayment of $860 million of intercompany notes payable to Travelport and, to a lesser
extent, the assignment of certain notes payable between subsidiaries of Travelport and our subsidiaries to us,
both of which occurred in connection with the IPO. This decrease was offset in-part by interest expense
incurred on the $600 million term loan facility entered into concurrent with the IPO and the corresponding
interest rate swaps entered into to hedge a portion of the variable interest payments on the term loan. An
increase in interest expense accreted on the tax sharing liability and a decrease in capitalized interest on
internal software development projects also partially offset the decrease in interest expense. During the years
ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, $18 million and $15 million of the total net interest
expense recorded was non-cash, respectively.

(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded a tax benefit of $2 million forthe year ended December 31, 2008 and a. tax provision of
$43 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The tax benefit recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2008 related to certain of our international subsidiaries. The amount of the tax benefit recorded
during the year ended December 31, 2008 was disproportionate to the amount of pre-tax net loss incurred
during the year primarily because we were not able to realize any tax benefit on the goodwill impairment
charge and only a limited amount of tax benefit on the trademarks and trade names impairment charge
recorded during the year endéd December 31, 2008. S ‘

The tax provision recorded during the year ended December 31, 2007 was priﬁiarily due to a valuation
allowance established in the third quarter of 2007 against $30 million of foreign net operating loss
carryforwards, net of tax, related to portions of our U.K.-based business. This item was unique to 2007 and
did not recur in 2008. ‘ C ’ : :

Related Party Transactions

For a discussion of certain relationships and related party transactions, see Note 18 — Related Party
Transactions of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Seasonality

For a discussion of seasonal fluctuations in the demand for the products and services we offer, see Item 1,
“Business — Seasonality.” '

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents, and
borrowings under our $85 million revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008,
our cash and cash equivalents balances were $89 million and $31 million, respectively.. We had $26 million
and $52 million of availability under our revolving credit facility at December 31, 2009 and December 31,
2008, respectively. This availability reflects the effective reduction in total availability under our revolving
credit facility in 2008 following the bankruptcy of Lehman Commercial Paper Inc. (“LCPI”) as described in

“Financing Arrangements” below. Total available liquidity from cash and cash equivalents and our revolving
credit facility was $115 million and $83 million at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respecti\'(ely.

We require letters of credit to support certain commercial agreements, leases and certain regulatory
agreements. The majority of these letters of credit have been issued by Travelport on our behalf. At
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December 31, 2009 and December 31,2008, there- were $59 million and $67 million of outstanding letters of*.
credit issued by Travelport on our behalf, respectively, pursuant to the Separation Agreement, as amended, that
we entered into with Travelport in connection with the IPO (the “Separation Agreement”). Under the
Separation Agreement, Travelport has agreed to issue U.S. Dollar denominated letters of credit on-our behalf
in an aggregate amount not to exceed $75 million through at least March 31, 2010 and thereafter so long as -
Travelport and its affiliates (as defined in the Separation Agreement) own at least 50% of our voting stock.

In addition, at December 31, 2009, there was the equivalent of $5 million of outstanding letters of credit -
issued under-our revolving credit facility, which were denominated in Pounds Sterling. There were no - ‘
outstanding letters of credit issued under our revolving credit facility at December 31, 2008. The amount of
letters of credit issued under our revolving credit facility reduces the amount available to us for borrowings.

In January 2010, certain regulatory requirements required us to provide additional letters. of credit of
$16 million, $11 million of which were denominated in U.S. Dollars and issued by Travelport on our behalf
and the equivalent of $5 million of which were denominated in Pounds Sterling and issued under our revolving
credit facility.

Under our merchant model, customers generally pay us for reservations at the time of booking, and we
pay our suppliers at a later date, which is generally after the customer uses the reservation. Initially; we record
these customer receipts as accrued merchant payables and either deferred income or net revenue, depending on
the travel product. We generally recognize net revenue when the customer uses the reservation, and we :pay -
our suppliers once we have received an invoice, which typically ranges from one to sixty days after the -
customer uses the reservation. The timing difference between when cash is collected from our customers and
when payments are made to our suppliers improves our operating cash flow and represents a source of -
liquidity for us. If our merchant model gross bookings increase, we would expect our operating cash flow to
increase. Conversely, if our merchant model gross bookings decline or.there are changes to the model which
reduce the time between the receipt of cash from our customers and payments to suppliers, we would expect
our opérating cash flow to decline. : ‘ :

‘Historically, under both our merchant and retail models, we charged customers a service fee for booking.
airline tickets, hotel stays and certain other travel products on our websites, and cash generated by these
booking fees represented a significant portion of our operating cash flow and a source of liquidity for us. In
2009, we removed booking fees on most flights booked through Orbitz.com and CheapTickets.com, and we .
significantly reduced booking fees on all hotel stays booked through Orbitz.com and CheapTickets.com. The
combination of our cost reductions, our improved marketing efficiency and the increase in air transactions we
have experienced since removing fees enabled us to offset most, if not all, of the decrease in our operating
cash flow and liquidity due to lower booking fees. If we are unable to effectively continue to offset the impact
of the booking fee reductions, our cash flow and liquidity could be materially reduced. e

Seasonal fluctuations in our business also affect the timing of our cash flows. Gross bookings are
generally highest in the first half of the year as customers plan and purchase their spring and summer
vacations. As a result, our cash receipts are generally highest in the first half of the year. We generally have
net cash outflows during the second half of the year since cash payments to suppliers typically exceed the
cash inflows from new merchant booking reservations. While we expect this seasonal cash flow pattern to
continue, changes in our business model could affect the seasonal nature of our cash flows.

In 2009, in light of concerns about the financial industry and in order to ensure availability of liquidity,
we borrowed $63 million under our revolving credit facility, which increased our cash position throughout
year. We repaid $21 million of these borrowings during the fourth quarter of 2009 and repaid the remaitiing
borrowings during the first quarter of 2010. : = N

On January 26, 2010, we completed two transactions that improved our overall liquidity and financial -
position. In the first transaction, PAR Investment Partners L.P. (“PAR”) exchanged $50 million principal
amount of term loans under our senior secured credit agreement for 8,141,402 shares of our common stock.
We immediately retired the term loans received from PAR in accordance with the amendment to the credit
agreement that we entered into with our lenders in June 2009. As a result, the amount outstanding on the

53



Term Loan was reduced to $527 million. Concurrently, Travelport, through one if its controlled affiliates,
purchased 9,025,271 shares of our common stock for $50 million in cash (see Note 8 — Exchange Agreement
and Stock Purchase Agreement of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). We intend to use the
proceeds from the stock purchase for general corporate purposes, which could include additional capltal
mvestments and/or further debt reduction.

As of December 31, 2009, we had a working capital deficit of $250 million as compared with a deficit of
$258 million as of December 31, 2008. Prior to the IPO, we operated with a working capital deficit primarily
as a result of the cash management system used by Travelport to pool cash from all of its subsidiaries,
including us, as well as the fact that certain operating cash flows generated by us were used to fund certain of
our financing and investing activities, such as capital expenditures incurred for the development and
implementation of our new technology platform. The net proceeds we received from the IPO of our common
stock and the $600 million term loan did not decrease this working capital deficit because those proceeds were
used to repay $860 million of intercompany notes payable to affiliates of Travelport, to pay a $109 million
dividend to an affiliate of Travelport and to settle other intercompany balances between us and Travelport that
were generated prior to. the IPO. As a result, immediately following the IPO, we continued to have a working
capital deficit. Because of this deficit, we use cash from customer transactions as well as borrowings under
our revolving credit facility to fund our working capital requirements and certain investing and financing
commitments, such as capital expenditures and principal payments on our term loan, respectively.

Over time, we expect to continue to decrease this deficit through growth in our business and the
generation of positive cash flow from operations, which we expect to achieve by driving global hotel
transaction growth and by continuing to offer new and innovative functionality on our websites, improving our
operating efficiency and simplifying the way we do business.

We generated positive cash flow from operations for the years ended December 31, 2007 through 2009 ..
despite experiencing net losses, and we expect annual cash flow from operations to remain positive in the
foreseeable future. We generally use this cash flow to fund our operations, make principal and interest
payments on our debt, finance capital expenditures and meet our other cash operating needs. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, we ‘expect our capital expenditures to be between $40 million and $45 million,
most of which is dlscretlonary in nature, We do not intend to declare or pay any cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future. ‘

We currently believe that cash flow generated from operations, cash on hand and cash available under our
revolving credit facility will provide sufficient liquidity to fund our operating activities, capital expenditures
and other obligations over at least the next twelve months. However, in the future, our liquidity could be
reduced as a result of changes in our business model, mcludmg changes to payment terms or other
requirements imposed by suppliers or regulatory agencies, lower than anticipated operating cash flows, or
other unantlmpated events, such as unfavorable outcomes in' our legal proceedlngs including in the case of
hotel occupancy proceedmgs certain jurisdictions’ requirements that we provide financial security or pay the
assessment to the municipality in order to challenge the assessment in court. The liquidity provided by cash
flows from our merchant model gross bookings could be negatively impacted if our merchant model gross
bookings decline as a result of economic conditions or other factors or if suppliers or regulatory agencies
imposed other requirements on us, such as requiring us to provide letters of credit or to establish cash reserves.
If as a result of these requirements, we require letters of credit which exceed the availability under the facility
provided by Travelport, or if the Travelport facility is no longer available to us, we would be required to issue
these letters of credit under our revolving credit facﬂlty or to estabhsh cash reserves which would reduce our
available liquidity.

In regards to our long-term liquidity needs, we believe that cash flow generated from operations, cash on
hand and cash available under our revolving credit facility through its maturity in July 2013 will provide
sufficient liquidity to fund our operating activities and capital expenditures. However, unless we re-finance our
term loan before the July 2014 maturity date, we will be required to pay: the final installment (equal to the
remaining -outstanding balance) on our $600 million term loan, and our cash flow generated from operations
and cash on hand may not be adequate to fund .this payment in full. As a result, we may need to raise
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additional funds through debt or equity offerings. We also may be required to raise additional capital if, in-the
future, we require more liquidity than is-available under our revolving credit facility. : .

Cash Flows

Our net cash flows from operating, mvestmg and ﬁnancmg activities for the periods 1ndlcated in the
tables below were as follows:

Years Ended -
December 31,

2009 2008 2007
(in millions) o

Beginning cash and cash equivalents - e Crenens J . $31 825§ 18
Cash provided by (used in): . ; : :

Operating activities. .. ............. e e 105 76 69

" Investing activities . ................. . . R, e (43) (58), (80) K

Financing activities . . . . .......ouvtt i (6) 8) 13
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equlvalents ......... 2 4) 5
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ......... O 58 6 _ 7
Ending cash and cash equivalents ............,.... e e e $8 $31 $25

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2009 to the year ended December 31, 2008
Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities consists of net loss, adjusted for non-cash items such as deprec1a— ’
tion, amortization, impairment of goodwill and intangible assets, and stock based compensation and changes in
various working capital items, principally accounts receivable, accrued expenses, accrued merchant payables,
deferred income and accounts payable.

We generated cash flow from operations of $105 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 compared
with $76 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in operating cash flow was pnmanly
due to cost reductions taken by us in 2009, improvements in our overall marketing efﬁcmncy and a decrease
in cash interest payments. These operating cash flow increases were pamally offset by a decrease in operatm_g
cash flow due to lower merchant hotel gross bookings in.the first three quarters of 2009 compared with the
first three quarters of 2008, as a result of lower global ADRs. The elimination .of most air booking fees, the
reduction of hotel. bookmg fees and. the shortening of payment terms with a key vendor during 2009 also
negatively impacted our operating cash flow. , .

The changes in our worklng capital accounts, which are partially due to the factors mentioned above and
to the general timing of payments, also contributed to the increase in our operating cash ﬂow During the
fourth quarter of 2009, there was a significant increase in merchant bookings compared with the fourth quarter
of 2008, which also drove the increase in operating cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Investing Activities
Cash flow used in'investing activities decreased $15 million, to $43 million for the year ended
December 31, 2009 from $58 million for the year ended December 31,.2008 due to lower capital spending

during the year ended December 31, 2009 resulting from cost reduction efforts taken in late 2008 and 2009. -
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- Financing Activities

Cash flow used in financmg activities decreased $2 million, to $6 Imlhon for the year ended December 31,
2009 from $8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 primarily due to a $9 million decrease in
payments made under the tax sharing agreement with the Founding Airlines, a decrease in capital lease
payments and a decrease in payments made to satisfy tax withholding obligations upon the vesting of equity-
based awards. The decrease in cash flow used in financing activities is partially offset by $8 million of
payments made by us in June-2009 to purchase $10 million in principal amount of the Term Loan (see -

Note 7 — Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) and a
decrease in net borrowings made under our revolving credit facility during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Comparison of the year ended December 31,2008 to the year ended December 31, 2007
Operating Activities ;

. We generated cash flow from operations of $76 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 compared
with $69 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in operating cash flows was largely
driven by a $48 million decrease in cash interest expense due to the repayment of intercompany notes to
Travelport in connection with the IPO, offset in part by a $22 million increase in cash interest expense
incurred on our $85 million revolving credit facility, the $600 million term loan and the corresponding interest
rate swaps entered into'to hedge a portion of the variable interest payments on the term loan. Accrued
expenses drove an additional $25 million increase.in operating cash flows. This increase was primarily driven
by the timing of payments.of domestic accrued marketing expenditures. The remaining. increase in operating
cash flows during the year ended December 31, 2008 was pnmanly due to the overall growth of our
operations. S

The cash flow increases discussed above were partially offset by a $23 million decrease in accounts
payable, driven largely by timing of payments, as a result of changes in our payment mechanisms and cash
management policies following the IPO. A $35 million decrease in accrued merchant payables and an
$8 million decrease in deferred income also offset the cash flow increases. These décreases were primarily
driven by a decrease in transaction volume, particularly for hotel: bookings, during the fourth quarter of 2008.
The cash flow increases above were further offset by changes in other operating assets and liabilities.

Investing Activities

Cash flow used in investing activities decreased $22 million, to $58 million for the year ended
December- 31, 2008 from $80 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in cash flow used
in investing activities was primarily due to the sale of an offline U.K. travel subsidiary in July 2007. The sale
of this subsidiary resulted in a $31 million reduction in cash due to the buyer’s assumption of this subsidiary’s
cash balance at the time of sale, partially offset by the cash proceeds we received for the sale-of the subsidiary.
This decrease in cash flow used in investing activities was partially offset by a $5 million increase in capital
expenditures as well as the absence of the receipt of proceeds from asset sales during 2008. We received
$4 million of cash proceeds from asset sales during 2007.. ”

Financing Activities

Cash flow used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $8 million compared
with $13 million of cash flow provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2007. The
decrease in cash flow provided by financing activities of $21 million was partlally due to the absence of net
proceeds received from the IPO and the $600 million term loan facility entered into concurrent with the IPO,
offset in part by repayments of the intercompany notes to Travelport, a dividend paid to Travelport in
connection with the IPO and net cash distributed to and received from Travelport in 2007 prior to the IPO.
Following the IPO, we are no longer required to distribute available: cash to:Travelport. Cash flow used:in
financing activities increased largely due to $20 million of payments made under the tax sharing agreement
with the Founding Airlines, a $5 million increase in principal payments made on the $600 million term loan
facility and $1 million of payments made to satisfy employee minimum tax withholding obligations upon
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vesting of equity-based awards during the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in cash flow provided
by fmancmg activities was offset in part by a $19 million increase in borrowmgs made under our revolving
credit facility during the year ended December 31, 2008 and a $1 million' decrease in capital lease payments.

Financing Arrangements

On July 25, 2007, concurrent with the IPO, we entered into a $685 million senior secured credit
agreement (“Credit Agreement”) consisting of a seven-year $600 million term loan facility (“Term Loan™) and.
a six-year $85 million revolving credit facility (“Revolver”). The Term Loan and the Revolver bear interest at
variable rates, at our option, of LIBOR ‘or an alternative base rate plus a margin. At December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, $577 million and $593 million was outstanding on the Term Loan, respectively, and
$42 million and $21 million of borrowings were outstanding under the Revolver, respectively, all of which: -
were denominated in U.S. dollars.

In addition, at December 31, 2009, there was the equivalent of $5 million of outstanding letters of credit
issued under the Revolver, which were denominated in Pounds Sterling. There were no outstanding letters of
credit issued under the Revolver at December 31, 2008. The amount of letters of credit issued under the
Revolver reduces the amount available to us for borrowings.

On June 2,.2009, we entered into an amendment. (the “Amendment”) to our Credit Agreement, which
permits us to purchase portions of the -outstanding Term-Loan on a non-pro rata basis-using cash up to
$10 million and future cash proceeds from equity issuances and in exchange for equity interests on or prior to
June 2, 2010. Any portion of the Term Loan purchased by us will be retired pursuant to the terms of the
amendment. On June 17, 2009, we completed the purchase of $10 million in principal amount of the Term
Loan, as required by the terms of the Amendment (see Note 7 — Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements), and on January 26, 2010, we completed the purchase of an
additional $50 million in pnnmpal amount of the Term Loan (see Note 23 — Subsequent Events of the Notes
to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements) ‘

LCPI;-which filed for: bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code on
October 5, 2008, held a $12.5 million commitment; or 14.7% percent, of the $85 million available under the
Revolver. As a result, total availability under the Revolver has effectively been reduced from $85 million to
$72.5 million. Despite this reduction, we currently believe that our cash flow generated from operations, cash
on hand and cash available under the Revolver will provide sufficient liquidity to fund our operating activities,
capital expenditures and other obligations in the short-term (see “Liquidity” above).

The Term Loan and Revolver are both secured by substantially all of our and our domestic subsidiaries’
tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of 100% of the outstanding capital stock or other equity.
interests of substantially all of our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the capital stock or
other equity interests of certain of our foreign subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions. The Term Loan and
Revolver are also guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic.subsidiaries.

The Credit Agreement contalns various customary I‘CStI‘ICtIVC covenants that limit our ability to, among
other things:

« incur additional indebtedness or enter into guarantees;
- enter into sale or leaseback transactions;
* ‘make 1nvestments loans or acqu1s1t10ns
e grant or incur-liens on our assets;
¢ sell our assets; ) N ‘
* engage in mergers, consolidations, iiquidations otvdissolu_tions;
* engage in transdctions with affiliates; and
» make restricted payments.
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The Credit Agreement requires us to maintain a minimum.fixed charge coverage ratio and not to exceed
a maximum total leverage ratio, each as defined in the Credit Agreement. The minimum fixed charge coverage
ratio that we are required to maintain as of December 31, 2009 and for the remaining term of the Credit
Agreement is 1 to 1. The maximum total leverage ratio that we are required not to exceed is 4.25 to 1 as of
December 31, 2009 and decllnes to 3.5 to 1 effective March 31, 2010 andto3to 1 effectlve March 31, 2011.

If we fail to comply w1th these covenants and we are unable to obtam a waiver or amendment, our
lenders could accelerate the maturity of all amounts borrowed under the Term Loan and Revolver and could
proceed against the collateral securing this indebtedness. We are permitted, however, to cure any such failure
by issuing equity to certain permitted holders, as defined in the Credit Agreement, which include The
Blackstone Group and certain of its affiliates. The amount of the net cash proceeds received from this equity
issuance would then be applied to increase consolidated EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Agreement and on
which the covenant calculations are based, for the applicable quarter. As of December 31, 2009, we were in
compliance with all covenants and conditions of the Credit Agreement.

In addition, beginning in the first quarter of 2009, we are required to make an annual prepayment on the
Term Loan in the first quarter of each fiscal year in an amount up to 50% of the prior year’s excess cash flow,
as defined in the Credit Agreement. These prepayments from excess cash flow are applied, in order of
maturity, to the scheduled quarterly term loan principal payments. Based on our cash flow for the year ended
December 31, 2008, we were not required to make a prepayment in 2009. Based on our cash flow for the year
ended December 31, 2009, we are required to make a prepayment on the Term Loan of $21 million in the first
quarter of 2010. The potential amount of prepayment from_excess cash flow that will be required beyond the
first quarter of 2010 is ot reasonably estimable as of December 31 2009. ‘

When we were a wholly owned subsidiary of Travelport Travelport provided guarantees, letters of credlt
and surety bonds on our behalf under our commercial agreements and leases and.for the benefit. of regulatory-
agencies. Under the Separation Agreement, we are required-to use commercially reasonable efforts to have
Travelport released from any then outstanding guarantees and surety bonds. Travelport no longer provides
surety bonds on our behalf or guarantees in connection with commercial agreements or leases entered into or
replaced by us:subsequent to- the IPO. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, there were $59 million
and $67 million of letters of credit issued by Travelport on our behalf, respectively. Under the Separation
Agreement, Travelport has agreed to issue U.S. Dollar denominated letters of credit on our behalf in an .
aggregate amount not to exceed $75 million through at least March 31, 2010 and thereafter so long as
Travelport and its affiliates (as defined in the Separation Agreement) own at least 50% of our voting stock.

Financial Obligations
Commitments and Contingencies -

We and certain of our afﬁhates are partles to cases brought by consumers and mun1c1paht1es and other
uU.s. governmental entities 1nvolv1ng hotel occupancy taxes. We believe that we have meritorious defenses, and
we are vigorously defending against these claims, proceedings and inquiries (see Note 11 — Comrmtments
and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) :

Litigation is inherently unpredictable and, although we beheve we have valid defenses in these matters
based upon advice of counsel, unfavorable resolutions could occur. While we carinot estimate our range of loss
and believe it is unlikely that an adverse outcome will result from these proceédings, an adverse outcome
could be material to us with respect to earnings or cash flows'in any given reporting period.

. We are currently seeking to recover insurance reimbursement for costs incurred to defend the hotel
occupancy tax cases. We recorded a reduction to selling, general and administrative expense in our
consolidated statements-of operations for reimbursements received of $6 million,.$8 million and-$3 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008: and December 31, 2007, respectively. The recovery
of additional amounts, if any, by us and the timing of receipt of these recoveries is unclear. As such, as of
December 31, 2009, we have not recognized a reduction to selling, general and administrative expense in our
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consolidated statements of operations for the outstanding contingent claims for which we have not received
reimbursement. - S

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes oﬁr future contractual obligaﬁons as of December 31, 2009:

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  Thereafter  Total
(in millions) '

Term Loan(a) « . .« v v eeree e L. 0$21 $— $— $ 3 $553 $— $ 577
Revolver(a)........... .. . . oot — — — 42 — — 42
Imterest(b). ... ....... ... i L 23 20 18 18 10 — 89
Contract exit COsts(C) i\ .......ovivin.on.n 5 4 2 1 1 b—_ 13
Operating leases . ....................... 7 5 4 - 4 4 24 - 48
Travelport GDS contract(d) . ... ............ 42 20 20 20 20 — 122
Tax sharing liability(e) ................... 19 - 20 - 21 18 18 118 214
Telecommunications service agreement . . . . ... 1 - — e — —_ 1
Systems infrastructure agreements . .......... 3 — — — — — 3
Software license agreement. ............... 9 - = — e — 9
Total contractual obligations (f) ........... $130 $69.. .%$65 $106 $606 $142 $1,118

(2) In July 2007, concurrent with the IPO, we entered into the $685 million Credit Agreement consisting of
the seven-year $600 million Term Loan and the six-year $85 million Revolver. The Term Loan and
Revolver bear interest at variable rates, at our option, of LIBOR or an alternative base rate plus a margin.
The amounts shown in the table above represent future payments under the Term Loan and Revolver (see
Note 7 — Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility of-the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
However, the timing of the future payments shown in the table above could change with respect to the
Term Loan, as we are required to make an annual prepayment on the Term Loan in the first quarter of
each fiscal year in an amount up to 50% of the prior year’s excess cash flow, as defined in the Credit -
Agreement. Prepayments from excess:cash flow are applied, in order of maturity, to the scheduled quar-
terly term loan principal payments. Based on our cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2009, we -
are required to make a prepayment on the Term Loan of $21 miillion in the first quarter of 2010. The -
potential amount of prepayments from excess cash flow that will be required beyond the first quarter of
2010 is not reasonably estimable as of December 31, 2009. As a result, the table above excludes prepay-
ments that could be required from excess cash flow beyond the first quarter of 2010.

In January 2010, we retired $50 million aggregate principal amount of term loans exchanged by PAR for
shares of our common stock. As a result, the amount outstanding on the Term Loan was reduced to
$527 million (see Note 23 — Subsequent Events Qf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

(b) Represents estimated interest payments on the variable portion of the Term Loan based on the one-month ,
LIBOR as of December 31, 2009 and.fixed interest payments under interest rate swaps.

(c) Represents costs due to the early termination of an agreement.

(d) In connection with the IPO, we entered into an agreement with Travelport to use GDS services provided
by both Galileo and Worldspan (the “Travelport GDS Service Agreement”). The Travelport GDS Service
Agreement is structured such that we earn incentive revenue for each segment that is processed through
the Worldspan and Galileo GDSs (the “Travelport GDSs”). This agreement requires that we process a cer-
tain minimum number of segments for our domestic brands. through the Travelport GDSs each year. Our
domestic brands were required to process a total of 36 million segments during the -year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2009, 16 million segments through Worldspan and 20 million segments through Galileo. The
required number of segments processed-annually. for Worldspan is fixed at 16 million segments, while the
required number of segments for Galileo is subject to-adjustment based upon the actual segments pro-
cessed by our domestic brands in the preceding year. We are required toprocess approximately 18 million
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segments through Galileo during the year ending December 31, 2010. Our failure to process at least 95%
of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in a shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment
below the required minimum. Historically, we have met the minimum segment requirement for our
domestic brands. The table above includes shortfall payments réquired by the agreement if we do not pro-
cess any segments through Worldspan during the remainder of the contract term and shortfall payments
required if we do not process any segments through Galileo during the year ending December 31, 2010.
Because the required number of segments for Galileo adjusts based on the actual segments processed in
the preceding year, we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required beyond 2010. How-
ever, we do not expect to make any shortfall payments for our domestic brands in the foreseeable future.

The Travelport GDS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use-the Travelport GDSs exclusively |
in certain countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe. Our failure to process-at least 95%
of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in a shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment
for each segment processed through an alternative GDS ‘provider. We failed to meet this minimum seg-
ment requirement- during each of the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, and as a
result, we were required to make nominal shortfall payments to Travelport related to each of these years.
Because the required number of segments to be processed through the Travelport GDSs is dependent on-
the actual segments processed by ebookers in certain countries in a given year, we are unable to predict
shortfall payments that may be required for the years beyond 2009. As a result, the table above excludes
any shortfall payments that may be required related to our ébookers brands for the years beyond 2009. If
we meet the minimum number of segments, we are not required to make shértfall payments to Travelport
(see Note 18 — Reldted Party Transactions of the Notes to Consohdated F1nanc1a1 Statements)

) We expect to make approximately $214 rmlhon of payments in connection with the tax shanng agreement
with the Founding Airlines (see Note 9 — Tax Sharing Liability. of the Notes to Consolidated F1nanc1a1
Statements). , ,

) Excluded from the above table are $5 rmlhon of liabilities for uncertain tax posmons for which the penod
of settlement is not currently determinable.

Other Commercial Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the ordinary course of business, we obtain surety bonds and bank guarantees, issued for the benefit of
a third party, to secure performance of certain of our obligations to third parties (see Note 11 — Commitments
and Contingencies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

We are also required to issue letters of credit to certain suppliers and non-U.S. regulatory and government
agencies. See “Financing Arrangements” above for further discussion of our outstanding letters of credit.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related notes in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires us to make judgments, estimates. and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported therein. An accountmg policy is considered to be:critical if it meets the following two-
criteria: : : : : :

o the policy requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made; and

« different estimates that reasonably could have been used or changes.in the estimates that are reasonably
likely to occur from period to period would have a matenal impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the estimates and assumptions used when preparing our consolidated financial statements
were the most appropriate at that time. However, events that are outside of our control cannot be predicted
and, as such, they cannot be contemplated in evaluating such estimates -and - assumptlons We have dlscussed
these estimates with our Audit Committee. : '
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Presented below are those accounting policies that we believe require subjective and complex judgments
that could potentially affect our reported results. Although we believe these policies to be the most critical,
other accounting policies also have a significant effect on our consolidated financial statements and certain of
these policies may also require the use of estimates and assumptions (see Note 2 — Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when it is earned and realizable, when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured.
We record revenue earned net of all amounts pa1d to our suppliers under both our retail and merchant models.

We offer customers the. ablllty to book a1rlme hotel car rental and other travel reservations through our
various brands, including Orbitz, CheapTickets, ebookers and HotelClub. These products and services are
made available to our customers for booking on a stand-alone basis or as part of a dynamic vacation package.
We have two primary types of contractual arrangements with our vendors, which we refer to-herein as the
“merchant” and “retail” models.

Under the merchant model we generate revenue for our services based on the dlfference between the
total amount the customer pays for the travel product and the negonated net rate plus estimated taxes that the
supplier charges for that travel product. Customers generally pay for reservations in advance, at the time of
booking. Initially, we record these advance payments as accrued merchant payables and either deferred income
or net revenue, depending on the travel product. In the merchant model, we do not take on credit risk with the
customer, however we sre subject to fraud risk; we have the ability to determine the price; we are not
responsible for the actual delivery of the flight, hotel room or car rental; we take no inventory risk; we have
no ability to determine or change the products or services delivered; and the customer-chooses the supplier.

We recognize net revenue under the merchant model when we have no further obligations to the
customer. For merchant air transactions, this is at the time of booking. For merchant hotel transactions and
merchant car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up, respectively.
The timing of revenue recognition is different for merchant air travel because our primary service to the
customer is fulfilled at the time of booking.

We accrue for the cost of merchant hotel and merchant car transactions based on amounts we expect to
be invoiced by suppliers. If we do not receive an invoice within a certain period of time, generally within six
months, or the invoice received is less than the accrued amount, we reverse a portion of the accrued cost when
we determine it is not probable that we will be required to pay the supplier, based on our historical experience
and contract terms. This would result in an increase in net revenue and a decrease to the accrued merchant
payable.

Under the retail model, we pass reservations booked by our customers to the travel supplier for a
commission. Under this model, we do not.take on credit risk with the customer; we are not the primary
obligor with the customer; we have no latitude in determining pricing; we take no inventory risk; we have no
ability to determine or change the products or services delivered; and the customer chooses the supplier.

We recognize net revenue under the retail model when the reservation i$ made, secured by a customer
with a credit card and we have no further obligations to the customer. For air transactions, this is at the time
of booking. For hotel transactions and car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or
customer pick-up, respectively, net of an allowance for cancelled reservations. The timing of recognition is
different for retail hotel and retail car transactions than for retail air travel because unlike air travel where the
reservation is secured by a customer’s credit card at booking, car rental bookings and hotel bookings are not
secured by a customer’s credit card until the pick-up date and check-in date, respectively. Allowances for
cancelled reservations primarily relate to cancellations that do not occur through our website, but instead occur
directly through the supplier of the travel product. The amount of the allowance is determined based on our
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historical experience. The majority of commissions earned under the retail model are based upon contractual
agreements. '

Dynamic vacation packages offer customers the ability to book a combination of travel products. For
example, travel products booked in a dynamic vacation package may include a combination of air, hotel and
car reservations. We recognize net revenue for the entire package when the customer uses. the reservation,
which generally occurs on the same day for each travel product included in the dynamic vacation package.

Under both the merchant and retail models, we may, depending upon the brand and the travel product,
charge our customers a service fee for booking the travel reservation. We recognize revenue for service fees at
the time we recognize the net revenue for the corresponding travel product. We also may receive override
commissions from suppliers if we meet certain contractual volume thresholds. These commissions are
recognized when the amount of the commissions becomes fixed or detennmable which is generally upon
nouﬁcatlon by the respective travel supplier.

We utilize GDS services provided by Galileo, Worldspan and Amadeus IT Group Under our GDS service
agreements, we earn revenue in the form of an incentive payment for air, car and hotel segments that are
processed through a GDS. Revenue is recognized for these incentive payments at the time the travel
reservation is processed through the GDS which is generally at the time of booking.

We also generate other revenue, which is primarily compnsed of revenue from advertlsmg, 1ncludmg
sponsoring links on. our websites, and travel insurance. Advertising revenue is derived primarily from the -
delivery .of advertisements on our websites and is recognized either at the time of display of each individual .
advertisement, or ratably over the advertising delivery period, depending on the terms of the advertising
contract. Revenues generated from sponsoring links and travel insurance revenue are both recognized upon
notification from the alliance partner that a transaction has occurred.

If our judgments regarding net revenue are inaccurate, actual net revenue could differ from the amount
we recognize, directly impacting our results of operations.

Impairmeni of Long-Lived Assets, Goodwill and Ihdeﬁnite-Lived Intangible Assets
Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate: the recoverability of our long-lived assets, including property and equipment and finite-lived
intangible assets,- when circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable.
This analysis_ is performed by compaiing the respective carrying values of the assets to the current and
expected future cash flows to. be generated from these assets, on an undiscounted basis. If this analysis
indicates that the carrying value of an asset is not recoverable, the carrying value is reduced to fair value
through an impairment charge in our consolidated statements of operations. The evaluation of long-lived assets
for impairment requires.assumptions about operating strategies and estimates of future cash flows. An estimate
of future cash flows requires us to assess current and projected market conditions as well as operating
performance. A variation of the assumptions used could lead to a different conclusion regarding the
recoverability of an asset and could have a significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Goodwzll and Other Intangibles

We assess the carrying value of goodw111 and other indefinite-lived 1ntang1ble assets for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever events occur-and circumstances change indicating potential impairment.
We perform our anhual impairment testing-of goodwill and other indefinite-lived 1ntang1ble assets in the fourth
quarter of each year, in connection with-our annual planning process.

We assess goodwill for possible impairment using a two-step process. The first step identifies if there is
potential goodwill impairment. If step one indicates that an impairment may exist, a second step is performed
to measure.the amount of the goodwill impairment, if any. Application of the goodwill impairment test
requires management’s judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assigning assets and liabilities
to reporting units and determining the fair value of each reporting unit. We estimate the fair value of our
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reporting units to which goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including
market and income based approaches, and relevant data available through and as of the testing date. The
market approach is a valuation method in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual
transactions and on asking prices for similar assets. Under the market approach, the valuation process is
essentlally that of comparlson and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets. The income
approach is a method in which fair value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected
to generate over its useful life, including residual value cash flows. These cash flows are then discounted to
their present value equivalents using a rate of return that accounts for the relative risk of not realizing the
estimated annual cash flows and for the time value of money. Variations of the income approach are used to
estimate certain of the intangible asset fair values.

Our trademarks and trade names are indefinite-lived intangible assets. We test these assets for impairment
by comparing their carrying value to their estimated fair value. If the estimated fair value is less than the
carrying amount of the intangible asset, then the carrying value is reduced to fair value through an impairment
charge recorded to. our consolidated statement of operations. We use a market or income valuation approach
as described above, to estimate fair values of the relevant trademarks and trade names.

Our testing for impairment involves estimates of our future cash flows, which requires us to assess current
and projected market conditions as well as operating performance. Our estimates may differ from actual cash
flows due to changes in our operating performance, capital structure or requirements for operating and capital
expenditures as well as changes to general economic conditions and the travel industry in particular. We must
also make estimates and judgments in the selection of a discount rate that reflects the risk inherent in those
future cash flows. The impairment analysis may also require certain assumptions about other businesses with
limited financial histories. A variation of the assumptions used could lead to a different conclusion regarding
the carrying value of an asset and could have a significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated based upon the temporary differences between the financial
statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using the combined federal and state effective tax rates
that are applicable to us in a given year. The deferred tax assets are recorded net of a valuation allowance
when, based on the weight of available evidence, we believe it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. Increases ‘to the valuation allowance
are recorded as increases to the provision for income taxes. As a result of our adoption of updated guidance
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board regarding business combinations, effective January 1,
2009, to the extent that any valuation allowances established by us in purchase accounting are reduced, these
reductions are recorded through our consolidated statements of operations. These reductions were previously
recorded through goodwill. The realization of the deferred tax assets, net of a valuation allowance, is primarily
dependent on estimated future taxable income. A change in our estimate of future taxable income may require
an increase or decrease to the valuation allowance.

For the penod January 1, 2007 to February 7, 2007 the operations of Travelport were included in the .
consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2007 for Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries. However, the provision for income taxes was computed as if we filed our
U.S. federal, state and foreign income tax returns on a “Separate Company” basis without the inclusion of the
operations of Travelport. Furthermore, the Separate Company deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
calculated using our tax rates on a Separate Company basis. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are based
upon estimated differences between the book and tax bases of our assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2007. Our tax assets and liabilities may be adjusted in connectlon with the ultlmate finalization of Travelport’s
income tax returns. :

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the provision for U.S. federal, state and
foreign income taxes and the calculation of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were based solely on the
operations of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

63



Accounting for Tax Sharing Liability

We have a liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to a tax sharing agreement
between Orbitz and the Founding Airlines. The agreement governs the allocation of tax benefits resulting from
a taxable exchange that took place in connection with the Orbitz' initial public offenng in December 2003
(“Orbitz IPO™). As a result of this taxable exchange, the Founding Airlines incurred a taxable gain. The
taxable exchange caused Orbitz to have additional future tax deductions for depreciation and amortization due
to the increased tax basis of its assets. The additional tax deductions for depreciation and amortization may
reduce the amount of taxes we are required to pay in future years. For each tax period during the term of the -
tax sharing agreement, we are obligated to pay the Founding Airlines a significant percentage of the amount
of the tax benefit realized as a result of the taxable exchange. The tax sharing agreement commenced upon
consummation of the Orbitz IPO and continues until all tax benefits have been utilized.

We use discounted cash flows in calculating and recogmzmg the tax shanng l1ab111ty We review the
calculation of the tax sharing liability on a quarterly basis and make revisions to our estimated timing of
payments when appropriate. We also assess whether there are any significant changes such as changes in
timing of payments and tax rates, that could materially affect the present value of the tax sharing liability.
Although the expected gross remaining payments that may be due under this agreement are $214 million as of
December 31, 2009, the timing of payments may change. Any changes in timing of payments are recognized
prospectively as accretions to the tax sharing liability in our consolidated balance sheets and non-cash interest
expense in our consolidated statements of operatlons

The valuation of the tax sharmg liability requires us to make certain estimates in projecting the quarterly -
depreciation and amortization benefit we expect to receive, as well as the associated effective income tax rates.
The estimates require certain assumptions as to our future operating performance and taxable income, the tax -
rate, the timing of tax payments, current and projected market conditions, and the applicable discount rate.
The discount rate assumption is based on our weighted average cost of capital at the time of the Blackstone
Acquisition, which was approximately 12%. A variation of the assumptions used could lead to a different
conclusion regarding the carrying. value of the tax sharmg 11ab111ty and could have a 51gn1flcant effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

At the time of the Blackstone Acquisition, Cendant (now Avis Budget Group, Inc.) indemnified Travelport
and us for a portion of the amounts due under the tax sharing agreement. As a result, we have a $37 million
receivable included in other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008. Cendant is obligated to pay us this amount when it receives the tax benefit. We regularly
monitor the financial condition of Cendant to assess the collectability of this receivable.

Equity-Based Compensation

We measure equity-based compensation cost at fair value and recognize the corresponding compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the service. period during which awards are expected to vest. We include
equity-based compensation expense in the selling, general and administrative line of our consolidated
statements of operations. The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units is determined based on
the average of the high and low price of our common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of stock
options is determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model, which incorporates a
number of variables, some of which are based on estimates and assumptions. These variables include stock
price, exercise price, expected life, expected volatility, dividend yield, and the risk-free rate. Stock price and
exercise price are set at fair value on the date of grant. Expected volatility is based on implied volatilities for
publicly traded options and historical volatility for comparable companies over the estimated expected life of
the stock options. The expected life represents the period of time the stock options are expected to be
outstanding and is based on the “simplified method.” We use the “simplified method” due to the lack of
sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to otherwise estimate the expected

64



life of the stock options. The risk-free interest rate is based on yields on U.S. Treasury strips with a maturity
similar to the estimated expected life of the stock options.

The amount of equity-based compensation expense recorded each period is net of estimated forfeitures.
We estimate forfeitures based on historical employee turnover rates, the terms of the award issued and
assumptions regarding f_uture___employee turnover. We periodically perform an analysis to determine if estimated
forfeitures are reasonable based on actual facts and circumstances, and adjustments are made as necessary. If
our estimates differ significantly from actual results, our consolidated financial statements could be materially
affected. ’ v

Intérhal Use Software

We capitalize the costs of software developed for internal use. Capitalization commences when the
preliminary project stage of the application has been completed and it is probable that the project will be
completed and used to perform the function intended~ Amortization commences when the software is placed
into service. We also capitalize interest on internal software development projects. The amount of interest
capitalized is computed by applying our weighted average borrowing rate to qualifying expenditures. The
determination of costs to be capitalized as well as the useful life of the software requires us to make estimates
and judgments. ‘ ' : ' ' :

Recenﬂy Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Foreign Currenéy Risk .

Our international operations are subject to risks typical of international operations, including, but not
limited to, differing economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures and foreign
exchange rate volatility. Accordingly, our future results could be materially adversely impacted by changeés in
these or other factors.

Transaction Exposure

We use foreign currency forward contracts to manage our exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates associated with our foreign currency denominated receivables, payables, intercompany transac-
tions and borrowings under our revolving credit facility. We primarily hedge our foreign currency exposure to
the Pound Sterling, Euro and Australian dollar. We do not engage in trading, market making or speculative
activities in the derivatives markets. The forward contracts utilized by us do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment, and as a result, any fluctuations in the value of these forward contracts are recognized in our '
consolidated statements of operations as incurred. The fluctuations in the value of these forward contracts do,
however, largely offset the impact of changes in the value of the underlying risk that they are intended to
economically hedge. As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we had outstanding foreign currency
forward contracts with net notional values equivalent to-approximately $130 million and $61 million,
respectively. R : ' : :

Translation Exposure

Foreign exchange rate fluctuations may adversely impact our financial position as. the assets and liabilities
of our foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars in: preparing our consolidated balance sheets. The
effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008 was a net translation loss of $3 million and $9 million, respectively. This loss is
recognized as an adjustment to shareholders’ equity through accumulated other comprehensive loss.
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Interest Rate Risk

The Term Loan and Revolver bear interest at a variable rate based on LIBOR or an alternative base rate.
We limit interest rate risk associated with the Term Loan using interest rate swaps with a combined notional
amount of $200 million as of December 31, 2009 to hedge fluctuations in LIBOR (see Note 14 — Derivative
Financial Instruments of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) We do not engage in trading, market
making or speculative act1v1t1es in the derivatives markets.

Sens1t1v1ty Analysis

We assess our market risk based on: changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 1nterest rates utilizing
a sensitivity analysis that measures the potential impact on earnings, fair values, and cash flows based on a
hypothetical 10%:change (increase and decrease) in foreign currency rates and interest rates. We used
December 31, 2009 market rates to perform a sensitivity analysis separately for each of our market risk
exposures. The estimates assume instantaneous, parallel shifts in interest rate yield curves and exchange rates.
We determined, through this analysis, that the potential decrease in net current assets from a hypothetical 10%
adverse change in quoted foreign currency exchange rates would be $9 million at December 31, 2009
compared with $5 million at December 31, 2008. There are inherent limitations in the sensitivity analysis,
primarily due to assumptions that foreign exchange rate movements are linear and instantaneous. The effect of
a hypothetical 10% change in market rates of interest on interest expense would be almost nil at December 31,
2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively, which represents the effect on interest expense related to the
unhedged portion of the Term Loan. The hedged portion of the Term Loan is not affected by changes in
market rates of interest as it has effectively been converted to a fixed interest rate through interest rate swaps.

66



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as-of December 31, 2009. Our independent registered public accounting firm,
Deloitte & Touche LLP, audited our financial statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2009 which is included below

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholdérs of
Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and subsidiar-
ies (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
cash flows, comprehensive loss, and invested equity/shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index
at Item 15. We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for these
financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule and an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial
statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision
of, the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions,
and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
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statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with: authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the
internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations. of the Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 3, 2010
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3 .. ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Net revenue . . . .. U S
Cost and expenses o
Cost of revenue . DU SR e
Selling, general and administrative . . ......... e
Marketing . ............. e e
Depreciation and amortization' ... ....... e
Iﬁlpairment of goodwill and intangible assets ... .......
Total operating expenses ........... e e
Operating (loss) income . . . ................ DU ..
Other (eXpense) income ' ‘ '
Net interest expense. ... ..... e e e e e e e
Gain on extinguishment of debt .. . ....... .. e

Netloss . ... i i,
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest . . . .

Net loss attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. ........

Net loss attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. common
shareholders. . .......... ... ... ... .............

Net loss per share attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
common shareholders — basic and diluted:

Net loss per share attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
common shareholders. . ......... ... .. ... .....

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007

$ 738 % 870 % - 859

138 _ , 163 157

257 272 301

215 310 302

69 66 57

332 297 —

1,011 1,108 817

273) (238) 42

(&Y)) - (63) (83)

2 —_ —

(55) : (’63) (83)

(328) (301) 41)

9 ) 43

(337) 299) (84)

— — @

$ (337) $ 299 $ (85)

Period from

Years Ended December 31, J]‘;lg,cel,%bze?.oglt’o
2009 2008 2007

$ 337) $ (299) $ (42)

$ 4.01) $ (3.58) $ (0.51)

84,073,593 83,342,333 81,600,478

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
.CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS .
(in millions, except .share data)

December 31, December 31,

2009 2008
Assets
Current assets: ’ oo
Cash and cash equivalents . . . ... ... unn e v $ 89 $ 31
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1 and $1, : '
COTESPECHIVELY) . o e e 55 58
Prepaidexpenses. . .......... . i i i P , 17 17
Deferred iNCOME taXES, CUITENE . . v o v v v e v e e e e e e e e et eee e — 6
Due from Travelport, net. ......................... e s 3 .10
*Other current assets. . . ... e 5 6
Total current assets . . .. ............. FE P 169 128
Property and equipment, D€t . . . . ... ...veuneunnenn.n e 181 190
Goodwill . ... e » 713 , 949
Trademarks and trade names . . . . ... ... ottt e 155 232
Other intangible assets,net . . ............... S 19 34
Deferred inCOme taxes, NON-CUITENL . « . o o o o v v v v e et e e e et eeeee e ‘ 10 9
Other NON-CUITENt ASSELS .. . . . v v oo v o et eennn e 47 , 48
Total ASSEES. . ... oottt $1,294 $1,590
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - \ C
Current liabilities:
CAccounts payable ... ... % 30 $ 37
~ Accrued merchant payable . ............ . ... .. ... ..., P ‘ 219 . 205
ACCIUEA EXPEIISES © + & v v v et e e e e e e e ; © 113 106
Deferred INCOME . . . . ittt ettt e e e e 31 23
Term loan, CUITENL. . . . . oottt ettt e et ettt e et e et et e iee e 21 6 "
Other current liabilities . . ... ... ..o, . T 5 9
Total current liabilities . ... ... ...t i i e e 419 - 386
Term loan, non-current . .. ........ ... ... ..., e 556 587
Line of credit . .. ... it i i 42 21
Tax sharing liability ................ R 109 109
Unfavorable COMracts . . . . . ..ottt ittt e e e e 10 13
Other non-current liabilities ... ........ .. i iinn.. e e 28 36
Total Liabilities ' . . . oottt e e ' 1,164 1,152
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 11) '
Shareholders’ Equity:
“Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100 shares authorized, no shares 1ssued or
outstanding . . . .. ... e e — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 140, 000,000 shares authorized, 83,831,561 _ " ‘
and 83,345,437 shares issued and outstanding, respectively.............. ' 1 1
. Treasury. stock, at cost, 24,521 and 18,055 shares held, respectlvely e — —
Additional paid incapital ........... .. ... i e 922 - 908
Accumulateddeﬁ<:1t........................................;..: (787) - (450)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (net of accumulated tax benefit of $2 ‘
and $2, 1eSpeCtiVElY) . . o oo it e ‘ (6) (21
Total Shareholders’ Equity ................ Meees i R, e 130 : 438
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . .. ......................... $1,294  $1,590

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
“(in millions)

Operating activities:
Nt 108S . o o et e e e e e e e e e e e
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Gain on extinguishment of debt. . . .. ... ... ... .. L e
Depreciation and amortization. . . ... ... . e e
Impairment of goodwill and 1ntang1b1e ASSEES . i e e
NOD-CaSh IEVEIIUE . . . . . . ot it i e e e et e e
‘Non-cash net interest EXPENSE . . « .« o . v v vttt et e e e e e
Deferred income taxes . . . . . .. ..t e e
Stock compensation .. ........ ... ... e e e
Provision forbad debts . ...........0. .. . ... e
Deconsolidation of noncontrolling interest . . ... .........c.ctttiinereeeeeeen...
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable . . . . . e e e e e e e e e e
Deferred inCoOme . . . . ... e
Due to/from Travelport, Det. . . . . o i v vttt e e e i e e
Accrued merchant payable . .. ... ... .. ...
Accounts payable,.accrued expenses and other current liabilities . . ... ..............

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .. ......... ... ... . ... . .. . ...

Investing activities:
Property and equipment additions . . . ... ... ... i e e e
Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash assumed by buyer . . .. ..................
Proceeds from assetsales. . .. ......... .. . ... . ... N
Net cash (used in) investing activities . . . . ... ... ... ... . ... ... . . . .. i,
Financing activities:
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering costs. . . ... ...,
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of issmance costs . . . . .. ... ... .. L aa L,
Repayment of note payable to Travelport . .. ......... ... ..
Dividend to Travelport. . . . .. .. .. .. e e e
Capital contributions from Travelport. . . .. ... ... i i e e
Capital lease payments and principal payments onthe term loan . ...................
Payments to extinguish debt . . . . .. ... ... L e
Advances to Travelport . .. ................ It
Payments to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations upon vesting of equity-based awards
Payments on tax sharing liability . . . ... ... ... ... .. L
Proceeds from line of Credit . . . .. ..ottt
Payments on line of credit . . . .. ... .. ...

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities .. ... ........ .. ... ... .. .......
Effects of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash'equivalents ......................

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . ............. RN e
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... . L.

Cash and cash equivalents atend of period . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ...

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income tax payments (refunds), net . . . ... ... ...
Cash interest payments, net of capitalized interest of almost nil, $1 and $3, respectively . .. .
Non-cash investing activity:
Capital expenditures incurred not yetpaid. . . . ............. e e

Non-cash allocation of purchase price related to the Blackstone Acquisition. . ... .............

Non-cash financing activity:

Non-cash capital contributions and distributions to Travelport . ............... e

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended
December 31,

2009

2008

2007

$(337) $(299) $ (84)

) — —
69 66 57
332 297 —
3) 3) @)
15 18 15
7 @ . 38
14 15 8
1 = 2
- - o
4 — @
9 — 8
6 6 2
4 3 34
(11) 3 4
3) ©)] 1
105 76 . 69
CORNCONRC:)
T an
_ — 4
@3)  (58) (80)
- —
— 595
— — (360
— (09
- — 2
(©) ™ 3)
®) — —
—  — an
- n =
an o —
100 69 152
81)  (49) (151)
® @ 13
2 @4 5
58 6 7
31 25 18
$ 8 $ 31 $ 25
$ 13 @5$ 11
$ 42§ 47 $ 74
—$ 2% 4
- — % 7
— $@814)



ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC. ;
"‘CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS *
< (in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

, _ 2009 2008 2007
Netloss................ e e e e e $(337) $(299) $(84)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of income taxes . . .................. : )

Currency translation ad_]ustment .............................. e 6 @) @)
Unrealized gains (losses) on floating to fixed 1nterest rate swaps (net of tax beneﬁt
of $0, $0 and $2, respectively) .. ... R S 9 ® _@®
Other comprehensive income (I0SS) . . .. . ..ottt ii it e . 15 (15) (8)
Comprehensive (loss) . .................. AP .. (322) (314 (92
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest.............. — — 1)

Comprehensive (loss) attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. . ............... $(322) - $(314)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INVESTED EQUITY/SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions, except share data)

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Shareholders

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
Net Unrealized C Total
Cendant or (Losses) Gains_from Invested
Travelport C Stock Additional Interest  Foreign B Equity/
. Net _ommondiock — pyidin Accumulated . Rate  Currency Non-controlling Shareholders’
) Investment ~Shares Amount Capital Deficit - Swaps Translation Interest * Equity
Balance at December 31,2006 ... ... .. $1,265 - - - - — $2 - $1,267
Capital distribution to Travelport and other, : o :

T (854) _ - - — — — — (854)
Sale of subsidiary to noncontrolling interest . . 13 _ = — — - — $12 25
Issuance of common stock to-Travelport in R R

connection with Reorganization . ... ... (381) 48912526 $1 $380 — — — —_ -
Issuance of common stock in connection with ‘ i

initial public offering, net of offering

COSES « v v v vt v et e e — 34,000,000 — 477 — — — — 477
Dividend paid to Travelport . . ... ... ... — - - — $(109) — — - (109)
Contributions from Travelport . . . .. ... .. — — - 30 — —_— — — 30
Amortization of equity-based compensation

awards granted to employees, net of shares

withheld to satisfy employee tax

withholding obligations upon vesting . . . . — - - 7 — - — — 7
Net loss from January 1, 2007 through

July 17,2007 . . ..o 43) - - — — — — — 43)
Net (loss) income from July 18, 2007 through .

December 31,2007 . ............. — — — — (42) — — 1 41
Restricted stock granted . ... ......... — 61,795 — — — — — — -
Common shares issued upon vesting of

restricted stock units . . . ... .. ... ... — 142,440 — — — — — — —
Common shares withheld to satisfy employee

tax withholding obligations upon vesting of

restricted stock . . .. ... — 2,266) — —_— — —_ — — —_
Restricted stock forfeited. . . . .. ... .... — 6,586) — — _— — — — —
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax benefit

of $2. . .. — - = — - $@ 4) — ®)
Deconsolidation of noncontroiling interest . . . — - = = — = = (13 (13)
Balance at December 31,2007. . . ... ... — 83,107,909 1 894 (151 [C)] 2 — 738
Netloss . .. vv i — — — — (299) — — — (299)
Amortization of equity-based compensation )

awards granted to employees, net of shares

withheld to satisfy employee tax

withholding obligations upon vesting . . . . — - = 14 — — — — 14
Common shares issued upon vesting of

restricted stock units . . . ... ... ... — 233,878 — —_ — —_ —_ — —_
Common shares issued upon lapse of

restrictions on deferred stock units . . . . . . — 12,853 — — — — — — —
Common shares withheld to satisfy employee

tax withholding obligations upon vesting of

restricted stock . . . ... ... ... — 2617y — — — — — — —
Restricted stock forfeited. . . . . ... ... .. — 6,586) — —_ — — — — —
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax benefit

of $0. . ... .. — - = - — _® M = (15)
Balance at December 31,2008. . . . .. ... — 83345437 §1 $908 $(450) $312) $O) = $ 438

See Notes to Corisolidated Financial Statements.
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INVESTED EQUITY/SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)
(in millions, except share data)

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Shareholders

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
_Income (Loss) :
~ Net Unrealized ) Total
Cendant or ‘ (osses) Gains from ) Invested
Travelport C Stock Additional’ Interest Foreign - ' Equity/
Net . -ommon SI0CX _ paidin . Accumulated Rate Currency Non-controlling Shareholders’
Investment Shares =~ Amount Capital Deficit Swaps Translation Interest Equity
Balance at December 31,2008. . . . . .. .. — 83345437 $1 $908 $(450) $(12) $9) — $438
Netloss . .......... ... ..., - —_ = — (337) — — e (337)
Amortization of equity-based compensation
awards granted to employees, net of shares
withheld to satisfy employee tax :
withholding obligations upon vesting ... . . — - = 14 . — — — ) — 14
Common shares issued upon vesting of
restricted stock units . . ... ... .. .. .. — 425068  — —_ — — — — —
Common shares issued upon exercise of stock .
Opoms. . . . ... ... - 67,522 — — — — — — —
Common shares withheld to satisfy employee :
tax withholding obligations upon vesting of :
restricted stock . . ... ..., ... ... —_ (4453 — —_ — — — —_ —
Restricted stock forfeited. . . ... ....... — 2,013) — — — — — — —
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
benefitof $0 . . .. .............. — - = = — 9 6 15
Balance at December 31,2009 . . ... ... 83,831,561 $1 $922 $(787) $(3 $(3) $ 130

i
I
I
|
I
|
I
|

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation
Description of the Business

Orbitz, Inc. (“Orbitz”) was formed in early 2000 by American Airlines, Inc., Continental Airlines, Inc.,
Delta Air Lines, Inc., Northwest Airlines, Inc. and United Air Lines, Inc. (the “Founding Airlines”). In
November 2004, Orbitz was acquired by Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”), whose online travel distribution
businesses included the CheapTickets and HotelClub brands. In February 2005, Cendant acquired ebookers
Limited, an international online travel brand which currently has operations in 12 countries throughout Europe
(“ebookers™). .

On August 23, 2006, Travelport Limited (“Travelport™), which consisted of Cendant’s travel distribution
services businesses, including the businesses that currently comprise Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., was acquired by
affiliates of The Blackstone Group (“Blackstone”) and Technology Crossover Ventures (“TCV”). We refer to
this acquisition as the “Blackstone Acquisition.”

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on June 18, 2007 and was formed to be the parent
company of the business-to-consumer travel businesses of Travelport, including Orbitz, ebookers and Travel
Acquisition Corporation Pty. Ltd. (“HotelClub”) and the related subsidiaries and affiliates of those businesses.
We are the registrant as a result of the completion of the initial public offering (“IPO”) of 34,000,000 shares
of our common stock on July 25, 2007. At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, Travelport and ‘
investment funds that own and/or control Travelport’s ultimate parent company beneficially owned approxi-
mately 57% and 58% of our outstanding common stock, respectively.

We are a leading global online travel company that uses innovative technology to enable leisure and
business travelers to search for and book a broad range of travel products and services. Our brand portfolio
includes Orbitz, CheapTickets, The Away Network, and Orbitz for Business in the Americas; ebookers in
Europe; and HotelClub based in Sydney, Australia, which has operations globally. We provide customers with
the ability to book a comprehensive set of travel products and services from suppliers worldwide, including air
travel, hotels, vacation packages, car rentals, cruises, travel insurance and destination services such as ground
transportation, event tickets and tours.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the accounts of Orbitz, ebookers and
HotelClub and the related subsidiaries and affiliates of those businesses, collectively doing business as Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. These entities became wholly owned subsidiaries of ours as part of an intercompany
restructuring that was completed on July 18, 2007 (the “Reorganization™) in connection with the IPO. Prior to
the TPO, these entities had operated as indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries of Travelport. Travelport is
beneficially owned by affiliates of Blackstone, TCV and One Equity Partners.

Prior to the IPO, we had not operated as an independent standalone company. As a result, our
consolidated financial statements for the period in 2007 prior to the IPO have been carved out of the historical
financial statements of Travelport and do not necessarily reflect what our consolidated financial statements
would have been had we operated as a separate, standalone entity during that period.

The legal entity of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. was formed in connection with the Reorganization, and prior
to the Reorganization there was no single capital structure upon which to calculate historical loss per share
information. Accordingly, loss per share information is not presented on our consolidated statements of
operations for periods prior to the Reorganization.

Prior to the IPO, certain corporate general and administrative expenses, including those related to
executive management, information technology, tax, insurance, accounting, legal, treasury services and certain
employee benefits, were allocated to us by Travelport based on forecasted revenue or directly billed based on
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actual usage. In addition, certain of our revenue streams were related to contractual arrangements entered into
by Travelport on behalf of one or more of its subsidiaries. As.a result, portions of the reported revenue have
been determined through intercompany relationships with other Travelport companies. Management believes
these allocations are reasonable. However, the associated revenues and expenses recorded in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations prior to the IPO may not be indicative of the actual revenues and
expenses that would have been reported had we been operating as a standalone enuty

- On July 5, 2007, we sold Tecnovate eSolutions Private Limited (‘‘Tecnovate”), an Indian services
organization, to Travelport. Following this sale, we continued to consolidate the results of operations of -
Tecnovate since we were the primary beneficiary of this variable interest entity (“VIE”). Our variable interest
was the result of the terms of a contractual relationship we had with Tecnovate.

On December 3, 2007, Travelport subsequently sold Tecnovate, at which time we were no longer
considered the primary beneficiary of this VIE. Accordingly, net income attributable to noncontrollmg interest
is reported in our consolidated financial statements for the period from July 5, 2007 to December 3, 2007
since although we were the primary beneficiary of - Tecnovate, we did not have an ownership interest in. the
VIE. We no longer consolidate the results of operations, of Tecnovate following the sale on December 3, 2007
(see Note 18 — Related Party Transactlohs)

2, Summary"of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been "prepared in accordance with accounting
principles’ generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) All 1ntercompany balances and transactions have -
been eliminated: in the consohdated ﬁnanc1al statements. :

Use of Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make
certain estimates and assumptions. Our estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and‘
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of our consolidated ﬁnanc1al
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expense during any period. - ' ‘

Our significant estimates include assessing the collectability of accounts receivable and other non-current
assets, sales allowances, the realization: of deferred tax assets, amounts that may be due under the tax sharing -
agreement, the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations, and 1mpa1rment of
tangible and. 1ntang1ble assets. Actual results could dlffer from our estimates. B '

Foreign Currency Translation

Balance, sheet accounts of our operauons outs1de of the U.S. are translated from forelgn currencies into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rates as of the consohdated balance sheet dates. Revenues and expenses are’
translated at average exchange rates during the penod Foreign currency. translation gains or losses are
included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses resulting from
foreign currency transactions, which are denominated in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency,
are 1ncluded in our consolidated statements of - operat10ns

Reveniie Recognition

We recognize revenue when it is earned and realizable, when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, services-have been: rendered; the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability. is reasonably assured.
We record revenue earned net of all amounts paid to:our suppliers under both our merchant and retail models.

76



ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

We offer customers the ability to book airline, hotel, car rental and -other travel products and services
through our various brands; including Orbitz, CheapTickets, ebookers and HotelClub. These products and -
services are made available:to our customers for booking on a stand-alone basis or as part of a dynamic
vacation package. We have two primary types of contractual arrangements with our vendors, which we refer to
herein as the “merchant” and “retail” models.

Under the merchant model, we generate revenue for our services based on the difference between the
total amount the customer pays. for the travel product and the negotiated net rate plus estimated taxes that the
supplier charges for that travel product. Customers generally pay for reservations in advance, at the time of
booking. Initially, we record these customer receipts as accrued merchant payables and either deferred income
or net revenue, depending on the travel product. In the merchant model, we do not take on credit risk with the
customer, however we are subject to fraud risk; we have the ability to determine the price; we are not
responsible for the actual delivery of the flight, hotel room or car rental; we take no inventory risk; we have
no ability to determine or change the products or services delivered; and the customer chooses the supplier.

We recognize net revenue under the merchant model when we have no further obligations to the
customer. For merchant air transactions, this is at the time of booking. For merchant hotel transactions and
merchant car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or customer pick-up, respectively.
The timing of revenue recognition is different for merchant air travel because our pnmary service to the
customer is fulfilled at the time of booking.

We accrue for the cost of merchant hotel and merchant car transactions based on amounts we expect to
be invoiced by suppliers. If we do not receive an invoice within a certain period of time, generally within six
months, or the invoice received is less than the accrued amount, we reverse a portion of the accrued cost when
we determine it is not probable that we will be required to pay the supplier, based on our historical experience
and contract terms. This would result in an increase in net revenue and a decrease to the accrued merchant
payable.

Under the retail model, we pass reservations booked by our customers to the travel supplier for a
commission. Under this model, we do not take on credit risk with the customer; we are not the primary
obligor with the customer; we have no latitude in deternﬁning pricing; we take no inventory risk; we have no
ability to determine or change the products or services delivered; and the customer chooses the supplier.

We recognize net revenue under the retail model when the reservation is made, secured by a customer
with a credit card and we have no further obligations to the customer. For air transactions, this is at the time
of booking. For hotel transactions and car transactions, net revenue is recognized at the time of check-in or
customer pick-up, respectively, net of an allowance for cancelled reservations. The timing of recognition is
different for retail hotel and retail car transactions than for retail air travel because unlike air travel where the
reservation is secured by a customer’s credit card at booking, car rental bookings and hotel bookings are not
secured by a customer’s credit card until the pick-up date and check-in date, respectively. Allowances for
cancelled reservations primarily relate to cancellations that do not occur through our website; but instead occur
directly through the supplier of the travel product. The amount of the allowance is determined based on our
historical experience. The majority of commissions earned under the retail model are based upon contractual
agreements.

Dynamic vacation packages offer customers the ability to book a combination of travel products. For
example, travel products booked in a dynamic vacation package may include a combination of air, hotel and
car reservations. We recognize net revenue for the entire package when the customer uses the reservation,
which generally occurs on the same day for each travel product included in the dynamic vacation package.

Under both the merchant and retail models, we may, depending upon the brand and the travel product,
charge our customers a service fee for booking the travel reservation. We recognize revenue for service fees at
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the time we recognize the net revenue for the corresponding travel product. We also may. receive override
commissions from suppliers if we meet certain contractual volume thresholds. These commissions are .
recognized-when the amount of the commissions becomes fixed or determinable, which is generally upon
notification by the respective travel supplier.

 We utilize global distribution systems (“GDS”) services provided by Galileo, Worldspan and Amadeus IT
Group (“Amadeus”). Under our GDS service agreements, we earn revenue in the form of an incentive payment
for air, car and hotel segments that are processed through a GDS. Revenue is recognized for these incentive
payments at the time the travel reservation is processed through the GDS, which is generally at the time of
booking.

We also generate other revenue, which is primarily comprised of revenue from advertising, including
sponsoring links on our websites, and travel insurance. Advertising revenue is derived primarily from the
delivery of advertisements on our websites and is recognized either at the time of display of each individual
advertisement, or ratably over the advertising delivery period, depending on the terms of the advertising
contract. Revenues generated from sponsoring links and travel insurance revenue are both recognized upon
notification from the alliance partner that a transaction has occurred. o

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue is primarily comprised of direct costs incurred to generate revenue, including costs to
operate our customer service call centers, credit card processing fees, and other costs such as ticketing and
fulfillment, customer refunds and charge-backs, affiliate commissions and connectivity and other processing
costs. These costs are generally variable in nature and are primarily driven by transaction volume.

Marketing Expense

Our marketing expense is-primarily comprised of online marketing costs, such'as:search and banner
advertising, and offline marketing costs, such as television, radio:and print advertising. Online advertising
‘expense is recognized based on the terms of the individual agreements, which are generally over the ratio of
the number of impressions delivered over the total number of contracted impressions, or pay-per-click, or on a
straight-line basis over the term of the contract. Offline marketing expense is recognized in the period in
which it is incurred. Our online marketing costs are significantly greater than our offline marketing costs.

Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated based upon the temporary differences between the financial
statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using the combined federal and state effective tax rates
that are applicable to us in a given year. The defé_rr‘éd tax assets are recorded net of a"ivaluation allowance
when, based on the weight of available evidence, we believe it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. Increases to the valuation allowance
are recorded as increases to the provision for income taxes. As a result of our adoption of updated guidance
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) regarding business combinations, effective
January 1, 2009, to the extent that any valuation allowances established by us in purchase accounting are
reduced, these reductions are recorded through our consolidated statements of operations. These reductions
were previously recorded through goodwill. The realization of the deferred tax assets, net of a valuation
allowance, is primarily dependent on estimated future taxable income. A change in our estimate of future
taxable income may require an increase or decrease to the valuation allowance.

‘For the period January 1, 2007 to February 7, 2007, the operations of Travelport. were included inthe
consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2007 for Orbitz
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Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries.'However, the provision for income taxes was computed as if we filed our
U.S. federal, state and foreign income tax returns on a “Separate Company” basis without the inclusion of the
operations of Travelport. Furthermore, the Separate Company deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
calculated using our tax rates on a Separate Company basis. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are based :
upon estimated differences between the book and tax bases of our assets and liabilities as of December 31,
2007. Our tax assets and liabilities may be adjusted in connection with the ultimate finalization of Travelport’s
income tax returns

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the provision for U.S. federal, state and
foreign income taxes and the calculation of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were based solely on the
operations of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We measure derivatives at fair value and recognize them i in our consolidated balance sheets as assets or
liabilities, depending on our rights or obhgauons under the applicable derivative contract. For our derivatives
designated as fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of both the derivative instrument and the hedged
item are recorded in earnings. For our derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portions of
changes in fair value of the derivative are reported in other comprehensive income and are subsequently
reclassified into earnings when the hedged item affects earnings. Changes in fair value of derivative
instruments not designated as hedging instruments, and ineffective portions of hedges, are recognized in
earnings in the current period.

We manage interest rate exposure by utrhzmg interest rate swaps to achieve a desired mix of fixed and
variable rate debt. As of December 31, 2009, we had two interest rate swaps that effectively converted
$200 million of the $600 million term loan facility from a variable to a fixed interest rate (see Note 14 —
Derivative Financial Instruments). We determined that our interest rate swaps qualified for hedge accounting
and were highly effective as hedges. Accordingly, we have recorded the change in fair value of our interest
rate swaps in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

We have entered into forergn currency forward contracts to manage exposure to changes in foreign
currencies ass001ated with receivables, payables and forecasted earnings. These forward contracts did not
qualify for hedge accounting treatment. As a result, the changes in fair values of the foreign currency forward
contracts were recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of
operations.

We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes ‘We require that the hedges or
derivative financial instruments be effective in managing the interest rate risk or foreign currency risk exposure
that they are designated’ to hedge Hedges that qualify for hedge accounting are formally designated as such at
the inception of the contract. When the terms of an underlyrng transaction are modified, or when the
underlying hedged item ceases to exist, resulting in some 1neffect1veness the change in the fair value of the
derivative instrument will be included in earnings. Additionally, any derivative instrument used for risk
management that becomes ineffective is ‘marked-to-market each period. We believe that our credit risk has
been mitigated by entering into these agreements with major financial institutions. Net interest differentials to
be paid or rece1ved under our interest rate swaps are 1ncluded in interest expense as incurred or earned.

Concentration of:Credit Risk

Our cash and cash equlvalents are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk. We maintain cash
and cash equivalent balances with financial institutions that, in some cases, are in excess of Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporatlon insurance limits or are foreign institutions. Our cash and cash equivalents include -
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interest bearing bank account balances, U.S. treasury funds and investment grade 1nst1tutrona1 money market
accounts. : : ' L

Cash and Cash Equzvalents

We consider highly liquid investments purchased with an orrgmal matunty of three months or less to be
cash equ1va1ents These short-term investments are stated at cost, whlch approximates market value. ‘

Allowance Jor Doubtful Accounts

~ Our accounts receivable are reported in our consohdated balance sheets net of an allowance for doubtful
accounts. We provide for estimated bad debts based on our assessment . of our ability to realize receivables,
considering historical collection experience, the general economic envrronment and specific customer 1nforma—
tion. When we determine that a receivable is not collectable the account is written-off. Bad debt expense is.,
recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in our consohdated statements of operations. We ..
recorded bad debt expense of $1 million, almost nil and $2 million during the years ended December 31
2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectlvely

Property and Eqmpment Net

Property and equipment is recorded at cost, net of’ accumulated depreciation and amortization. We
depreciate and amortize property and equipment over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The estimated:useful lives by asset category are: ’

Asset Category ' a ) : ' Estimated Useful Life

Leasehold 1mprovements. s Shorter of asset’s useful life or non-cancelable lease term
Capitalized software. . .............. 3 - 10 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment . . . ... 3 -7 years

- We capitalize the costs of software developed for internal use when the preliminary project stage of the
application has been completed and it is probable that the project will be completed and used to perform the
function inténded. Amortlzatlon commences when the software is placed into service. - :

We also capltahze 1nterest on 1ntema1 software development projects. The amount of interest capltahzed
is computed by applying our weighted average borrowing rate to qualifying expenditures. We capitalized
almost nil, $1 million and $3 million of interest during the years ended December 31, 2009 December 31
2008 and:-December 31, 2007 respectively. ‘ '

We evaluate the recoverabrlrty of our long l1ved assets, 1nclud1ng property and equrpment and frmte—hved
intangible assets, when, circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable,
This analysis is performed by comparing the carrying values of the assets to the current and expected future
cash flows to be generated from these assets on an undiscounted basis. If this analysis indicates that.the
carrying value of an asset is not. recoverable the carrying | value is reduced to fair value through an 1mpa1rment
charge in our consohdated statements of operatlons

Goodwill, Trademarks and Other’fntangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the underlying assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of a business. We- assign goodwill to reporting units that are
expected to benefit from the busmeSS combination as.of the acqu1smon date. Goodwill is not subject to
amortization: .
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Our indefinite-lived intangible assets include our trademarks and trade names, which are not subject to .
amortization. Our finite-lived intangible assets primarily include our customer and vendor relationships and are
amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally 4 to 8 years, using the straight-line method. Our
intangible assets primarily relate to the acquisition of entities accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting and are estimated by management based on the fair value of assets received.

We assess the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever events occur and circumstances change indicating potential impairment.
We perform our annual impairment testing of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets in the fourth
quarter of each year, in connection with our annual planning process. '

We assess goodwill for possible impairment using a two-step process. The first step identifies if there is
potential goodwill impairment. If step one indicates that an impairment may exist, a second step is performed
to measure the amount of the goodwill impairment, if any. Goodwill impairment exists when the estimated fair
value of goodwill is less than its carrying value. If impairment exists, the carrying value of the goodwill is
reduced to fair value through an impairment charge in our consolidated statements of operations.

For purposes of goodwill impairment testing, we estimate the fair value of our reporting units to which
goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including market and income based
approaches, and relevant data available through and as of the testing date. The market approach is a valuation
method in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual transactions and on asking prices
for similar assets. Under the market -approach, the valuation process is essentially that of comparison and
correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets. The income approach is a method in which fair
value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over its useful life,
including residual value cash flows. These cash flows are then discounted to their present value equivalents
using a rate of return that accounts for the relative risk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and
for the time value of money. Variations of the income approach are used to estimate certain of the intangible
asset fair values.

We assess our trademarks and trade names for impairment by comparing their carrying value to their
estimated fair value. Impairment exists when the estimated fair value of the trademark or trade name is less
than its. carrying value. If impairment exists, then the carrying value is reduced to fair value through an _
impairment charge recorded to our consolidated statements of operations. We use a market or-income valuation
approach, as described above, to estimate fair values of the relevant trademarks and trade names.

Tax Sharing Liability

We have a liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to a tax sharing agreement
between Orbitz and the Founding Airlines. The agreement governs the allocation of tax benefits resulting from
a taxable exchange that took place in connection with the Orbitz initial public offering in December 2003
(“Orbitz TPO”). As a result of this taxable exchange, the Founding Airlines incurred a taxable gain. The
taxable exchange caused Orbitz to have additional future tax deductions for depreciation and amortization due
to the increased tax basis of its assets. The additional tax deductions for depreciation and amortization may
reduce the amount of taxes we are required to pay in future years. For each tax period during the term of the
tax sharing agreement, we are obligated to pay the Founding Airlines a significant percentage of the amount
of the tax benefit realized as a result of the taxable exchange. The tax sharing agreement commenced upon
consummation of the Orbitz IPO and continues until all tax benefits have been utilized.

‘We use discounted cash flows in calculating and recognizing the tax sharing liability. We review the
calculation of the tax sharing liability on a quarterly basis and make revisions to our estimated timing of
payments when appropriate. We also assess whether there are any significant changes, such as changes in
timing of payments and tax rates, that could materially affect the present value of the tax sharing liability.
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Although the expected gross remaining payments that may be due under this.agreement are $214 million as of
December 31, 2009, the timing of payments may change. Any changes in timing of payments are recognized
prospectively as accretions to the tax sharing liability in our consolidated balance sheets and non-cash interest
expense in our consolidated statements of operations. ‘ '

" At the time of the Blackstone Acquisition, Cendant (now Avis Budget Group, Inc.) indemnified Travelport
and us for a portion of the amounts due under the tax sharing agreement. As a result we have a $37 million
receivable included in other non-current assets in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008. Cendant is obligated to pay us this amount when it receives the tax benefit. We regularly
monitor the financial condition of Cendant to assess the collectability of this receivable.

Equity-Based C_binpen&ation

We measure equity-based compensation cost at fair value and recognize the corresponding compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the service period during which awards are expected to vest. We include
equity-based compensation expense in the selling, general and administrative line of our consolidated
statements of operations. The fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock unitsis determined based on
the average of the high and low price of our common stock on the date of grant., The fair value of stock -
options is determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation-model. The amount of equity-
based compensation expense recorded each period is net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate forfeitures based
on historical employee turnover rates, the terms of the award issued and assumptions regarding future
employee turnover.

Recently Issued Accountmg Pronouncements -

In September 2006 the FASB issued guidance. that defines fair value, establishes a framework for.
measuring fair value and expands disclosure about fair value measurements. This guidance, as it applies to
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are recognized at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, was -
effective beginning on January 1, 2009. Our adoption of this guidance for our non-financial assets and ron- -
financial liabilities did not have a material impact on our consolidated: financial position or results of
operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued updated guidance that establishes pﬁnciples and requirements for the
reporting entity in a business combination, including recognition and measurement in the financial statements
of the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any non- controlhng intetest in the acquiree.
This guidance also establishes disclosure requirements to enable financial statement users to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of the business combination. We adopted -this guidance-on January 1, 2009. Our
adoption of this guidance will not have an effect on our consolidated financigl statements unless we enter into
a business combination or reduce our deferred tax valuatlon allowance that was established in purchase
accounting. Prior to our adoption of this. guidance, any reductions-in. our remaining deferred income tax
valuation allowance that was originally established in purchase accounting were recorded through goodwill.
Beginning January 1, 2009, these reductions are recorded through our consolidated statements of operations. ;

In December 2007, the FASB issued updated guidance that establishes accounting and reporting standards
for the noncontrolling interest (previously referred to as minority interest) in a-subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. This guidance requires-that noncontrolling interests be classified as a separate
component of equity in the consolidated financial statements and requires that the amount of net income
attributable to noncontrolling interests be included in consolidated net income. This guidance was effective
January 1, 2009 on a prospective basis, except for the presentation. and disclosure requirements, which are
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applied retrospectively. Our adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated
financial position or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued guidance that changes the disclosure requirements for derivative
instruments and hedging activities previously identified. This guidance provides for enhanced disclosures
regarding (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related -
hedged items are accounted for and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2009. Our
adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations. The applicable disclosures are included in Note 14 — Derivative Financial Instruments.

In June 2008, the FASB issued guidance that states that unvested share-based payment awards that
contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether paid or unpaid) are participating
securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share using the two-class method. This
guidance also requires all prior period earnings per share data presented to be adjusted retrospectively. We
adopted this guidance on January 1,.2009, and it did not have an 1mpact on our consolidated financial
statements or calculation of earnings per share. '

In April 2009, the FASB issued guidance that requires disclosures about the fair value of financial
instruments for interim reporting periods and in annual financial statements: This guidance was effective for
interim reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. Our adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on
our consolidated financial position or results of operatlons The apphcable disclosures are included in
Note 19 — Fair Value Measurements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued guidance that establishes general standards of accounting for and
disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or
available to be issued. This guidance sets forth the period after the balance sheet date during which
management of a reporting entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential
recognition or disclosure in the financial statements, the circumstances under which an entity should recognize
events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements, and the disclosures that
an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. This guidance -
was-effective for interim or-annual periods ending after June 15, 2009. Our adoption of this guldance did not
have an impact on our consolidated financial position or results: of operations.

In June 2009, the FASB issued The FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ and the Hierarchy of
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, which identifies the sources of accounting principles and the
framework for selecting principles used in the preparation of financial statements of nongovernmental entities
that are presented in conformity with GAAP in the United States. The new codification was effective for
interim_ and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. Our adoptlon of the new codification did not
have an impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

“In August 2009, the FASB issued guidance that addresses the impact of transfer restrictions on the fair f
value of a liability and the ability to use the fair value of a liability that is traded as an asset as an input to the
valuation of the underlying liability. The guidance also clarifies the application of certain valuation techniques,
mcludmg when to make adjustments to fair value. This guidance was effective in the fourth quarter of 2009.
The adoption of this guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In September 2009, the FASB issued guidance that allows companies to allocate arrangement consider-
ation-in a multiple element arrangement:in a.way that better reflects the transaction economics. It provides
another alternative for establishing fair value for a deliverable when vendor specific objective evidence or third
party evidence for deliverables in an arrangement cannot be determined. When this evidence cannot be
determined, companies will be required to develop a best estimate of the. selling price to separate deliverables
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and allocate arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. The guidance also expands the:
disclosure requirements to require that an entity provide both qualitative and quantitative information about the
significant judgments made in applying this guidance. This guidance is effective on a prospective basis for
revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified on or after January 1, 2011. We are currently
assessing the impact of this guidance on our financial position and results of operations.

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance that requires expanded disclosures about fair value
measurements. This guidance adds new requirements for disclosures about transfers into and out of Levels-1
and 2 and separate disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements relating to Level 3
measurements. It also clarifies existing fair value disclosures about the level of di's'ag'gregation and about inputs
and valuation techniques used to measure fair value. This guldance is effective for the first reporting period
beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the requirement to prov1de ‘the Level 3 activity of purchases,
sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis, which will be effective for fiscal years begmnmg after
December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently assessing the impact of
this guidance on our financial posmon and results of operatlons

3. Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We assess. the carrying value of-goodwill and other mdefinlte lived intangible assets for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever events occur and circumstances change indicating potential impairment.
We also evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets, including our finite-lived intangible assets, when
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable See Note 2 — - Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies for further 1nfonnat10n .on our accountlng policy for goodwﬂl other’
indefinite-lived intangible assets and finite-lived mtanglble assets.

2009

During the three months ended March 31, 2009, we experienced a significant decline in our stock price,
and economic and industry conditions continued to weaken. These factors, coupled with an increase in
competitive pressures, indicated potential impairment of our goodwill and trademarks and trade names. As a
result, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the first quarter of 2009, we
performed an interim impairment test of goodwill and trademarks and trade names.

For purposes of testing goodwill for potentlal impairment, we estlmated the fa1r ‘value of the applicable
reporting units to which all goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation methodologles including
market and income based approaches, and relevant data available through’ and as of March 31, 2009.

For purposes of testing our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, we used appropriate
valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of our indefinite-lived intangible assets as of
March 31, 2009 and compared those estimates to the respective carrying values. Our indefinite-lived 1ntang1b1e
assets are comprised of trademarks and trade names. We used an income valuation approach to estimate fair
values of the relevant trademarks and trade names. The key inputs to the discounted cash flow model were our
historical and estimated future revenues, an assumed royalty rate, and the discount rate, among others. While
certain of these inputs are observable, significant judgment was required to select certain inputs from observed
market data.

As part of our interim impairment test, we were required to determine the fair vatues of our finite-lived
intangible assets, including our customer and vendor relationships, as of March 31, 2009. We determined the
fair values of our finite-lived intangible assets by discounting the estimated future cash flows of these assets.

As a result of this testing, we concluded that the goodwill and trademarks and trade names related to both
our domestic and international subsidiaries were impaired. Accordingly, we recorded a non-cash impairment
charge of $332 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, of which $250 million related to goodwill

84



ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

and $82 million related to trademarks and trade names. This charge is included in the impairment of goodw111
and intangible assets expense line 1tem in our consolidated statement of operations. :

Due to the current economic uncertamty and other factors we cannot assure that the remalmng arnounts
of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and ﬁmte—hved 1ntang1ble assets will not be further 1mpa1red in
future periods.

2008 .

During the year ended December 31, 2008, in connection with our annual planning process, we lowered
our long-term earnings forecast in response to changes in the economic environment, including the potential
future impact of airline capacity reductions, increased fuel prices and a weakening global economy. These
factors, coupled with a prolonged decline in our market capitalization, indicated potential impairment of our,
goodwill and trademarks and trade names. Additionally, given the economic environment, our distribution
partners were under increased pressure to reduce their overall costs and could have attempted to terminate or .
renegotiate their agreements with us on more favorable terms to them. These factors indicated that the carrying
value of certain of our finite-lived intangible assets, specifically customer relationships, may not be
recoverable. As a result, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the third quarter of
2008, we performed an interim impairment test of our goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible ‘assets and finite-
lived intangible assets. :

For purposes of testing goodwill for potential impairment, we estimated the fair value of the’ apphcable
reporting units to which all goodwill is allocated using generally accepted valuation methodologies, mcludmg
the market and income based approaches and relevant data available through and as of September 30, 2008.

We further used appropriate valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of our
indefinite-lived intangible assets as of September 30, 2008 and compared those estimates to the respective
carrying values. We used a market or income valuation approach to estimate falr values of the relevant
trademarks and trade names.

We also determined the estimated fair values of certain of our ﬁnite—lived intangible assets as of
September 30, 2008, specifically certain of our customer relationships whose carrying values exceeded their
"expected future cash flows on an undiscounted basis. We determined the fair values of these customer .
relationships by discounting the estimated future cash flows of these assets. We then compared the est1mated
fa1r values to the respectlve carrymg values.

As a result of this testmg, we concluded that the goodw1ll and trademarks and trade names related to both
our domestic and international subsidiaries as well as the customer relationships related to our domestic
subsidiaries were impaired. Accordingly, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $297 million dunng
the year ended December 31, 2008, of which $210 million related to goodwill, $74 million related to
trademarks ‘and trade names and $13 million related to customer relationships. This charge is included in the
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets expense line item in our consolidated statements of operations.
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4. Property and Equipment, Net

Property -and equipment, net, consisted of the fOlloWing: -

_ December 31,2009  December 31, 2008
‘ ¢in millions)

Capitalized software ... ............... e $221 $188

Furniture, fixtures and equipment. . ....... sasaaaees .. 69 - 60
Leasehold improvements . .. ............. P 13 13
Construction in progress . ........ ceeiaes P 14 15
Gross property and equipment . . . . . [ : 317 ' 276
Less: accumulated deprec1at10n and amomzanon e (136) (86)
Property and equ1pment net ....... NP s $ 181 $190

For the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we recorded
depreciation and amortization' expense related to propelty and equlpment in the amount of $52 million,
$48 million and $37 million, respectively. it

There were no assets subject to capital leases at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In connection with the Blackstone Acquisition, the carrying value of our assets and liabilities was revised
to reflect fair values as of August 23, 2006. The total amount of resulting goodwill that was ass1gned to us
was $1.2 billion.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008: )

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets: )
GoodWill . ... e $713 $949
Trademarks and trade names. . . .......... ... 00t in, .. 155 g 232

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

] Amount
» " (in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2007, net of accumulated impairment of $0 ............. - $1,i81
Impairment (a) . ..... e Iy J seaeeeae (210)
Impact of foreign currency translation (b) . ........ . ... . ... - (22)
Balance at December 31, 2008, net of accumulated impairment of $210.......... . ’ 949
Impairment () .. .. ..ottt e 250)
Impact of foreign currency translation (b) ... ................. P . 14 .

Balance at December 31, 2009, net of accumulated impairment of $460 ............ $ 713

(a) During the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 we recorded non-cash impair-
ment-charges related to goodwill and trademarks and trade names (see Note 3 — Impairment of
. Goodwill and Intangible. Assets). . e .

(b) Goodwill is allocated among our subsidiaries, including certain 1ntemat1onal sub31d1anes As a result,
the carrying amount of our goodwill is impacted by foreign currency translation each period.
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Finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008:

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

Gross Net Weighted  Gross Net Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average Carrying Accumulated Carrying Average
Amount Amortization Amount Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount Useful Life

(in millions) (in years) (in millions) (in years)
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets: , .
Customer relationships (a) ....... $66 $(50) $16 4 $68  $37) $31 4
Vendor relationships and other .... 5 2) _3 7 4 ()] _ 3 7
Total Finite-Lived Intangible Assets .. $71 $(52) $19. 5 $72 $(38) $34 5

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $13 million
related to our customer relationships (see Note 3 — Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets).

For the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we recorded
amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets in the amount of $17 million, $18 million and
$20 million, respectively. These amounts are included in depreciation and amortization expense in our
consolidated statements of operations.

The table below shows estimated amortization expense related to our finite-lived intangible assets over
the next five years:

Year ‘ » (in millions)
2000, o e e e $11
200 L. e e e e e e 3
2002, e e e 2
2003, e 2
2004, o e 1

g
-
8
—
«
—_
O

6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Employee CoStS (@) . -« vt v it ittt it $33 $13
Advertising and marketing . ......... ... ... .. ... .. 18 29
Tax sharing liability, current . .. .............. PR - 17 15
Rebates .. ...... ..ttt 6 6
CuStomer ServiCe COSIS . . . v v vt ittt 6 5
Contract exitcosts (b). .. .............. e 5 4
Technology coSts .. ... ..., 4 7
Professional fees. . ........... ... ... .. ... ... e 4 4
Unfavorable contracts, current. . . . ........ ... .ouen.... 3 3
Facilitiescosts . .......... ... ... ... on.. e i 3 4
Other ... ..o e _ 14 _16

Total accrued expenses . . .............. .. 0., $113 $106

(a) At December 31, 2009, the employee costs line item includes amounts accrued related to our Perfor-
mance-Based Annual Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2008, based on Company performance, no
such amounts were:accrued. -

87



ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(b) In connection with our early termination of an agreement during the year ended December 31, 2007,
we are required to make termination payments totaling $18 million from January 1, 2008 to Decem-
ber 31, 2016, and we recorded a $13 million charge to selling, general and administrative expense in:
our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007. We accreted interest
expense of $1 million related to the termination liability during each of the years ended December 31,
2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. We also made the requlred termination payments
of $4 million, $1 million and $0 during the years ended December 31,2009, December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007, respectlvely At December 31, 2009, the net present value of the remaining ter-
mination payments of $11 million was included in our consolidated balance sheets, $5 million of
which was included in accrued expenses and $6 million of which was included in other non-current
liabilities. At December 31, 2008, the net present value of the remaining termination payments of
$14 million was included in our consolidated balance sheets; $4 million of which was included in.*
.accrued expenses and $10 million of which was included in other non-current liabilities.

7. Term Loan and Revolving Credit Fac1llty

On July 25, 2007, concurrent with the IPO, we entered 1nto a $685 mﬂlron senior secured credlt :
agreement (“Credit Agreement”) consisting of a seven-year $600 million term loan facility (“Term Loan”) and
a six-year $85 million revolving credit facility (“Revolver”).

Term Loan

" The Term Loan bears interest at a variable rate; at our option, of LIBOR plus a margin of 300 basis
points or an alternative base rate plus a margin of 200 basis.points. The alternative base rate is equal to the
higher of the Federal Funds Rate plus one half of 1% and the.prime rate .(“Alternative Base.Rate”). The
principal amount of the Term Loan is payable in-quarterly instaliments of $1.5 million, with the final
installment (equal to the remaining outstanding balance) due upon maturity in July 2014. In addition,
beginning with the first quarter of 2009, we are required to make an annual prepayment on the Term Loan in
the first quarter of each fiscal year in an amount up to 50% of the prior year s excess cash flow, as defined in
the Credit Agreement. Prepayments from excéss cash flow are applied, 1n ‘order of maturity, to the scheduled
quarterly term loan principal payments. Based on our cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2008, we
were not required to make a prepayment in 2009 Based on our cash flow for-the year ended December 31,
2009, we are required to make a prepayment on the Term Loan of $21 million in the first quarter of 2010.
The potential amount of prepayment from excess cash flow that will be required beyond the frrst quarter of
2010 is not reasonably estimable as of December 31, 2009.

The changes in the Term Loan dunng the years ended December 31 2009 and December 31, 2008 were
as follows:

_ Amount
« o ~ (in millions)
Balance at December 31, 2007 . . ...t \vvterer et P - $599
Scheduled principal payments . . ............ R R S P S - (6)
Balance at December 31,2008 . .:......... . e Lo 593
Scheduled principal payments . . ... ........ e .. PO 6)
Repurchases () ..................... . P, R T L. Aoy -
Balance at December 31,2009 .......... U [ PR $577

(a) On June 2, 2009, we entered into an amendment‘(the “Amendment”) to our Credit Agreement, which
permits us to purchase portions of the outstanding Term Loan on.a non-pro rata basis using cash up
to $10 million and future cash proceeds from equity issuances and in exchange for equity interests on
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or prior to June 2, 2010. Any portion of the Term Loan purchased by us will be retired pursuant to
the terms of the amendment. . : .

On June 17, 2009, we completed the purchase of $10 million in prmmpal amount of the Term Loan,
as required by the Amendment. The principal amount of the Term Loan purchased (net ‘of associated
unamortized debt issuance costs of almost nil) exceeded the amount we paid to purchase the debt
(inclusive of miscellaneous fees incurred) by $2 million. Accordingly, we recorded a $2 million gain
on extinguishment of a portion of the Term Loan, which is included in gain on extinguishment of
debt in our consolidated statements of operations for the year énded December 31, 20009.

"At December 31, 2009, we had interest rate swaps outstanding that effectively converted $200 million of
the Term Loan to a fixed interest rate (see Note 14 — Derivative Financial Instruments). At December 31,
2009, $100 million- of the Term Loan effectively bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.39% and an additional
$100 million of the Term Loan effectively bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.98%, through these interest rate
swaps. Of the remaining $377 million of the Term Loan, $327 million bears interest at a variable rate of
LIBOR plus 300 basis points, or 3.23%, as of December 31, 2009, which is based on the one-month LIBOR,
and $50 million bears interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus 300 basis points, or 3.26%, as of December 31,
2009, which is based on the three-month LIBOR.

At December 31, 2008, we had interest rate swaps outstanding that effectively converted $400 million of
the Term Loan to a fixed interest rate. At December 31, 2008, $200 million of the Term Loan effectively had
a fixed interest rate of 8.21%, $100 million of the Term Loan effectively had a fixed interest rate of 6.39%
and an additional $100 million of the Term Loan effectively had a fixed interest rate of 5.98%, through these
interest rate swaps. Of the remaining $193 million of the Term Loan, $100 million had a variable interest rate
of LIBOR plus 300 basis points, or 4.46%, as of December 31, 2008, which was.based on'the three-month -
LIBOR, and $93 million had a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 300 basis points, or 3.46%, as of
December 31, 2008, which was based on the one-month LIBOR. '

Revolver

The Revolver prov1des for borrowmgs and letters of credit of up to $85 million ($50 million in
U.S. dollars and the equivalent of $35 million denominated in Euros and Pounds Sterling) and bears interest at
a variable rate, at our option, of LIBOR plus a margin of 225 basis points or an Alternative Base Rate plus a
margin of 125 basis points. The margin is subject to change based on our total leverage ratio, as defined in the
Credit Agreement with a maximum margin of 250 basis points on LIBOR-based loans and 150 basis points
on Alternative Base Rate loans. We also incur a commitment fee of 50 basis points on any unused amounts on
the Revolver. The Revolver matures in July 2013.

Lehman Commercial Paper Inc which filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the Unlted
States Bankruptcy Code on October 5, 2008, held a $12.5 million commitment, or 14.7% percent, of the
$85 million available under the Revolver. As a result, total availability under the Revolver has effectively been
reduced from $85 million to $72.5 million.

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, $42 million and $21 million of borrowings were
outstanding under the Revolver, respectively, all of which were denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition, at
December 31, 2009, there was the equivalent of $5 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the
Revolver, which were denominated in Pounds Sterling. There were no outstanding letters of credlt issued
under the Revolver at December 31, 2008. The amount of letters of credit issued under the Revolver reduces
the amount available to us for borrowings. We had $26 million and $52 million of availability under the
Revolver at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 respectlvely

At December 31, 2009, the $42 rmlhon of borrowmgs outstanding under the Revolver bear interest at a
variable rate equal to the U.S.-dollar LIBOR rate plus 225 basis points, or 2.48%. At December 31, 2008,
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$11 million of the outstanding borrowings had-an interest rate equal to the Alternative Base Rate plus 150 basis
points, or 4.75%, and $10 million of the outstanding borrowings had a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus
250 basis points, or 2.96%. Commitment.fees on -unused amounts under the Revolver were almost nil -for-each
of the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

We incurred an aggregate of $5-million of debt issuance costs in connection with the Term Loan and
Revolver. These costs:are being amortized to interest expense over the contractual-terms of the Term Loan and
Revolver based on the effective-yield method. Amortization of debt issuance costs was $1- million, $1 million
and almost nil for the years. ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
respectively.

The Term Loan and Revolver are both secured by substantially all of our and our domestic subsidiaries’
tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of 100% of the outstanding capital stock or other equity
interests of substantially all of our direct and indirect domestic subS1d1ar1es and 65% of the capital stock or
other equity interests of certain of our forelgn subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions. The Term Loan and
Revolver are also guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic subsidiaries.

"The Credit Agreement contains' various customary restrictive covenants that limit our ability to, among
other things: incur additional indebtedness or entér-into guarantees; enter into sale or leaseback transactions;
make investments, loans or acquisitions; grant or incur liens on our assets; sell our assets; engage in mergers,
consolidations, 11qu1dat10ns or dlssoluuons engage in transactions with affiliates; and make restricted
payments.

The Credit Agreement requires us not to exceed a maximum total leverage ratio, which declines through
March 31, 2011, and to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, each as defined in the Credit
Agreement. As of December 31, 2009, we were required not to exceed a maximum total leverage ratio of 4.25
to 1 and to maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1 to 1. As of December 31, 2009, we were in
compliance with all covenants and conditions of ‘the Credit Agreement.

The table below shows the aggregate maturities of the Term Loan and- Revolver over the next five years,
excluding any mandatory repayments that could be required under the Term Loan beyond the first quarter of
2010:

_S_{_egr ’ (in millions)
2000, . . e e $ 21
200 e e e e e —
2002 —
2003, e 45
2004, L 553
Total. . .o e $619

8. Exchange Agreement and Stock Purchase‘Agreemeht

On November 4, 2009, we entered into an Exchange Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with PAR
Investment Partners, L.P. (“PAR”). Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, as amended, PAR agreed to exchange
$50 million aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding under our senior secured credit agreement
for 8,141,402 shares of our.common stock. Concurrently with the entry into the Exchange Agreement; we also
entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) with Travelport pursuant to which
Travelport agreed to purchase 9,025,271 shares of our common stock for $50 million in cash. Both equity
investments were priced at:$5.54 per share based on the market closing price of the Company’s common stock
on Tuesday, November 3, 2009. :
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The equity investments contemplated by the Exchange Agreement and the Stock Purchase Agreement
were subject to customary closing conditions, including a condition that both transactions must close
simultaneously, and were subject to shareholder approval under the New York Stock Exchange rules.

In connection with the Exchange Agreement and the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Company entered
into a Shareholders’ Agreement with PAR ‘and Travelport pursuant to which, contingent upon the completion
of the transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement and the Stock Purchase Agreement, PAR has the
right to designate one director and Travelpoit has the right to designate an additional director to our Board of
Directors. Both transactions ¢losed in January 2010 (see Note 23 — Subsequent Events).

9. Tax Sharing Liability

We have a liability included in our consolidated balance sheets that relates to a tax sharing agreement
between Orbitz and the Founding Aiilines. The agreement governs the allocation of tax benefits resulting from
a taxable exchange that took place in connection with the Orbitz TPO in December 2003. As a result of this
taxable exchange, the Founding Airlines incurred a taxable gain. The taxable exchange caused Orbitz to have
additional future tax deductions for depreciation and amortization due to the increased tax basis of its assets.
The additional tax deductions for depreciation and amortization may reduce the amount of taxes we are
required to pay in future years. For each tax period during the term of the tax sharing agreement, we are
obligated to pay the Founding Airlines a significant percentage of the amount of the tax benefit realized as a
result of the taxable exchange. The tax sharing agreement commenced upon consummation of the Orbitz IPO
and contmues until all tax beneflts have been utilized.

As of December 31 2009, the estimated rema1n1ng payments that may be due under this agreement were
approximately $214 million. Payments under the tax sharing agreement are generally due in-the second, third
and fourth calendar quarters of the year, with two payments due in the second quarter. We estimate that the
net present value of our obligation to pay tax benefits to the Founding Airlines was $126 million and
$124 million at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. This estimate is based upon certain
assumptions,-including our future operating performance and taxable income, the tax rate, the timing of tax
payments, current and projected market conditions, and the applicable discount rate, all of which we believe
are reasonable. The discount rate assumption is based on our weighted average cost of capital at the time of
the Blackstone Acquisition, which was approximately 12%. These assumptions are inherently uncertain,
however, and actual results could differ from our estimates.

The table below shows the changes in the tax sharing liability over the past two years:

Amount
(in millions)

Balance at December 31, 2007 . . ..t e e $141
Accretion of Interest Xpense (A) . . . ..o vt v it i e e 17
Cash PaymMentS . . . ..ottt e e (20)
Adjustment due to a reduction in our effective tax rate (b). ... ............. e (14
Balance at December 31, 2008 . . ... .o\t e 124
Accretion of interest expense (a). . . . . . . S e e e 13
Cash payments . . . . .. R o _an
Balance at December 31, 2009 . . ... .ottt 126

(a) We accreted interest expense related to the tax sharing liability of $13 million, $17 million and
$14 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
respectively.
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(b) This adjustment was recorded to appropriately reflect our liability under the tax sharing agreement
following a reduction in our effective tax rate during the year ended December 31, 2008, which
resulted from a change in state tax law as it relates to the apportionment of income. The reduction in
our effective tax rate reduces the estimated remaining payments that may be due to the airlines under
the tax sharing agreement. The adjustment to the tax sharing liability was recorded as a reduction to
selling, general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations, as this
liability represents a commercial liability, not a tax liability. If our effective tax rate changes in the
future, at either the federal or state level, we may be required to further adjust our liability under the
tax sharing agreement.

Based upon the future payments we expect to make, the current portion of the tax sharing liability of
$17 million and $15 million is included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. The long-term portion of the tax sharing liability of
$109 million is reflected as the tax sharing liability in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008 At the time of the Blackstone Acqu1s1t10n Cendant (now Avis Budget Group, Inc.)
indemnified Travelport and us for a portion of the amounts due under the tax sharing agreement. As a result,
we recorded a receivable of $37 million which is included in other non-current assets in our consolidated
balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively. We expect to collect this
receivable when Cendant receives the tax benefit. Similar to our trade accounts receivable, if we were, in the
future, to determine that all or a portion of this receivable is not collectable, the portion of this receivable that
was no longer deemed collectable would be written off.

The table below shows the estimated payments under our tax sharing liability over the next five years:

Year (in millions)
2000, . e P $ 19
220 3 1 20
200, e 21
2003 e e 18
2004, . e e 18
Thereafter. . . . . o e e e 118
TOtAL. ottt e e e $214

10. Unfavorable Contracts

In December 2003, we entered into amended and restated airline charter associate agreements, or “Charter
Associate Agreements,” with the Founding Airlines as well as US Airways (“Charter Associate Airlines™).
These agreements pertain to our Orbitz business, which was owned by the Founding Airlines at the time we
entered into the agreements. Under each Charter Associate Agreement, the Charter Associate Airline has
agreed to provide Orbitz with information regarding the airline’s flight schedules, published air fares and seat
availability at no charge and with the same frequency and at the same time as this information is provided to
the airline’s own website or to a website branded and operated by the airline and any of its alliance partners or
to the airline’s internal reservation system. The dgreements also provide Orbitz with nondiscriminatory access
to seat availability for published fares, as well as marketing and promotional support. Under each agreement,
the Charter Associate Airline provides us with agreed upon transaction payments when consumers book air
travel on the Charter Associate Airline on Orbitz.com. The payments we receive are based on the value of the
tickets booked and gradually decrease over time. The agreements expire on December 31, 2013. However,
certain of the Charter Associate Airlines may terminate their agreements for any reason or no reason prior to
the scheduled expiration date upon thirty days prior notice to us.
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Under the Charter Associate Agreements, we must pay.a portion of the GDS incentive revenue we earn
from Worldspan back to the Charter Associate Airlines. in the form of a rebate. The rebate payments are
required when airline tickets for travel on a Charter Associate Airline are booked through the Orbitz.com
website utilizing Worldspan. The rebate payments are made in patt for in-kind marketing and promotional
support we:receive. However, a portion of the rebate payments are deemed to be unfavorable because we
receive no benefit for these payments. e

The rebate ‘structure under the Charter ‘Adsociate Agreements was considered unfavorable when compared
with market conditions at the timé of the Blackstone Acquisition. As a result, an unfavorable contract liability
was recorded at its fair value at the acquisition date. The fair value of the unfavorable contract liability was
determined using the discounted cash flows of the expected rebates, net of the expected fair value of in-kind
marketing support. .

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the net present value of the unfavorable contract liability
was $13 million and $16 million, respectively. The current portion of the liability of $3 million was included
in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. The
long term portion of ‘the liability of $10 million and $13. million is included in unfavorable contracts in our -
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

~ This liability is being amortized to revenue in our consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line
basis over the remaining contractual term. We recognized revenue for the unfavorable portion of the Charter
Associate Agreements in the amount of $3 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes our commitments as of December 31, 2009:
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014  Thereafter  Total

(in millions)

Operating 1€ases (). . .« vovvveeenneeenneeo... $7 $5 $4 $4 $4  $24  $48

Travelport GDS contract (b). . ................... 42 20 20 20 20 — 122
Telecommunications service agreement ............ 1 — — — — — 1
Systems infrastructure agreements . ............... 3 — — — — — 3
Software license agreement . .................... 9 = = = = — 9

Total .. .oe e $62  $25 $24  $24  $24 $24 $183

(a) These operating leases are primarily for facilities and equipment and represent non-cancelable leases.
Certain leases contain periodic rent escalation adjustments and renewal options. Our operating leases
expire at various dates, with the latest maturing in 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we recorded rent expense in the amount of $7 million,
$6 million and $8 mllllon respectively. As a result of various subleasing arrangements that we have
entered into, we are expecting approximately $4 million in sublease income through 2012.

(b) In connection with the IPO, we entered into .an:agreement with Travelport to use GDS services
provided by both Galileo and Worldspan (the “Travelport GDS Service Agreement”). The Travelport
GDS Service Agreement is.structured such that we earn incentive revenue for each segment that is
processed through the Worldspan and Galileo GDSs (the “Travelport GDSs”). This agreement requires
that we process a certain minimum number of segments for our domestic brands. through the
Travelport GDSs each year. Our domestic brands were required to process a total. of 36 million
segments during the year ended December 31, 2009, 16 million segments through Worldspan and
20 million segments through Galileo. The required number of segments processed annually for
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Worldspan is fixed at 16 million segments, while the required number of segments for Galileo is
subject to adjustment based upon the actual segments processed by our domestic brands in the
preceding year. We are required to process approximately 18 million segments through: Galileo during
the year ending December 31, 2010. Our failure to process at least 95% of these segments through -
the Travelport GDSs would result in a shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment below the required
minimum. Historically, we have met the minimum segment réquirement for our domestic brands. The
table above includes shortfall payments required by the agreement if we do not process any segments
through Worldspan during the remainder of the contract term and shortfall payments required if we
do not process any segments through Galileo during the year ending: December 31, 2010. Because the
required number of segments for Galileo adjusts based on the actual segments processed in the
preceding year, we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required beyond 2010.
However, we do not expect to make any shortfall payments for our domestic brands in the foreseeable
future. : : ; :

The Travelport GDS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use the Travelport GDSs
exclusively in certain countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe. Our failure to
process at least 95% of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in a shortfall
payment of $1.25 per segment for each segment processed through an alternative GDS provider. We
failed to meet this minimum segment requirement during each of the years ended December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2008, and as a result, we were required to make nominal shortfall payments to
Travelport related to each of these years. Because the required number of segments to be processed
_through the Travelport GDSs is dependent on the actual segments processed by ebookers in certain
countries in a given year, we are unable to predict shortfall payments that may be required for the

. years beyond 2009. As a result, the table above excludes any shortfall payments that may be requlred
related to our ebookers brands for the years beyond 2009. If we meet the minimum number of

_ segments, we are not required to make shortfall payments to Travelport (see Note 18 — Related Party
Transactions).. .

In addition to the commitments and contingencies shown above, we are required to make principal
payments on the Term Loan and repay amounts outstanding on the Revolver at maturity (see Note 7 — Term
Loan and Revolving Credit Facility). We also expect to make approximately $214 million of payments in
connection with the tax sharing agreement with the Founding Airlines (see Note 9 — Tax Sharing L1ab1hty) ,
Also excluded from the above table are $5 million of liabilities for uncertain tax pos1t10ns for which the _period
of settlement is not currently determinable.

Company Litigation

We are involved in various claims, legal proceedings and governmental inquiries related to contract
disputes, business practices, intellectual property and other commercial, employment and tax matters.

We are party to various cases brought by consumers and municipalities and other U.S. governmental
entities involving hotel occupancy taxes and our merchant hotel business model. Some of the cases are
purported class actions, and most of the cases were brought simultaneously against other online travel
companies, including Expedia, Travelocity and Priceline. The cases allege, among other things, that we
violated the jurisdictions’ hotel occupancy tax ordinance. While not identical in their allegations, the cases
generally assert similar claims, including violations of local or state occupancy tax ordinances, violations of
consumer protection ordinances, conversion, unjust enrichment, imposition of a constructive trust, demand for
a legal or equitable accounting, injunctive relief, declaratory judgment, and in some cases, civil conspiracy.
The plaintiffs seek relief in a variety of forms, including: declaratory judgment, full accounting of monies
owed, imposition of a constructive trust, compensatory and punitive damages, disgorgement, restitution,
interest, penalties and costs, attorneys’
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fees, and where a class action has been claimed, an order certifying the action as a class action. An adverse
ruling in one-or more of these cases could require us to pay tax retroactively and prospectively and possibly
pay penalties, interest and fines. The proliferation of additional cases could result in substantial additional
defense costs. ’

: We have also been contacted by several mumclpahnes or other taxing bodles concerning our pos51ble
obhgauons with respect to state or local hotel occupancy or related taxes. The cities of Phoenix, Arizona;
North Little Rock and Pine Bluff, Arkansas; Colorado Springs and Steamboat Springs, Colorado; Osceola
County, Florida; 42 cities in California; an entity representing 84 cities and 14 counties in Alabama; the
counties of Jefferson, Arkansas; Brunswick and Stanly, North Carolina; Duval County, Florida; Davis, Summit,
Salt Lake, Utah and Weber, Utah; the South Carolina Department of Revenue; the Colorado Department of
Revenue and the Hawaii Department of Taxation have issued notices to the Company. These taxing authorities
have not issued assessments, but have requested information to conduct an audit and/or have requested that the
Company register to pay local hotel occupancy taxes. Additional taxing authorities have begun audit
proceedings and some have issued assessments against the Company, ranging from almost nil to approximately
$3 million, and totaling approximately $10 million. Assessments that are administratively final and subject to
judicial review have been issued by the city of Anaheim, California; the counties of Miami-Dade -and Broward,
Florida and the Florida Department of Revenue; the Indiana Department of Revenue and the Wisconsin
Department of Revenue. In addition, the following taxing authorities have issued assessments which are
subject to further review by-the taxing authorities: the cities of Los Angeles, San Diego and San Francisco,
California; the cities of Alpharetta, Cartersville, Cedartown, College Park, Dalton, East Point, Hartwell,
Macon, Rockmart, Rome, Tybee Island and Warner Robins, Georgia; the counties of Augusta, Clayton, Cobb,
DeKalb, Fulton, Gwirnett, Hart and Richmond, Georgia and the city of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: The
Company disputes that any hotel occupancy or related tax is owed under these ordinances and is challengmg
the assessments made against the Company. If the Company is found to be subject to the hotel occupancy tax
ordinance by a taxing authority and appeals the decision in court, certain jurisdictions may attempt to require
us to provide financial security or pay the assessment to the municipality in order to challenge the tax
assessment in court. |

We believe that we have meritorious defenses, and we are vigorously defending against these claims,
proceedings and inquiries. We have not recorded any reserves related to these hotel occupancy tax matters.
L1t1gat10n is inherently unpredictable and, although we believe we have valid defenses in these matters based
upon advice of counsel, unfavorable resolutions could occur. While we cannot estimate our range of loss and
believe it is unlikely that an adverse outcome will result from these proceedings, an adverse outcome could be
material to us with respect to earnings or cash flows in any given reporting period.

We are currently seeking to recover insurance reimbursement for costs incurred to defend the hotel
occupancy tax cases. We recorded a reduction to selling, general and administrative expense in our
consolidated statements of operations for reimbursements received of $6 million, $8 million and $3 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.. The recovery
of additional amounts, if any, by us and the timing of receipt of these recoveries is unclear. As such, as of
December 31, 2009, we had not recognized a reduction to selling, general and administrative expense in our
consolidated statements of operations for the outstanding contingent claims for which we have not received
reimbursement. '

Surety Bonds and Bank Guarantees

In the ordmary course of business, we obtain surety bonds and bank guarantees, issued for the beneflt of
a third party, to secure performance of certain of our obligations to third parties. At December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008, there were $1 million and $3 million of surety bonds outstanding, respectively. At
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December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, there were $1 million and $2 mllhon of bank guarantees
outstanding, respectively.

Financing Arrangements

We are required to issue letters of credit to certain suppliers and non-U.S. regulatory and government
agencies. The majority of these letters of credit were issied by Travelport on our behalf under the terms of the
Separation Agreement (as amended) entered-into in connection with the IPO. The letter of credit fees were
$4 million, $3 million and $2 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and
Deceémber 31, 2007, respectively. At December 31, 2009 and Decembet- 31, 2008, there were $59 million and
$67 million of outstanding letters of credit issued by Travelport on our behalf; respectively (see Note 18 —
Related Party Transactions). In addition, at December 31, 2009, there was the equivalent of $5 million of
outstanding letters of credit-issued under the Revolver which were denominated in Pounds Sterling. There
were no outstanding letters of credit issued under the Revolver at December 31, 2008.

12. Income Taxes

Pre-tax (loss) for U.S. and non-U.S. operations consisted of the following:
! ) ' Years Ended December 31,

© 2009 - 2008 2007

’ v (in millions) -~
US. ot P PO e 8@ 8129 5 ()
Non-US. ..... S e (53) A77) (35)
Loss before income taxes . ... ...........:. . T - $(328) $(301)  $4D

The provision (benefit) for income téxeé consists of the following:
Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(in millions)
Current v ‘ '

US. federal and State ... .........oovriininnnnnenennnnneee.. $1 $ — $ —
NOD-ULS. ottt e 1 5
2 5

Deferred .
cUS.federal and state .. ........ .ttt i e — 1 6
Non-U.S. o e 7 5) . 32
7 @ 38

Provision (benefit) for income taxes .. .............o.iriniininnennn. $ 9 $ (2 $ 43

The results of operations of Travelport for the period from January 1, 2007 to February 7, 2007 were
included in the consolidated U.S. federal and state income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2007
filed by Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries. However, the provision for income taxes was computed as
if we filed our U.S. federal, state and foreign income tax returns on a Separate Company basis without
including the results of operations of Travelport for the period from January 1, 2007 to February 7, 2007.

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the provision for U.S. federal, state and
foreign income taxes and the calculation of the deferred tax assets and liabilities were based solely on the
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operations of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and its subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008,
our U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes receivable was almost nil and $1 million, respectively.

The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2009 was primarily due to a full
valuation allowance established against $11 million of foreign deferred tax assets related to our Australia-
based business, as it was determined that these deferred tax assets were no longer realizable. We are required
to assess whether valuation allowances should be established against our deferred tax assets based on the
consideration of all available evidence using a “more hkely than not” standard. We assessed the available
positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income would be generated to utilize the
existing deferred tax assets. A 51gn1ﬂcant piece of objective negatlve evidence evaluated in our determination
was cumulative losses incurred over the three year period ended December 31, 2009. This objective evidence
limited our ability to consider other subjective evidence such as future growth projections. Additionally, we
were not able to realize any tax benefit on the goodwill and trademarks and trade names impairment charge,
which was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009.

The amount of the tax benefit recorded during the year ended December 31, 2008 is disproportionate to
the amount of pre-tax net loss incurred during the year primarily because we were not able to realize any tax
benefit on the goodwill impairment charge and only a limited amount of tax benefit on the trademarks and
trade names impairment charge, which were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2008.

The amount of the tax provision recorded during the year ended December 31, 2007 is disproportionate
to the amount of pre-tax net loss incurred during the year primarily because we recorded a full valuation
allowance against $30 million of foreign deferred tax assets related to portions of our U.K.-based business.
Prior to the TPO, we had the ability to offset these losses with taxable income of Travelport subsidiaries and
affiliates in the U.K. As a result of the IPO, these subsidiaries are no longer in our U.K. group and, as a
result, their income is not available to offset our losses in the U.K. group at December 31, 2007.

Our effective income tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows for the years ended
December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Federal statutory rate. . . . . ... . it e e 350% 350% 35.0%
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit ......................... 0.2) 0.1 (1.2)
Rate change impact on deferred income taxes ................. ... ..., — — 2.4)
Taxes on non-U.S. operations at differing rates. . . . ................ .. ....... 0.8) (1.3) 2.4
Change in valuation allowance. . .. ... .. ... .iiiriniiiiininnnnnan.s (10.5) (9.0) (110.6)
Goodwill IMpaIrment . . . ... ...ttt e e (26.6) (24.8) —_—
Foreign deemed dividends . . .. ... ... . e — — (12.5)
Non deductible public offering costs ... ........ .. .. i i i — — (2.0
Reserve for uncertain tax positions . ............. .. i it ©0.1) 0.1 (5.1)
OtheT .« . .t e e e e e 0.4 0.6 (1.5)

Effective income tax 1ate. . . .. ..o vvt ittt it ettt e R 2.8)% 0.7% (102.7)%
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Current and non-current deferred income tax assets and liabilities in various Junsdlctlons are comprised
of the following:

December 31,
2009 2008
(in millions)

Current deferred income tax assets. (liabilities):

Accrued liabilities and deferred income . . ... ... ... o ool i $ 5 $ 12
Provision for bad debts. . ............. TR P b= 1
Prepaid expenses . ........ e e e B 2) 2
Tax sharing liability . . . ... .. oo e 6 6
Change in IeServe aCCOUNMES . .. oot v vt vt vn e aeenee s iea e deeeaasaeaneaiin., 2 2
Other. e e e e e e — 3
Valuation allowance . . ... ...ouit ittt i e i (11 Q6

Current net deferred iNCOME taX ASSELS . . . v vt v vt e e e oo ee it e ia e eis e s $ — $§ 6

Non-current deferred income tax assets (liabilities):

U.S. net operating loss carryforwards . ............... e e Ll . 8 4108 45
Non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards ................. e Ceeee s e 95 97
Accrued liabilities and deferred iNCOME . . . . . .. ... oeeerree e eeaeannn 6 6
Depreciation and amortization ....... e e e e R 116 . 107
Tax sharing liability . . . . . . . P A SRR 39 39
Change in reserve accounts ........ e P S 4 5
0 ST P e 22 13
Valuation allOWAINCE . . .« o o v vttt e e i ettt s e e et et e e 319y _(304)

Non-current net deferred income tax assets .. ...... e I .. ... $ 10 § 38

The current and deferred income ta)'(lass.ets and liabilities are presented in our consolidated balance sheets
as follows: ’

' December 31,
- 2009 2008
(in millions)

Current net deferred income tax assets:

|

Deferred income tax asset, CUITENL. . . . o oo v v vt i it e et et et e e $ — $ 6
Current net deferred income tax assets. .. ... . B . $ — $ 6

Non-current net deferred income tax assets (liabilities): | |

Deferred income tax asset, NON-CUITENE . . . . .o v v vttt vnite e ane e s eneeeaayens - $10 $ 9

Deferred income tax lability, non-current(a) .. .......... .. ... ... RPN . = M
Non-current net deferred income tax assets . . . . RPN r e e i .. $.10 §___8

(a) The non-current portion of the deferred income tax liability at December 31, 2008 of $1 million is
included in other non-current 11ab111t1es in our consolidated balance sheet. ’

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, we established valuation allowances agamst the maJorlty
of our deferred tax assets. As a result, any changes in our gross deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
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years ended December 31,2009 and December 31, 2008 were largely offset by corresponding changes in our
valuation allowances, resulting in a decrease in our net deferred tax assets of $4 million and $1 million,
respectively.

The net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 amounted to $10 million and
$14 million, respectively. These net deferred tax assets relate to temporary tax to book differences in
non-U.S. jurisdictions, the realization of which is, in management’s judgment, more-likely than not. We have
assessed, based on experience with relevant taxing authorities, our expectations of future taxable income,
carry-forward periods available and other relevant factors, that we will be more likely than not to recognize
these deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2009, we had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carry-forwards of
approximately $116 million and $149 million, respectively, which expire between 2021 and 2029. In addition,
we had $336 million of non-U.S. net operating loss carry-forwards, most of which do not expire. Additionally,
we have $5 million of U.S. federal and state income tax credit carry-forwards which expire between 2027 and
2029 and $1 million of U.S. federal income tax credits which have no expiration date. No provision has been
made for U.S. federal or non-U.S. deferred income taxes on approximately $10 million of accumulated and
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries at December 31, 2009. A provision has not been established
because it is our present intention to reinvest the undistributed earnings indefinitely in those foreign operations.
The determination of the amount of unrecognized U.S. federal or non-U.S. deferred i income tax liabilities for
unremitted earnings at December 31, 2009 is not practicable.

In December 2009, as permitted under the U.K. group relief provrsrons we surrendered $17 million of
net operating losses generated in 2007 to Donvand Limited, a subsidiary of Travelport. A full valuation
allowance had previously been established for such net operating losses. As a result, upon surrender, we
reduced our gross deferred tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance by $5 million.

We have established a liability for unrecognized tax benefits that management believes to be adequate.-
Once established, unrecognized tax benefits are adjusted if more accurate information becomes available, or a
change in circumstance or an event occurs necessitating a change to the liability. Given the inherent
complexities of the business and that we are subject to taxation in a substantial number of jurisdictions, we
routinely assess the likelihood of additional assessment in each of the taxing jurisdictions.

The table below shows the changes in this liability during the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:

Amount
L ; (in millions)

Balance as of January 1,2007 . ........ ... .. . ... I $2
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken during the current year . . . 2
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax posrtrons taken during the prior year . ... )
Settlements . . ..........coviuininennenenn.. .. Lo e e (1)
Balance as of December 31,2007 ......... J A, e 2
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken during the ptior year . . . . . 6
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken during the prior-year . . .. (D)
Impact of foreign currency translation . ............................. PR ()
Balance as of December 31,2008 .. .......... .. ... vttt e 6
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax posrtrons taken dunng the prror year . ... Ne))
Balance as of December 31, 2009 . . .. .. ........... $5
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- The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate was
$1 million, $1 million and $2 million as of December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
respectively. We do not expect to make any cash tax payments nor do we expect any statutes of limitations to
lapse related to our liability for unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. We
recognized interest and penalties of almost nil during each of the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Accrued interest and penalties were $1 million and
almost nil as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. A
number of years may elapse before an uncertain tax position, for which we have unrecognized tax benefits, is
audited and finally resolved. We adjust these unrecognized tax benefits, as well as the related interest and
penalties, in light of changing facts and circumstances. Settlement of any particular position could-require the
use of cash. Favorable resolution could be recognized as a reduction to our effective income tax rate in the
period of resolution. ‘

The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax jurisdiction. Our major taxing
jurisdictions include the U.S. (federal and state), the U.K. and Australia. With limited exceptions, we are no
longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for the years before
2005. We are no longer subject to U.K. federal income tax examinations for years before 2008. We are no
longer subject to Australian federal i income tax exanunatlons for the years before 2005.

With respect to periods prior to the Blackstone Acqu1s1t10n we are only required to take into account
income tax returns for which we or one of our subsidiaries is the primary taxpaying entity, namely separate
state returns and non-U.S. returns. Uncertain tax positions related to U.S. federal and state combined-and-
unitary income tax returns filed are only applicable in the post-acquisition accounting period. We and our
domestic subsidiaries currently file a consolidated income tax return for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

- In connection with the IPO, on July 25, 2007, the Company entered into a tax sharing agreement with
Travelport, pursuant to which the Company and Travelport agreed to split, on a 29%/71% basis, all: -

* taxes attributable to certain restructuriﬁg transactions undertaken in contemplation of the IPO; X

* certain taxes imposed as a result of prior membership in a consolidated group, including (i) the
consolidated group for U.S. federal income-tax purposes of which the Company was the commori
’parent and (ii)’the consolidated group of which Cendant Corporation was the common parent' and

. any tax-related liabilities under the agreement by which Travelpon (which, at the time, included the '
. Company) was acquired from Cendant Corporation.

13. Equity-Based Compensation

“Our employees-have participated in the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, as
amended (the “Plan”) since the IPO. Prior to the IPO, our employees had participated in the Travelport
Equity-Based Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Travelport Plan”). The awards granted under each plan are
descnbed below - o

Oﬂ)itz Worjldwide, Inc. 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan

The Plan provides for the grant of equity-based awards, including restricted stock, restricted stock units,
stock options, stock appreciation rights and other equity-based awards to our directors, officers and other .
employees, advisors and consultants who are selected by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors (the “Compensation Committee™) for participation in the Plan. The number of shares of our common
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stock available for issuance under the Plan is 15,100,000 shares. As of December 31, 2009, 3,222,601 shares
were available for future issuance under the Plan

Stock Options

The table below summarizes the stock option activity under the Plan for the years ended December 31,
2009 and December 31 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31 2007:

Weighted Average Aggregate

Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic
Exercise Price Contractual Term Value(a)
Shares * (per share) (in years) (in millions)
Outstanding at July 18, 2007 ... ... B — —
Granted .. .......c i 2,732,950 - $14.96 9.6
Forfeited . .................... (172,274) . $15.00 9.6 .
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 .. 2,560,676 $14.96 9.6 —
Granted . ........ ... .. 2,130,059 $ 6.26 6.5
Forfeited ... ........:0......... (473,930) $12.19 79 _
Outstanding at December 31, 2008 . . 4,216,805 ~ $10.88 7.6 —_
Granted ................ e 1,000,000 $ 4.15 6.0
Exercised..................... (67,522) $ 625 5.5
Forfeited . . . .. P .. (913,200) $10.42 6.5 L
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 .. 4,236,083 $ 9.46 6.5 $5
Exercisable at December 31, 2009 .. 1,556,949 $12.81 7.0 —

(a) Infrinsic value for stock options is defined as the difference between the current market value and the
exercise price. The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options exercisable at December 31, 2009 was
almost nil. The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options outstanding at December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 was $5 million, almost nil and $0, respectively.

The exercise price of stock options granted under the Plan is equal to the fair market value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant. Stock options generally expire seven to ten years from the grant date.
The stock options granted at the time of the IPO as additional compensation to our employees who previously
held equity awards under the Travelport Plan, as described below, vested 5.555% in August 2007 and vested
an additional 8.586% on each subsequent November, February, May and August through February 2010, and
become fully vested in May 2010. The stock options granted in the year ended December 31, 2009 vest over a
four-year period, with 25% of the awards vesting after one year and the remaining awards vesting on a
monthly basis thereafter. All other stock options granted vest annually over a four-year period. The fair value
of stock options on the date of grant is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The fair value of stock options granted under the Plan is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average assumptions for stock options granted during the years
ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007
are outlined in the following table. Expected volatility is -based on implied volatilities for publicly traded
options and historical volatility for comparable companies over the estimated expected life of the stock
options. The expected life represents the period of time the stock options are expected to be outstanding and is
based on the “simplified method.” We use the “simplified method” due to the lack’ of sufficient historical
exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to otherwise estimate the expected life of the stock
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options. The risk-free interest rate is based on yields on U.S. Treasury strips with a maturity similar to the
estimated expected life of the stock options. We use historical turnover to estimate employee forfeitures.

Years Ended

Period from
_December 31, - yy1y 18, 2007 to
Assumptions: 2009 2008 _ December 31, 2007
Dividend yield ... ...... ... ... . i — — —
Expected volatility .................... e S 49% 41% - 38%
Expected life (in years). . ... .. e VoLl oee.s 458 476 6.16
Risk-free interestrate . ......... ... ... .ttt 1.47% 3.62% 4.86%

Based on the above assumptions, the weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted
during the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18 2007 to
December 31, 2007 was $1.73, $2.54 and $6.89, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The table below summarizes activity regarding unvested restricted stock units under the Plan for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007:

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

Stock Units (per share)
Unvested at July 18,2007 . ... ... i i — —_—
Granted . . . ... e e 2,687,836 $l3.1_6
Vested (2) . ..o v i (181,003) $11.73
Forfeited . . ... ....... e e e ... (210482) $13.08
Unvested at December 31, 2007 .................................. . 2,296,351 ' $13.28
Granted . . . . . . e 1,492,703 $ 6.12
Vested(a) ............ e ST e . 1(296,366) o $11.61
Forfeited . . .. ... .. e e e e ooovULLL (768,332) " $12.26
Unvested at December 31,2008 . ... ........... e L.... 2724356 $9.83
Granted. ... ..o, R 4,011,642 $1.92
VesSted (B) . .o oot e e (587,829) $ 891
Forfeited . . .. .......... P AV A LU 4. - (497,419) $-9.79
Unvested at December 31,2009 .. .......... e liie.l. 5650750 0 $ 431

(a) We issued 425,068 shares, 233,878 shares and 142,440 shares of common stock in connection with
the vesting of restricted stock units during the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31,
2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007, respectively, which is net of the
number of shares retained (but not issued) by us in satisfaction of minimum tax Wlthholdmg
obligations associated with the vesting.

The restricted stock units granted at the time of the IPO upon conversion of unvested equity-based awards
previously held by our employees under the Travelport Plan, as described below, vested 5.555% in August
2007 and vested an additional 8.586% on each subsequent November, February, May and August through
February 2010, and become fully vested in May 2010. All other restricted stock units cliff vest at the end of
either a two-year or three-year period, or vest annually: over a three-year or four-year period. The fair value of
‘restricted stock units on the date of grant is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.
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The total number of restricted stock units that vested during the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007 and the total fair value thereof
was 587,829 restricted stock units, 296,366 restricted stock units and 181,003 restricted stock units,
respectively, and $5 million, $3 million and $2 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock

The table below summarizes activity regarding unvested restricted stock under the Plan for the years
ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31,-2007:

Weighted Average

Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

_ Stock "~ (per share)
Unvested at July 18,2007 . . ... ... i, — —
Granted . .. ... 61,795 $8.45
Vested (8) . . . v oo et (13,130) $8.45
Forfeited (b) . . .................... e (6,586) $8.45
Unvested at December 31,2007 .. ...... ... 42,079 $8.45
Granted . . ... .. — —_
VEStEd (@) . v oot vttt e (16,832) $8.45
Forfeited (b) . . .. ................... JR (6,586) $8.45
Unvested at December 31,2008 . ....... .. ... 18,661 $8.45
Granted e e — —
Vested (2) . . ..o (14,453) $8.45
Forfeited(b) . . . ... ... e (2,013) $8.45
Unvested at December 31,2000 ... 2,195 $8.45

(a) Includes 4,453 shares, 2,617 shares and 2,266 shares of common stock transferred to us in satisfaction
of minimum tax withholding obligations associated with the vesting of restricted stock during the
years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to
December 31, 2007, respectively. These shares are held by us in treasury.

(b) These shares are held by us in treasury.

Shares of restricted stock were granted upon conversion of the Class B partnership interests previously
held by our employees under the Travelport Plan. The restricted stock vested 5.555% in August 2007 and
vested an additional 8.586% on each subsequent November, February, May and August through February
2010, and become fully vested in May 2010. The fair value of restricted stock on the date of grant is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The total number of shares of restricted stock that vested during the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007 was 14,453 shares, 16,832 shares
and 13,130 shares, respectively. The total fair value of the restricted stock that vested was almost nil for each
of the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period from July 18, 2007 to
December 31, 2007.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

On June 19, 2008, the Compensation Committee approved a grant of performance-based restricted stock
units (“PSUs”) under the Plan to certain of our executive officers. The PSUs entitle the executives to receive a-
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certain number of shares of our.common stock based on the Company’s satisfaction of certain financial and
strategic performance goals, including net revenue growth, adjusted EBITDA margin improvement and the
achievement of specified technology milestones during fiscal years 2008, 2009 and 2010 (the “Performance
Period”). The performance conditions also provide that if the Company’s aggregate adjusted EBITDA during
the Performance Period does not equal or exceed a certain threshold, each PSU award will be forfeited. Based
on the achievement of the performance conditions during the Performance Period, the final séttlement of the
PSU awards will range between 0 and 166%% of the target shares underlying the PSU awards based on a
specified objective formula approved by the Compensation Committee. The PSUs will vest within 75 days of
the end of the Performance Period.

The table below summarizes the PSU activity under the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008. There was no PSU activity during the period from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007.

Weighted Average
' Performance-Based Grant Date '
Restricted Fair Value
Stock Units (per share)
Unvested at December 31,2007. ................. ... — —
Granted (@) . ......................... e 249,108‘ $6.28
Unvested at December 31,2008. .. .....:........... . - 249,108 - $6.28
Forfeited...................... . A . (21,429) $6.28
Unvested at December 31, 2009 d) o 227,679 $6.28

(a) Represents the target number of shares underlying the PSUs that were granted to certain executive
officers. o ‘ o : ! -

‘ (b) As of December 31, 2009, the Company expects that none of the PSUs will vest.

Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan

In connection with the IPO, we adopted a deferred compensation plan to enable our non-employee
directors to defer the receipt of certain compensation earned in their capacity as non-employee directors.
Eligible directors may elect to defer up to 100% of their annual retainer fees (which are paid by us on a
quar\terl'y‘ basis), We require that at least 50% of the annual retainer be deferred under the plan. In addition,
100% of the annual equity grant payable to non-employee directors is deferred under the plan.

We grant deferred stock units to each participating director on the date that the deferred fees would have
otherwise been paid to the director. The deferred stock units are issued as restricted stock units under the Plan
and are immediately vested and non-forfeitable. The deferred stock units entitle the non-employee director to
receive one share of our common stock for each deferred stock unit on the date that is 200 days immediately
following the non-employee director’s retirement or termination of service from the board of difectors, for any
reason. The entire grant date fair value of deferred stock units is expensed onthe date of grant. - - : '
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The table below summarizes the deferred stock unit activity under the Plan for the years ended.
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period :from July 18, 2007 to. December 31, 2007:

Weighted Average
: Grant Date
Deferred Fair. Value

v ] Stock Units (per share)
Outstanding at July 18,2007 ...........c..ovnnnn e e _ — —

GIANMEEA . « o v e e e e e et et e e e S 62,316 $12.90 -
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 . e e s 62,316- $12.90
T I e S 203,353 - $ 5.58
Cominon Stock iSSUEd (A) . . vv v ve vt (12,853) $11.94
Outstanding at December 31, 2008...... R 252,816 $ 7.06
GIABEEd .« o v et e e e e 439,250 $ 2.45
Outstanding at December 31,2009 . .. ..o L. 692066 0§ 4.13

(a) A non-employee director terminated service from our board of directors during the year ended
December 31, 2008. As a result, the non-employee director was entitled to receive one share of our com-
mon stock for each deferred stock unit held by him, or 12,853 shares of our common stock.

Travelport Equity-Based Long-Term Incentive Program

Travelport introduced an equity-based long-term incentive program in 2006 for the purpose of retaining
certain key employees, including certain of our employees. Under this program, key employees were granted
restricted equity units and interests in the partnership that indirectly owns Travelport. The equity awards issued
consisted of four classes of partnership interest. The Class A-2 equity units vested at a pro-rata rate of 6.25%
per quarter through May 2010. The Class B partnership interests vested annually over a four-year period
beginning in August 2007. The Class C and D partnership interests were scheduled to vest upon the occurrence
of certain liquidity events.

On July 18, 2007, the unvested restricted equity units and Class B partnership interests held by our
employees were converted to restricted stock units and restricted shares under the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. 2007
Equity and Incentive Plan. This conversion affected 14 employees of Orbitz Worldwide. The conversion of the
restricted equity units was based on the relative value of the shares of our common stock compared with that
of Travelport’s Class A-2 capital interests at the time of the IPO. The conversion of the Class B partnership
interests was based on the relative value of the shares of our common stock compared with the aggregate
liquidation value of the Class B partnership interests at the time of the IPO. The Class C and D partnership.
interests were deemed to have no fair value as of the conversion date and as such were forfeited. Subsequent
to the conversion, we also granted restricted stock units and stock options as additional compensation to the.
employees who previously held the Travelport interests. This compensation was granted as an award in
consideration of potential future increases in value of the awards previously granted under the Travelport Plan.
No incremental compensation expense was recognized as a result of the conversion.

The fair value of the Class A-2 capital interests granted under the Travelport Plan was estimated on the
date of grant based on the fair market value of Travelport’s common equity relative to the number of Class A
shares then outstanding. The fair value of the Class B, Class C and Class D partnership interests was estimated
on the date of grant using the Monte-Carlo valuation model. The weighted average assumptions for the
Class B, Class C and Class D partnership interests granted during the year ended December 31, 2007 are
outlined in the table below.
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Assumptions:
Dividend yield. . .. ...ttt S R —
VExpected VOIAtHLY . . . ..\t ot e e 45%
R Expected life (in years) ........... e e e ey e - 6.2
 Risk-free Interest rate. . . ... ... e .. 4.64%

The table below summarizes our activity under the Travelport Plan during 2007, immediately prior to the
conversion date:

Restricted Equity
Units Partnership Interest
Class A-2 ) Class B Class C Class D
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average Average
Number Grant Date Number Grant Date Number Grant Date Number Grant Date
of Fair Value of Fair Value of - Fair Value of Fair Value
Shares (per share) Shares (per share) Shares (per share) Shares (per share)
Balance at December 31, 2006 . . . .. 5,367,234 $1.00 1,103,501 $0.49 1,103,501 $0.43 1,103,501 $0.38
Granted . ... ..... .. PR ..., 230,881 $1.84 99,863 . $0.67 99,863  $0.65 99,863  $0.56
Balance immediately prior to
conversiondate . .. ........... 5,598,115 $1.03 1,203,364 $0.50 1,203,364 $0.45 1,203,364 - $0.39

Dunng 2007, prior to the conversion date, 728,625 restricted equ1ty units vested for a total fair value of
$1 million. No partnership interests were vested prior to the conversion date. We expensed the restricted equity
units and thé Class B partnership interests on a straight-line basis overithe requisite service period based upon
the fair value of the award on the grant date. We did not record any compensation expense for the Class C and
Class D partnership interests as it was determined that it was not probable that these awards would vest.

Compensation Expense

We recognized total equity-based compensation expense of $14 million, $15 million, and $8 million
during the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively, none of
which has provided us a tax benefit. Of the total equity-based compensation expense recorded in the year
ended December 31, 2009, $2 million related to the accelerated vesting of certain equity-based awards held by
our former President and Chief Executive Officer who resigned in January 2009. These awards vested on his -
last day of employment with the Company, or April 6, 2009, as provided for in the agreements related to these
equity-based awards (see Note 15 — Severance). :

As of December 31, 2009, a total of $16 million of unrecdgnized compensation cdsts related to unvested
stock options, unvested restricted stock units, unvested PSUs and unvested restricted stock are expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted-average period of 2 years. -

_ 14. Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest Rate Hedges

At December 31, 2009, we had the following interest rate swaps that effeetively converted $200 million
of the Term Loan from a variable to a fixed interest rate. We pay a fixed interest rate on the swaps and in
exchange receive a variable interest rate based on either the three-month or the one-month LIBOR

i . Fixed Interest Variable Interest:
Notional Amount ) »Effective Date ‘ Matuority Date Rate Paid Rate Received
$1OO Imlhon May 30, 2008 May 31, 2011 . 3.39% ‘Three-month LIBOR
$100 million September 30, 2008  September 30, 2010 2.98% One-month LIBOR
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The following interest rate swaps that effectively converted $300 million of the Term Loan from a
variable to a fixed interest rate have matured:

Fixed Interest Variable Interest

Notional Amount Effective Date Maturity Date Rate Paid Rate Received
k $100 million July 25, 2007  December 31, 2008 5.21% Three-month LIBOR
$200 million July 25, 2007  December 31, 2009 5.21% Three-month LIBOR

The objective of entering into our interest rate swaps is to protect against volatility of future cash flows
and effectively hedge a portion of the variable interest payments on the Term Loan. We determined that these
designated hedging instruments qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment. Our interest rate swaps are
the only derivative financial instruments that we have designated as hedging instruments.

The interest rate swéps are reflected in our consolidated balance sheets at market value. The correspond-
ing market adjustment is recorded to accumulated other comprehensive loss. The following table shows the
fair value of our interest rate swaps at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008:

Fair Value Measurements as of
Balance Sheet Location December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Liability Derivatives: s
Interest rate swaps . .............. Other current liabilities $2 $8
Interest rate swaps ...%........... Other non-current liabilities 4 7

The fellowing table shews the 'market adjustments recorded during the years ended December 31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31,.2007:

: Gain (Loss)
(Loss) Reclassified Recognized in Income

Gain (Loss) in Other From Accumulated (Ineffective Portion
Comprehensive OCI into .. and the Amount
Income Interest Expense Excluded from
(“OCI”)(a) (Effective Portion) Effectiveness Testing)
Years Ended . Years Ended Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
(in millions)

Interest rate SWaps. .. ... [P, $9 $8) S $14) 36 $— $— $— $—

(a) The gain (loss) recorded in OCI is net of a tax benefit of $0, $0 and $2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

The amount of loss recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2009 that is
expected to be reclassified to interest expense in the next twelve months if interest rates remain unchanged is
approximately $5 million after-tax.

Foreign Currency Hedges

We enter into foreign currency forward contracts (“forward contracts”) to manage exposure to changes in
the foreign currency associated with foreign currency receivables, payables, intercompany transactions and
borrowings under the Revolver. We primarily hedge our foreign currency exposure to the Pound Sterling, Euro
and Australian dollar. As of December 31, 2009, we had forward contracts outstanding with a total net
notional amount of $130 million, which matured in January 2010. The forward contracts do not qualify for
hedge accounting treatment. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of the forward contracts are recorded in net
income, as a component of selling, general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of
operations.
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The following table shows the fair value of our foreign currency hedges at December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2008:

As of December 31, 2009 ; As of December 31, 2008

Balance Sheet Fair Value . Balance Sheet Fair Value
Location " Measurements Location Measurements
' (in millions) - ‘ - (in millions)
Liability Derivatives:
Foreign currency hedges. .. Other current liabilities $1 Other current liabilities $1

The following table shows the changes in the fair value of our forwar'd contracts recorded in net income
during the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007:
(Loss) Gain in Selling, General &
Administrative Expense
" Years Ended December 31, -

2009 2008 . 2007
} S . . (in millions)
Foreign currency hedges (@) . . ...t $(7) $14 $2)

(a) We recorded transaction gains (losses) associated with the re-measurement of our foreign denominated
assets and liabilities of $3 million and $(19) million in the years ended December 31, 2009 and .
December 31, 2008, respectively, and a net transaction gain of almost nil in the year ended December 31,

~2007. Transaction gains (losses) are included in selling, general and administrative expense in our consoli-

~ dated statements of operations. The net impact of transaction gains (losses) associated with the re-mea-
surement of our foreign denominated assets and liabilities and (losses) gains incurred on our foreign
currency hedges was a net loss of $(4) million, $(5) million, and $(2).million in the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31 2007, respectively. :

15. Severance

On January 6, 2009, our former President and Chief Executive Officer resigned. In connection with his
resignation and pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement with the Company, we incurred total
expenses of $2 million in the year ended December 31, 2009 relating t‘o,se'verance benefits and other
termination-related costs, which are included in selling, general and administrative expense in our consolidated
statements of operations. The majority of these cash payments will be made in equal amounts over a twenty-
four month period from his resignation date. In addition, we recorded $2 million of additional equity-based
compensation expense in the year ended December 31, 2009 related to the accelerated vesting of certain
equity-based awards held by him (see Note 13 — Equity-Based Compensation) =

We also reduced our workforce by approximately 130 domestlc and international employees dunng the
year ended December 31, 2009, and as a result we incurred $5 million of expenses related to severance
benefits and other termination-related costs, which are included in selling, general and administrative expense
in our consolidated statements of operations. Of the total employees, severed, approximately 50 were severed
in the first quarter of 2009 and an additional 50 employees were severed in the second quarter of 2009 in
response to weakening demand in the travel industry and deteriorating economic conditions. The remaining
30 employees were severed in the fourth quarter of 2009 in an effort to better align the staffing levels of
ebookers with its business objectives. As of December 31, 2009, $2 million of these costs had not yet been
paid. These costs are expected to be paid during the first half of 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we reduced our workforce by approximately 160 domestic
and international employees, primarily in response to weakening demand in the travel industry and deteriorat-
ing economic conditions. In connection with this workforce reduction, we incurred total expenses of $3 million
during the year ended December 31, 2008 related to severance benefits and other termination-related costs,
which are included in selhng, general and administrative expense in our consolidated statements of operations.
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16. Employee Benefit Plans

Prior to the IPO, Travelport (subsequent to the Blackstone Acquisition) sponsored a defined contribution
savings plan for employees in the.U.S. that provided certain of our eligible employees an opportunity to
accumulate funds for retirement. HotelClub and ebookers sponsor similar defined contribution savings plans.
In September 2007, we adopted a qualified defined contribution savings plan for employees in the U.S. that
replaced the existing defined contribution savings plans sponsored by Travelport, but did not alter the plans of
HotelClub and ebookers

‘We match the contributions of participating employees on.the basis spe01ﬁed by the plans. We reduced
our matching contribution percentage for our defined contribution savings plan for employees in the U.S. from
a maximum of 6% of participant compensation to a maximum of 3% of pammpant compensation beginning
on January 1, 2009. Additionally, effective January 1, 2009, new employees in the U.S. are not eligible for
Company matchmg contributions until they have attained one year of service with the Company.

We recorded expense related to these plans in the amount of $5 million, $7 million and $5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

17. . Net Loss per.Share

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted et loss per share: - '
Years Ended December 31; : Juli;rigt,izfa;;n to
2009 2008 _ - December 31, 2007
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Net loss attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc :
common shareholders ................."% ... $ (337§ (299) - $ (42)

Net loss per share attributable to Orbitz Worldwide,
Inc. common shareholders:

Weighted average shares outstanding for basic and
diluted net loss per share attributable to Orbltz

Worldwide, Inc. common shareholders (). . . . . .. 84,073,593 83,342,333 81,600,478
Ba51c and D11uted (b) ............ S 8 (4. 01) $ 7 @G 58) s (0.51)

(a) Stock options, restrlcted stock restricted ‘stock units and PSUs are riot 1ncluded in the calculation of
diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 and the period
_ from July 18, 2007 to December 31, 2007 because we had a net loss for each period. Accordmgly, the
inclusion of these equlty awards would have had an antidilutive effect on diluted net loss per share

(b) Net loss per share may not recalculate due to rounding.

The following equity awards are not included in the diluted net’ loss per share calculatlon above because :
they would have had an ant1d11ut1ve effect

: As of December 31,

Antidilutive equity 'awal;-yd‘sv : e o ) ‘ 2009 ’ ‘ 2008 ' 2007
StOCK OPHONS .+ v v v vv e ee e e 4,236,083 4,216,805 2,560,676
Restricted stock units. ... ............... i e 5,650,750 .- 2,724,356 .. 2,296,351
Restricted stock. .. .. e em e ey 2,195 18,661 42,079
Performance-based restricted stock units . .. ...% ... 0. ... : 227,679_ , 249,108 v —
TOtal . .. e 10,116,707 7,208,930 4,899,106
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18. Related Party Transactions
Related ‘Party Transactions with Travelport and its Subsidiaries

‘ The following table summanzes the related party balances with Travelport and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2009-and December 31, 2008, reflected in our consolidated balance sheets We net settle
amounts. due to and from Travelport v

December 31, 2009 -  December 31, 2008
(in millions)

Due from Travelport, net ..............ccvvvvrvnnnn.. $3 . $10

- We also purchased assets of $1-million from:Travelport and its subsidiaries during the year ended
December 31, 2008, which are included in property and equlpment net in our consohdated balance sheets.

[

The followmg table summanzes the related party transactlons with Travelport and 1ts subsidiaries for the

years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, reflected in our consolidated
statements of operations: . :

Years Ended December 31, -

2009 2008 2007
(in millions)

Netrevenue (a) . ...t inii e et e e $122 $149 . . $126

Costofrevenue...................... e ae e 1 —_— —

Selhng, general and adrmnlstratlve expense S, —_— 3 11

Interest CXPEDSE. o v vie vt v e s e e e e e e e e e 4 3. 48

(a) These amounts include net revenue related to our GDS services agreement and bookmgs sourced through

Donvand Limited and OctopusTravel Group lelted (domg business as Gulhvers Travel Ass001ates
' “GTA”) for the perrods presented '

In 2007, in connection with the IPO, we paid a dividend to Travelport in the amount of $109 million. -
Any future determination to pay dividends would require the prior consent of Travelport, until such time as

Travelport no longet beneﬁcrally owns at Ieast 33% of the votes entitled to be cast by our outstandmg common
shares.

siébk Purchasé Agreément
On November 4 2009, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Travelport pursuant

to which Travelport agreed to purchase 9,025,271 shares of the Company’s common stock for approximately

$50 million in cash (see Note 8 — Exchange Agreement and Stock Purchase Agreement). This transaction v
closed on January 26, 2010.

Net Operatmg Losses
In December 2009 as perrmtted under the UK. group rehef prowsrons we surrendered $17 million of

net operating losses generated in 2007 to Donvand Limited, a subsidiary of Travelport (see Note 12 — Income
Taxes). : . . k

Capttal Contrzbutzons ' » ’
In 2007, prior:to the IPO we recerved caprtal contrrbutrons from Travelport for operatlonal fundlng
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Corporate Related Functions

Our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 reflects an allocation
from Travelport of both general corporate overhead expenses and direct billed expenses incurred on our behalf
prior to the TPO. Géneral corporate-overhead expenses were allocated based on a percentage of the forecasted
revenue. Direct billed expenses were based upon actual utilization of the services. Costs subject to the
overhead allocations and direct billings included executive management, tax, insurance, accounting, legal,’
treasury, information technology, telecommunications, call center support and real estate expenses.

Intercompany Notes Payable

On January 26, 2007 and January 30, 2007, we became the obligor on two intercompany notes payable to
affiliates of Travelport in the amounts of $25 million and $835 million, respectively. These notes accrued
interest at a fixed rate of 10.25% and were scheduled to mature on February 19, 2014. These notes represented
a portion of the debt used to finance the Blackstone Acquisition. Because we did not receive any cash
consideration for the assumption of this debt from Travelport in January 2007, the transaction was effectively
a distribution of capital. Accordingly, we recorded an $860 million reduction to net invested equity. On July 25,
2007, we used proceeds from the IPO and Term Loan to repay the notes and the interest accrued thereon in
full.

Separation Agreement

We entered into.a Separation Agreement with Travelport at the time of the IPO. This agreement, as
amended, provided the general terms for the separation of our respective businesses. When we were a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Travelport, Travelport provided guarantees, letters of credit and surety bonds on our
behalf under our commercial agreements and leases and for the benefit of regulatory agencies. Under the
Separation Agr;eement we are required to use commercially reasonable efforts to have Travelport released
from any then outstanding guarantees and surety bonds. As a result, Travelport no longer provides surety
bonds on our behalf or guarantees in connection with commercial agreements or leases entered into or
replaced by us subsequent to the IPO. :

~ In addition, Travelport agreed to continue to issue letters of credit on our behalf through at least March 31,
2010 and thereafter so long as Travelport and its affiliates (as defined in the Separation Agreement, as
amended) own at least 50% of our voting stock, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $75 million
(denominated in U.S. dollars). Travelport charges us fees for issuing, renewing or extending letters of credit on
our behalf. This fee is included in interest expense in our consolidated statements of operations. At
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, there were $59 million and $67 million of letters of credit issued
by Travelport on our behalf, respectively (see Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies).

Transition Services Agreement

At the time of the IPO, we entered into a Transition Services Agreement with Travelport. Under this
agreement, as amended, Travelport provided us with certain transition services, including insurance, human
resources and employee benefits, payroll, tax, communications, collocation and data center facilities, informa-
tion technology and other existing shared services. We also provided Travelport with certain services,
incliding accounts payable, information technology hosting, data warehousing and storage as well as
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance testing and deficiency remediation. The terms for the services provided under the
Transition Services Agreement generally expired on March 31, 2008, subject to certain exceptions. The term
of the Transition Services Agreement was extended until September 30, 2009 for services Travelport provided
us related to the support and maintenance of applications for storage of certain financial and human resources
data and until December 31, 2009 for services Travelport provided to us related to non-income tax return
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preparation and consulting services. The charges for these services were based on the time expended by the
employee or service provider billed at the approximate human resource cost, including wages and benefits. .

Master License Agreement

We entered into a Master License Agreement with Travelport at the time of the IPO. Pursuant to this
agreement, Travelport licenses certain of our intellectual property and pays us fees for related maintenance
and support services. The licenses include our supplier link technology; portions of ebookers’ booking, search
and dynamic packaging technologies; certain of our products and online booking tools for corporate travel;
portions of our private label dynamic packaging téchnology; and our extranet supplier connectivity
functionality. : ' ’ - v :

The Master License ‘Agreement gférited us the right to use akrcorporate online l‘)oqllc'ing_‘produgt develo_ped
by Travelport. We have entered into a value added reseller license with Travelport for this product.

Equipment, Services and Use Agreements

Prior to the IPO, we shared office locations with TraVelport in twelve locations worldwide. In connection
with the IPO, we separated the leasehold properties based upon our respective business operations and
assigned a leasehold interest where one company had exclusive use or occupation. of a property.

We also entered into an Equipment, Services and Use Agreement for each office occupied by both
parties. This agreement commenced in most locations on June 1, 2007 and provided that the cost of the shared
space would be ratably allocated. The agreement expired on December 31, 2007 but automatically renewed if
no termination notice was served. Termination notices were served for all but three locations as of
December 31, 2009. o ' D ’

Travelport remained liable to landlords for all lease obligations with guarantee agreemenfs, unless
expressly released from this liability by the relevant landlord. .

GDS Service Agreements

Prior to the TPO, certain of our subsidiaries had subscriber services agreements with Galileo, a subsidiary
of Travelport. Under these agreements, Galileo provided us GDS services and paid us an incentive payment
for air; car and hotel segments processed using its GDS services.

In connection with the IPO, we entered into a new agréement with Travelport to use GDS services
provided by both Galileo and Worldspan (the “Travelpon' GDS Service Agreement”). The Travelp_ort GDS
Service Agreement replaced the former Galileo agreement discussed above as well as a GDS contract we had
with Worldspan. This agreement became effective in July 2007 with respect to GDS: services provided by
Galileo. In August 2007, upon completion of Travelport’s acquisition of Worldspan, this agreement became
effective for GDS services provided by Worldspan. The agreement expires on December 31, 2014.

The Travelport GDS Service Agreement is structured such that we earn incentive revenue for each
segment that is processed through the Worldspan and Galileo GDSs (the “Travelport GDSs”). This agreement
requires that we process a certain minimum number of segments for our domestic brands through the
Travelport GDSs each year. Our domestic brands were required to process a total of 36 million, 38 million and
33 million segments through the Travelport GDSs during the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31,
2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively. Of the required number of segments, 16 million segments were
required to be processed each year through Worldspan, and 20 million, 22 million and 17 million segments
were required to be processed through Galileo during-the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007, respectively. The required number of segments processed in future years for
Worldspan is fixed at 16 million segments, while the required number of segments for Galileo is subject to
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adjustment based upon the actual segments processed by. our domestic brands in the preceding year. Our
failure to process at least 95% of these segments through the Travelport GDSs would result in a shortfall
payment of $1.25 per segment below the required minimum. No payments were made to Travelport related to
the minimum segment requirement for our domestic brands for the years ended December.31, 2009,
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

The Travelport GPS Service Agreement also requires that ebookers use the Travelport GDSs exclusively
in-certain countries for segments processed through GDSs in Europe. Our failure to process at least-95% of
these segments through the Travelport GDSs would. result in a shortfall payment of $1.25 per segment for each

segment processed through an alternative GDS . provider. We failed to meet this minimum segment requirement
" during each of the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, and as a result, we were required
to make nominal shortfall payments to Travelport related to each of these years. No payments were made to
Travelport for the year ended December 31, 2007.

A significant portion of our GDS services are provided through the Travelport GDS Service Agreement.
For the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we recognized
$112 million, $108 million and $111 million of incentive revenue for segments processed through Galileo and
Worldspan, respectively, which accounted for more than 10% of our total net revenue. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, this amount includes incentive payments received for GDS services provided under the
Travelport GDS Service Agreement as well as the former Galileo agreement and Worldspan contract.

. Hotel Sourcing and Franchise Agreement

GTA is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Travelport and provided certain .of our subsidiaries with hotel
consulting services and access to hotels and destination services pursuant to franchise agreements. As
franchisees, we have the ability to make available for booking hotel rooms and destination services provided
by GTA at agreed-upon rates. When a customer books a hotél room that we have sourced through GTA, we
record to net revenue the difference between what the customer paid and the agreed-upon rate we paid to -
GTA. We also paid franchise fees to GTA, which we recorded as contra revenue. These franchise agreements
continued until December 31, 2007, when our new Master Supply and Services Agreement (the “GTA
Agreement”) became effective.

“Under the GTA Agreement, we pay GTA a contract rate for hotel and destination services inventory it
makes available to us for booking on our websites: The contract rate exceeds the prices at which suppliers
make their inventory available to GTA for distribution and is based on a percentage of the rates GTA makes
such inventory available to its other customers. We are also subject to additional fees if we exceed certain
specified booking levels. The initial term of the GTA Agreement expires on December 31, 2010. Under this
agreement, we are restricted from p'roviding access to hotels and destination services content to certain of
GTA’s clients until December 31, 2010. ' ‘ ' '

Corporate Travel Agreement

We provide corporate travel management services to Travelport and its subsidiaries. We believe that this
agreement was executed on terms comparable to those of unrelated third parties.

Agreements Involving Tecriovate {

On July 5, 2007, we sold Tecnovate to Travelport for $25 million. In connection with the sale, we entered
into an agreement to continue using the services of Tecnovate, which included call center and telesales, back
office administrative, information technology and finaricial services. Tecnovate charges us based on an hourly
billing rate for the services provided to-us. = o
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The agreement included a termination clause in the event of certain changes in-control. In December
2007, Travelport completed the sale of Tecnovate to an affiliate of Blackstone, Intelenet Global Services
(“Intelenet”), which qualified as a change in control under the termination clause. Prior to the sale, Travelport
paid us an incentive fee of $5 million for entering into an amended service agreement to continue using the
services of Tecnovate. We deferred the incentive fee and recognize it as a reductlon to expense on a straight--
line basis over the original three -year term of the agreement

Financial Advzsory Services Agreement

On July 16, 2007, we completed the sale of an offline U.K. travel subsidiary. Pursuant to an agreement
between Travelport and Blackstone, Blackstone provided financial advisory services to Travelport and to us in
connection with certain business transactions, including dispositions. Under the terms of that agreement,
Travelport paid-$2 million to Blackstone on our behalf for advisory services upon completion of the sale. As a
result, in 2007, we recorded a $2 million capital contribution from Travelport in our'consolidated balance
sheet.

Related Party T ransactions with Afﬁliates of Blackstone and TCV

In the normal course of conducting business, we have entered into various agreements with affiliates of
Blackstone and TCV. We believe that these agreements have been executed on terms comparable to those of
unrelated third parties. For example, we have agreements with certain hotel management companies that are
affiliates of Blackstone and that provide us with access to their inventory. We also purchase services from
certain Blackstone and TCYV affiliates such as telecommunications and advertising. We have also entered into
various outsourcing agreements with Intelenet, an affiliate of Blackstone, that provide us with call center and
telesales, back office administrative, information technology and financial services. In addition, various
Blackstone and TCV affiliates utilize our partner marketing programs and corporate travel services.

The following table summarizes the related party balances with affiliates of Blackstone and TCV as of
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, reflected in our consolidated balance sheets:

December 31,2009 = December 31, 2008
(in millions) )

Accounts payable . ... .......... . $5 $5
Accrued eXpenses. . ... ... e 2 1
Accrued merchant payable ............. e e 6 : —

The foliowing table summarizes the related party transactions with affiliates of Blackstone apdfTCV for
the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, reflected in our consolidated
statements of operations: -

Years Ended December 31, a

2009 2008 e

3 v , , , (in millions)
Netrevenue . ............oeuvueninan... e $17 $14 - . $12
Costofirevenue(b) . ... ... ... ... . . .. 26 co 30 —
Selling, general and administrative expense(c). ............ 3 5 1
Marketing eXpense . . . .. ..ot — — 1

(b) These amounts shown represent call center and telesales costs incurred under our outsourcing agreements
with Intelenet.

(c) Of the amounts shown for the years ended December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31,
2007, $3 million, $5 million and $0, respectively, represent costs incurred under our outsourcing agree-
ments with Intelenet for back office administrative, information technology and financial services.
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19. Fair Value Measurements

We adopted the FASB’s new fair value guidance for our financial assets and financial liabilities on
Jahuary 1, 2008 and for our non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities on January 1, 2009 (see
Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies)v. Under this guidance, fair value is defined as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (an exit price). This guidance outlines a valuation framework and creates
a fair value hierarchy in order to increase the consistency and comparability of fair value measurements and
the related disclosures.

We have derivative financial instruments that must be measured under this guidance. We currently do not
have non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a
recurring basis. The guidance establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used to
measure fair-value. In.accordance with the fair value hierarchy, the following table shows the fair value of our
financial assets and financial liabilities that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, which are classified as other current liabilities and other non-
current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets: '

; Fair Value Measurements as of
December 31, 2009 L December 31, 2008

Quoted  Significant Quoted  Significant
prices in other Significant prices in other Significant
Balance at active  observable unobservable Balance at active  observable unobservable
December 31, markets inputs inputs December 31, markets inputs inputs
2009 (Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3) 2008 (Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in millions)
Foreign currency hedge
liability (see Note 14 —
Derivative Financial

Instruments) . .. ....... $1 $1 $— $— $1 $1 $— $—
Interest rate swap liabilities

(see Note 14 —

Derivative Financial

Instruments) . . . ....... $6 $— $6 $— $15 $— $15 $—

We value our interest rate hedges using valuations that are calibrated to the initial trade prices.
Subsequent valuations are based on observable inputs to the valuation model including interest rates, credit
spreads and volatilities. '

We value our foreign currency hedges based on the difference between the foreign currency forward
contract rate and widely available foreign currency forward rates as of the measurement date. Our foreign
currency hedges consist of forward contracts that are short-term in nature, generally maturing within 30 days.

The following table shows the fair value of our non-financial assets that were required to be measured at
fair value on a non-recurring basis during the year ended December 31, 2009. These non-financial assets,
which included our goodwill and trademarks and trade names, were required to be measured at fair value as of
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March 31, 2009 in connection with the interim impairment test we performed on our goodwill and trademarks
and trade names in the first quarter of 2009 (see Note 3 — Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets).

Fair Value Measurements Using

Significant
Quoted other Significant
prices in observable unobservable .
Balance at  active markets  inputs inputs Total
March 31, 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) -~ (Losses)
(in millions)
GoOdWill . . .. ..o $698 $— $— $698  $(250)
Trademarks and trade names $— $—  $150 $ (82)

................. $150

[

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For certain of our financial 1nstruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,

accounts payable, accrued merchant payable and accrued expenses, the carrying value approximates or equals
fair value due to their short-term nature.

The carrying value of the Term Loan was $577 million at December 31, 2009, compared with a fair value
of approximately $538 million. At December 31, 2008, the carrying value of the Term Loan was $593 million,

compared with a fair value of $261 million. The fair values were determined based on quoted market ask
prices.

20. Segment Information

We determine operating segments based on how our chief operating decision maker manages the business,

1ncludmg making operating decisions and evaluating operating performance. We operate in one segment and
have one reportable segment

We maintain operations in the U.S., UK., Australia, Germany, Sweden, France, Finland, Ireland, the
Netherlands, Switzerland and other international territories. The table below presents net revenue by

geographic area: the U.S. and all other countries. We allocate net revenue based on where the booking
originated.

Years Ended Decéember 31,
2009 2008 2007
(in millions)

Net revenue -

United States .. ............couurunirnn. .. - $585 .. $686 $679
All othercountries ......................... ... 153 - 184 ~180
Total. . ... FR $738 $870 $859

The table below presents property. and equ1pment net, by geographlc area: the U.S. and all other
countries.

116



ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — ('Continued).

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

(in millions)
Long-lived assets
United States . ... ovvvveeveenernnenn $168 $181 $174
All other-countries .................. 13 9 10

Total . .......... e : $181 $190 $184

21. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table presents certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for each of the
eight quarters in the period ended December 31, 2009.

Three Months Ended

o December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,
2009 2009 - 2009 2009(a) -
(in millions, except per share data)
NELTEVENUE . . o v e eveeeeeaeeeraenanes $ 175 $.187 $ 188 $ 188
Cost and eXpenses. . .. .........o.oven.. e 169 . 165 166 511
Operating income (1088) . ................. 6 22 .22 (323)
Net (loss) income attributable to Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. . . ........ ..., (18) 7 10 (336)
Basic and diluted net (loss) income per share s : ‘
..attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. . S .
common shareholders .................. , (0.21) 0.08 0.12 4.02)

Three Months Ended
Decembéer 31, . September 30, - June 30, - March 31,

2008 2008(a) 2008 . 2008 -
p . ‘ (in millions, except per share data) o
NELTEVENUE . o v v vvv i eeeeemeeeennnnens $180 $ 240 $ 231 $ 219
- Cost and expenses. ......... e 156 516 216 220
Operating income (J0ss) .................. 24 276) 15 (1)
Net income (loss) attributable to Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. . ... ooiivii i 8 (287) (5) (15)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share “ '
attributable to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. . , i
common shareholders .................. 0.10 (3.44) (0.06) ' (0.18)

(a) Dunng the three months ended March 31, 2009 and September 30, 2008, we recorded non-cash
impairment charges related to goodwill and intangible assets in the-amount of $332 million and
$297 million, respectively (see Note 3 — Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets).

22. Global Access Agreement Amendment

On July 28, 2009, ebookers and Amadeus entered into an amendment to the Global Access Agreement,
dated January 1, 2004, extending the term of the agreement to December 31, 2012. Under this agreement, as
amended, Amadeus provides certain of our ebookers websites with access to travel supplier content, including
air, hotel and car reservation information. We receive incentive payments based on the number of reservation
segments we process annually through Amadeus.
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23. Subsequent Events

On January 26, 2010, PAR and Travelport each completed their purchases of additional common shares
of the Company. PAR exchanged $50 million aggregate principal amount of term loans outstanding under our
senior secured credit agreement for 8,141,402 newly-issued shares of our common stock.. We immediately
retired the term loans received from PAR in accordance with the amendment to the Credit Agreement that we
entered into with our lenders in June 2009. As a result, the amount outstanding on the Term Loan was reduced
to $527 million. Concurrently, Travelport purchased 9,025,271 newly-issued shares of our common stock for
$50 million in cash. In connection with these transactions, PAR and Travelport have each exercised their right
to appoint a director to our Board of Directors. The appointees will be named at a later date. See Note 8 —
Exchange Agreement and Stock Purchase Agreement.

On January 29, 2010, we entered into two interest rate swaps that effectively convert $200 million of the
Term Loan from a variable to a fixed rate. The first swap was effective on January 29, 2010, has a notional
amount of $100 million and matures on January 31, 2012. We pay a fixed rate of 1.15% on the swap and in
exchange receive a variable rate based on one-month LIBOR. The second swap was effective on January 29,
2010, has a notional amount of $100million and matures on January 31, 2012. We pay a fixed rate of 1.21%
on the swap and in exchange receive a variable rate based on three-month LIBOR.

In January 2010, certain regulatory requirements required us to provide additional letters of credit of
$16 million, $11 million of which were denominated in U.S. Dollars and issued by Travelport on our behalf
and the equivalent of $5 million of which were denominated in Pounds Sterling and 1ssued under our revolving
credit facility.
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Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at Charged to o
Beginning of Costs and Charged to Balance at

Period Expenses Other Accounts Deductions End of Period
(In millions) ’ ’ ’

Tax Valuation Allowance : Lo
Year Ended December 31,2009.... - $320 $35 -$ (20)(a) $ O)©) $330

Year Ended December 31, 2008 . . 330 - 271 (37)(a) — 320
Year Ended December 31, 2007 415 _46 (117)(b) (14)(d) 330

(a) Represents foreign currency translation adjustments to the-valuation allowance. In-addition, the 2009
amount also includes a reclassification adjustment between our gross deferred tax assets and the corre-
sponding valuation allowance. »

(b) Represents adjustments made to reflect the decreases in the valuation allowance related to the tax sharing
agreement with the Founding Airlines.

(c) Represents the surrender of $17 million: of net operating losses generated in 2007 to Donvand Lumted a
subsidiary of Travelport, as permitted under the U.K. group relief provisions. A full valuation allowance
had previously been established for these net operating losses. As a result, upon surrender, we reduced
our gross deferred tax assets and the corresponding valuation allowance by $5 million.

(d) Represents the expiration of a U.S. federal income tax capital loss carryforward.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants.on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”))
as of December 31, 2009. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that, as of the end of such period, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Intemal Control over Financial,Repofiiﬁg .

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2009
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over fmanmal
reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Managemerit is required to assess and report on the effectiveness of its internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2009. As a result of that assessment, management determined that there were no
material weaknesses as of December 31, 2009 and, therefore, concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective. Management s Report on Internal Control 6ver Financial Reporting is included in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” :

The effectiveness of our internal coritrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report
included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Certain information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption
“Proposal 1 — Election of Directors” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by
reference herein. The information required by Item 405 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption
“Corporate Governance — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the 2010 Proxy
Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference herein.

The information required by Item 407(c)(3) of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption
“Corporate Governance — Director Selection Procedures,” and the information required under Items 407(d)(4)
and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption “Corporate Governance — Committees of the
Board of Directors — Audit Committee” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by
reference herein.

Code of Business Conduct

We have adopted the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of
Business Conduct”) which applies to all of our directors and employees, including our chief executive officer,
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chief financial officer and principal :accounting officer. In addition, we have adopted a Code of Ethics for our
chief executive officer and senior financial officers. The Code of Business Conduct and the Code of Ethics are
available on the corporate governance page of our Investor Relations website at www.orbitz-ir.com. Amend-
ments to, or waivers from, the Code of Business Conduct applicable to these senior executives will be posted
on our website and provided to you without charge upon written request to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., Attention:
Corporate Secretary, 500 W. Madison Street, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illinois 60661.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by Item 402 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption “Executive
Compensation” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference herein.

The information required by Iteins 407(e)(4) and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be included under the
captions “Corporate Governance — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Com-
pensation Committee Report” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is iricorporated by reference
herein. .

Item 12. Sec_ui‘ity Ownefship of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is included in Item 5, “Market for
Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.” The
information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption “Securlty Ownership”
in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information i is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 13. Certain Rélatjonships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by Item 404 of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption “Certain -
Relationships and Related Party Transactions” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorpo-
rated by reference herein. N

The information required by Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be included under the caption “Corporate
Governance — Independence of Directors” in the 2010 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated
by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information concerning principal accounting fees and services and the information required by
Item 14 will be included under the caption ‘“Fees Incurred for Services of Deloitte & Touche LLP” and
“Approval of Services Provided by Independent Registered Public Accountmg Firm” in the 2010 Proxy
Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhlblts, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)(1) Financial Statements: The followmg financial statements are 1ncluded in Item 8 herem

Consolidated Statements of Operatlons for the years ended December 31, 2009 December 31,

2008 and December 31,2007 ... .. O 69
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and December 31,2008 . ............ 70
Consolidated Statements -of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2009, o

December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007. .. ... .o vin i i e 71
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2009,

December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007........ T A e 72 -
Consolidated Statements of Invested Equity/Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended *

December 31, 2009, December 31, 2008 and December 31,2007 . .............. ... 73
Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements ..................... [ 75

@)(2) Fmancw.l Statement Schedules: The following ﬁnanmal statement schedule is included in Item 8 herein:

Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. .......... e e e e .. 119

All other schedules are omitted because they are either not required, are not applica'ble,‘orlthe information
is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. ’

(2)(3) Exhibits:
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Exhibit No.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

31
32
33
4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (incbrporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 6 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-142797) filed on July 18, 2007).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Orbitz ' Worldwide, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 6 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-142797) filed on July 18, 2007).

Amendment to the Amended and Restated By-laws of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., effective as of
December 4, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2007).

Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 6 to the
Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg No. 333-142797) filed on
July 18, 2007).

Form of Second Amended and Restated Airline Charter Assocmte Agreement between Orbitz,
LLC and the Founding Airlines (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Amendment No. 5 to
the Orbitz, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-88646) filed on
November 25, 2003).

Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Airline Charter Associate Agreement,
dated as of July 7, 2009, between Orbitz, LLC and United Air Lines, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2009).

Form of Supplier Link Agreement between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and certain airlines
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142797) filed on June 13, 2007).

Amendment to the Orbitz Supplier Link Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2009, between Orbitz,
LLC and United Air Lines, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarteily Period ended September 30,
2009).

Tax Agreement, dated as of November 25, 2003, between Orbitz, Inc. and American Airlines, Inc.,
Continental Airlines, Inc., Omicron Reservations Management, Inc., Northwest Airlines, Inc. and
UAL Loyalty Services, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Amendment No. 5 to
the Orbitz, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-88646) filed on
November 25, 2003).

Global Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004, between ebookers Limited and Amadeus Global
Travel Distribution, S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Amendment No. 5 to the
Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142797) filed
on July 13, 2007).

Amendment to Global Agreement, dated as of July 30, 2004, between ebookers Limited and
Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to
Amendment No. 3 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-142797) filed on June 29, 2007).

Complementary and Amendment Agreement to Global Agreement, effective as of September 1,
2006, between ebookers Limited and Amadeus Global Travel Distribution, S.A. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 5 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142797) filed on July 13, 2007).

Amendment, effective October 1, 2007, between Amadeus IT Group, S.A. and ebookers Limited
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Form 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period Ended March 31, 2008).

Amendment, effective February 1, 2008, between Amadeus IT Group, S.A. and ebookers Limited
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Form 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2008).
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Exhibit No.

Description

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Complimentary and Amendment Agreement, effective as of July 1, 2009, between Amadeus IT-
Group S.A. and ebookers Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 30, 2009).

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2007, among Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., UBS AG, Stamford
Branch, as administrative agent, collateral agent and an L/C issuer, UBS Loan Finance LLC, as
swing line lender, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as syndication agent, and Lehman
Brothers Inc., as documentation agent, and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
July 27, 2007).

Amendment No. 1, dated as of June 2, 2009, by-and among Orbitz Worldw1de Inc., the lenders
party thereto, and UBS AG, Stamford Branch, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2009).

Separation Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2007, by and between Travelport Limited and Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldw1de, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 27, 2007).

First Amendment to Separation Agreement, dated as of May 5 2008 between Travelport Limited
and Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide,
Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2008).

Second Amendment to Separation Agreement; dated as of January 23, 2009, between Travelport
Limited and Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2008).

Tax Sharing Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2007, by and between Travelport Inc. and Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on July 27, 2007).

Master License Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2007, by and among Galileo Internatlonal
Technology, LLC, Galileo International, LLC, Orbitz, LLC, ebookers Limited, Donvand Limited,
Travelport for Business, Inc., Orbitz Development, LLC and Neat Group Corporation
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on
Form 8-K/A filed on February 27, 2008).

Master Supply and Services Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2007 by and among Ol‘bltZ
Worldwide, LLC, Octopus Travel Group Limited and Donvand Limited (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.6 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on February 27,
2008).

Amendment No. 1, dated as of December 31, 2009, to Master Supply and Serv1ces Agreement
dated as of July 23, 2007, among Orbitz Worldwide, LLC, Octopus Travel Group Limited and
Donvand Limited.

Software License Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2007, by and between Orbitz Worldwide, LLC
and ITA Software, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on February 27, 2008). '

Subscriber Services Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2007, by and among Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.,
Galileo International, L.L.C. and Galileo Nederland B.V. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on February 27,

1 2008).

First Amendment, dated as of February 9 2008, to Subscriber Services Agreement, dated as of
July 23, 2007, between Galileo International, L.L.C., Galileo Nederland B.V. and Orbitz
Worldwide, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended March 31, 2008).

Second Amendment, dated as of April 4, 2008, to Subscriber Services Agreement, dated as of
July 23, 2007, between Galileo International, L..L.C., Galileo Nederland B.V. and, Orbitz
Worldwide, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended June 30, 2008).
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10.25
10.26

10.27

10.28
10.29
10.30

10.31

10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35%

10.36*

10.37*
10.38*

10.39*

Third Amendment, dated as of January 23, 2009, to Subscriber Services Agreement, dated as of
July 23, 2007, between Travelport International, L.L.C. (f/k/a Galileo International, L.L.C.),
Travelport Global Distribution System B.V. (f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V.) and Orbitz-Worldwide,
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2008).

Fourth Amendment, dated as of July 8, 2009, to Subscriber Services Agreement, dated as of

July 23, 2007, between Travelport International, L.L.C. (f/k/a Galileo International, L.L.C.),
Travelport Global Distribution System B.V. (f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V.) and Orbitz Worldwide,
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2009).

Fifth Amendment, dated as of November 5, 2009, to Subscriber Services Agreement dated as of
July 23, 2007, between Travelport International, L.L.C. (f/k/a Galileo International, L.L.C.),
Travelport Global Distribution System B.V. (f/k/a Galileo Nederland B.V.) and Orbitz Worldwide,
LLC.

Master Services Agreement, effective as of August 8, 2007, between Pegasus Solutions, Inc. and

‘Orbitz Worldwide, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to,the Orbltz Worldw1de Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2007).

Amendment, effective as of January. 16, 2008, between Pegasus Solutions, Inc and Orbltz
Worldwide, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16-to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2007).

- Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2009, between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and PAR

Investment Partners, L.P. (incorporated by reference to-Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbltz Worldwide, Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2009).

Amendment No. 1, dated as of January 15, 2010, to Exchange Agreement, by and among Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. and PAR Investment Partners, L.P.

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2009, between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and
Travelport Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K: filed on November 10, 2009).

Shareholders’ Agreement, dated as of November 4, 2009, amo‘ng Orbitz Worldwide, Inc, PAR
Investment Partners, L.P. and Travelport Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2009).

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, effective June 2,
2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2009).

Employment Agreement (including Form of Option Award Agreement), dated as of January 6,
2009, by and between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and Barnaby Harford (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 12, 2009).

Amendment to Employment Agreemeht, effective as of Jlﬂy 17, 2009, by and between Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. and Barnaby Harford (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30,
2009).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2008, between Orbitz
Worldwide, Inc. and Marsha Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Orbitz

" Worldwide, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2008). ©

Separation‘ Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2009, by and between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. and
Steven D. Barnhart (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 12, 2009).

Letter Agreement, effective as of August 13, 2007, between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc and Mike
Nelson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc Quarterly Report
on 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended Septémber 30, 2007).
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10.45%
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10.50*

10.51%
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10.53*

10.54*
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211
23.1

Letter Agreement, effective as of August 14; 2007, between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc:-and James P.
Shaughnessy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Orbitz Worldw1de Iric. Annual

. Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2008).

Letter Agreement, dated March 3, 2009, between Orbitz Worldwide, Inc and James P
Shaughnessy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33. to. the Orbitz-Worldwide, Inc. Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2008).

Letter Agreement, dated July 31, 2009, between. Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.“ and James P. Shaughnessy
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly, Report on
Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2009).

Letter Agreement, effective as of August 13, 2007, between Orbitz Worldwide; Inc. and Frank
Petito.

Form of Option Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to Amendment
No. 6 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-142797) filed on July 18, 2007).

Form of RSU Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to Amendment No. 6
to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-142797)
filed on July 18, 2007). '

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2007).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on
10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2007).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Senior Management (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 18, 2007).

Form of Option Award Agreement for Converted Travelport Equity Awards (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2007).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (Executive Officers) — 2008 Equity Grants (1ncorp0rated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 25, 2008).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Executive Officers) — 2008 Equity Grants
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2008).

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2008).

Form of CEO Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6
to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly Period ended
September 30, 2009).

Amended and Restated Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Performance-Based Annual Incentive Plan,
effective June 2, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc.
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 4, 2009).

Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Quarterly Report on 10-Q for the
Quarterly Period ended September 30, 2007).

Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and Officers (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 18,
2007).

List of Subsidiaries.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
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Exhibit No. . Description

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Orbitz Worldw1de Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d- 14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Orbitz Worldwide, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sectlon 13:0r 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ORBITZ WORLDWIDE, INC

Date: March 3, 2010 By: /s/ BARNEY HARFORD
Barney Harford
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed: below
by the following persens on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: March 3, 2010 By: /s/ BARNEY HARFORD
Barney Harford
President, Chief Executive Officer and Dzrector
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 3, 2010 By: /s/  MarsHA C. WILLIAMS
Marsha C. Williams
Senior Vice President and Chtef Financial Oﬁ‘icer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: March 3, 2010 By:/s/ Joun W. BOssHART
John W. Bosshart
Vice President of Global Accounting
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: March 3, 2010 By: /s/ Jerr CLARKE
Jeff Clarke
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Date: March 3, 2010 By:/s/ WiLLiam C. CoBB
William C. Cobb
Director
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Date

Date

Date

Date

Date

: March 3, 2010

: March 3, 2010

: March 3, 2010

: March 3, 2010

: March 3, 2010

By/s/ Ricuarp P. Fox

Richard P. Fox

~ * Director -

By:/s/ JiL A. GREENTHAL

Jill A. Greenthal
Director

"By: /s/ - WitLiaM J.G. GRIFFITH .,

William J.G. Griffith
Director

By: /s/ PauL C. ScHorr IV

Paul C. Schorr IV
Director

By: /s/ JaYNIE MILLER STUDENMUND

Jaynie Miller Studenmund
Director
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